III. Medizinische Klinik und Poliklinik des Klinikums rechts der Isar der Technischen Universität München

# Stimulation of a T helper cell response against the tumorassociated antigen HER2/neu

Jochen Heinrich Metzger

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigte Dissertation.

Vorsitzender: Univ.-Pro

Univ.-Prof. Dr. A. Gierl

Prüfer der Dissertation:

Univ.-Prof. Dr. B. Hock
 Priv.-Doz. Dr. H. Bernhard

Die Dissertation wurde am 01.03.2005 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät Wissenschaftszentrum Weihenstephan für Ernährung, Landnutzung und Umwelt der Technischen Universität München am 10.05.2005 angenommen. Die vorliegende Dissertation wurde in der Zeit von Januar 1999 bis Oktober 2001 im hämatologischen Forschungslabor der III. Medizinischen Klinik und Poliklinik des Klinikums rechts der Isar in München angefertigt.

Teile dieser Dissertation wurden veröffentlicht:

Christian Meyer zum Büschenfelde, Jochen Metzger, Christine Hermann, Nicole Nicklisch, Christian Peschel and Helga Bernhard. The Generation of Both T Killer and Th Cell Clones Specific for the Tumor-Associated Antigen HER2 Using Retrovirally Transduced Dendritic Cells. The Journal of Immunology, 2001, 167: 1712-1719.

Jochen Metzger, Nicole Nicklisch, Peter Kufer, Christian Peschel, Peter Luppa and Helga Bernhard. Induction of a T helper cell response against the tumor-associated antigen HER2 using monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Cytotechnology, 2002, 38: 155-164.

Ich danke Herrn Prof. Dr. Bertold Hock und Frau PD Dr. Helga Bernhard für Ihr Interesse und die Bereitschaft, diese Arbeit zu betreuen und die Gutachten zu erstellen.

Mein weiterer Dank gilt Herrn Prof. Peter B. Luppa, der mich mit seinem Rat und seiner Diskussionsbereitschaft während der schriftlichen Ausarbeitung der Arbeit unterstützte.

# **Table of contents**

1.	Summary	1
2.	Abbreviations	_2
3.	Introduction	3
3.1.	Adoptive T cell transfer represents a feasible strategy for antitumor treatment	3
3.2.	T helper cells are important in the induction and maintenance of cell-mediated immune responses against tumors	3
3.3.	Generation of a protective antitumor immune response requires antigen presentation by dendritic cells	4
3.4.	HER2 is an appealing target for tumor-associated antigen-specific T cell immunotherapy	5
3.5.	Escape from central tolerance provide an explanation for the existance of potentially autoreactive T cells in the periphery	6
3.6.	Vaccination with tumor-associated self-antigens can break self tolerance	7
3.7.	Purpose of this study	8
4.	Material and Methods	9
4.1.	Cell lines and culture	9
4.2.	Immunoblotting	9
4.3.	Purification of recombinant proteins and preparation of cell lysates	10
4.4.	PNGase F-digestion of ECD/HER2	11
4.5.	Flow cytometric analysis	11
4.6.	Generation of protein-loaded APC	13
4.7.	Analysis of antigen processing by Mo-DC	13
4.8.	Isolation and expansion of a HER2-specific Th1 cell clone	14
4.9.	Functional T cell assays	15
<i>4.9.1</i> .	IFN-y ELISPOT analyses	. 15
4.9.2.	IFN-γ secretion assays	. 15
4.7.3.	Cr release assays	. 13

4.9.4.	Proliferation assays	16
4.10.	Cytokine detection by ELISA	16
4.11.	Signal transduction analysis	16
4.12.	RNA extraction and reverse transcription	17

5.	Results	<u>18</u>
5.1.	CHO cell culture results in high-level production of recombinant protein	18
5.2.	A simple two-step purification allows isolation of highly pure ECD/HER2 antigen	18
5.3.	Whole cell extract from HER2-transfected NIH3T3 fibroblasts provides a second high- quality antigen source	20
5.4.	The <i>in vitro</i> generated Mo-DC are highly pure and assume an uniform CD83 phenotype	20
5.5.	Immature Mo-DC rapidly take up soluble protein antigens	
5.6.	ECD/HER2-loaded Mo-DC exhibit strong immunostimulatory capacity	22
5.7.	Induction of primary responses represents a critical step in the isolation of HER2-specific T cells	24
5.8.	The F2 T cell microculture depicts HER2-specific Th1 cell reactivity	25
5.9.	HER2-specific CD4 <sup>+</sup> CD8 <sup>lo</sup> F2 Th cells are TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 <sup>+</sup> and exhibit effector phenotype	27
5.10.	The Th cell clone F2.5 displays altered coreceptor expression dependent on culture conditions	30
5.11.	The F2.5 T cell clone isoforms reveal substantial phenotypic differences	33
5.12.	$4^{-}/8^{hi}$ F2.5 T cells selectively express KIR 2DL2 and soluble CD8 $\alpha$	34
5.13.	All F2.5 T cell clone isoforms produce IFN- $\gamma$ after stimulation with ECD/HER2-loaded Mo-DC	35
5.14.	4 <sup>-</sup> /8 <sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells elicit cytolytic and proliferative responses to MaBa-LCL in the absence of HER2 antigen	39
5.15.	ECD/HER2-specific IFN- $\gamma$ secretion of 4 <sup>-</sup> /8 <sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells depends on HLA-DR and CD8	40
5.16.	ECD/HER2-specific 4 <sup>-</sup> /8 <sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell responses are associated with increased Fyn expression and inhibition of ERK phosphorylation	41
5.17.	Continuous administration of IL-12 to 4 <sup>-</sup> /8 <sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells results in CD4 expression and induces apoptosis	43

# 6. Discussion

<u>44</u>

6.1.	Different HER2 antigen sources and appropriate specificity controls are indispensable for					
	the selection of HER2-specific CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells from human blood	44				

<ul> <li>6.3. Stimulation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell microcultures with ECD/HER2-loaded autologous DC provan applicable method for the generation of HER2-reactive Th cell lines</li> <li>6.4. Antigen-specific stimulation with MaBa-LCL cells results in selection of the apoptor resistant T cell clone F2.5</li> <li>6.5. The F2.5 T cell clone adopts a CD8 memory phenotype during culture with ECD/HE loaded MaBa-LCL cells</li> <li>6.6. The thymocyte-like phenotype of the F2.5 T cell clone provides evidence of escape fricted central tolerance by its precursor cell</li> </ul>	vides 
<ul> <li>6.4. Antigen-specific stimulation with MaBa-LCL cells results in selection of the apoptor resistant T cell clone F2.5</li> <li>6.5. The F2.5 T cell clone adopts a CD8 memory phenotype during culture with ECD/HE loaded MaBa-LCL cells</li> <li>6.6. The thymocyte-like phenotype of the F2.5 T cell clone provides evidence of escape fricentral tolerance by its precursor cell</li> </ul>	sis-
<ul> <li>6.5. The F2.5 T cell clone adopts a CD8 memory phenotype during culture with ECD/HE loaded MaBa-LCL cells</li> <li>6.6. The thymocyte-like phenotype of the F2.5 T cell clone provides evidence of escape fr central tolerance by its precursor cell</li> </ul>	
6.6. The thymocyte-like phenotype of the F2.5 T cell clone provides evidence of escape fi central tolerance by its precursor cell	2 <b>R2-</b> 48
	om 
6.7. Increased responsiveness to IL-2 and IL-7 may promote the development of the F2.5 T clone into the CD8 SP lineage	cell 49
6.8. Coexpression of CD4 and CD8α and downregulation of CD5 may represent an adaptive response of 4 <sup>+</sup> /8 <sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells to enhance TCR signaling	ptive 50
6.9. Antagonist peptide-mediated TCR signaling may explain MHC class II-dependent activa of 4 <sup>-</sup> /8 <sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells	tion 
6.10. Partial TCR phosphorylation through elevated Fyn kinase activity provides an explana for coreceptor reversal of the F2.5 T cell clone	ıtion 51
6.11. TCR signaling in ECD/HER2-stimulated 4 <sup>-</sup> /8 <sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells reveals a pattern of activation known to occur during positive selection in the thymus	ation 
6.12. Absence of NIH3T3 <sup>HER2</sup> -specific IFN-γ release indicates reduced antigen-sensitivity of 4 <sup>-</sup> /8 <sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell clone isoform	of the 53
6.13. KIR 2DL2 expression may be responsible for the induction of 4 <sup>-</sup> /8 <sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell prolifer by MaBa-LCL cells in the absence of HER2	ation 
6.14. Enhanced sensitivity to a crossreactive EBV-epitope may explain the degenerate an specificity of 4 <sup>-</sup> /8 <sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells	ıtigen 54
6.15. IL-12-mediated CD4 expression on 4 <sup>-</sup> /8 <sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells may indicate the preservation of cell responses under optimal antigen stimulation conditions	of Th 55
6.16. Detection of DP T cells in human blood provide evidence for the natural occurrenc F2.5-like T cells	e of 56
6.17. Conclusions	57

# 7. <u>References</u>

<u>58</u>

# 1.

# Summary

Tumor-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T (Th) cells play a critical role in antitumor immunity. This is due to their ability to induce CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated cytotoxic activity and humoral responses. The herein presented experimental study focuses on the *in vitro* generation and expansion of Th cell lines and clones specific for the tumor-associated antigen human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 (HER2). A protocol for efficient HER2 presentation was developed using autologous monocyte-derived dendritic cells (Mo-DC) as professional antigen presenting cells and purified HER2 protein as the antigen source. In the study it was demonstrated that Mo-DC pulsed with the extracellular domain of HER2 (ECD/HER2) were capable of inducing HER2-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell activation. Moreover, the detection of the proinflammatory cytokine IFN- $\gamma$  by enzyme-linked immunospot analysis and flow cytometry indicated the ability of the antigen-loaded Mo-DC to polarize the T cell response towards a protective Th1 phenotype. This method of immunization can therefore be used for the development of immunotherapy regimens without requiring defined immunogenic epitopes of the antigen.

In an attempt to find optimal conditions for sustaining T cell expansion, long-term culture of the HER2-specific CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> Th1 cell clone F2.5 with ECD/HER2-loaded autologous Epstein-Barr virus-transformed lymphoblastoid B cells (MaBa-LCL) as stimulator cells promoted the differentiation to a CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T cell type. The sequence of phenotypic changes had strong similarities to the CD8 T cell lineage commitment of intermediate CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> thymocytes as proposed by the kinetic signaling model of T cell development. This gives rise to the suspicion that the precursor cell of the HER2-reactive F2.5 T cell clone had escaped central tolerance and resided in the blood in a dormant state. Under *in vitro* conditions, the self-reactive T cell then became activated by DC-mediated antigenic stimulation and high levels of the immunomodulatory cytokine IL-2.

Based on the assumption of the kinetic signaling model that increased T cell receptor (TCR) engagement promotes CD4 differentiation, whereas weaker signals result in CD8 development, the redirection of the MHC class II-restricted F2.5 T cell clone into the CD8 lineage was suggested to be the consequence of inadequate antigen presentation by MaBa-LCL with decreased expression of stimulatory cytokines such as IL-12 and accessory molecules. In addition, further analysis indicated that two other factors were involved in the process of CD8 conversion. First, antagonist properties of the putative HER2 epitope leading to only partial TCR signal transduction as evidenced by the detection of altered expression levels of the Src family kinases Fyn and Lck. Secondly, exposure to the common cytokine receptor  $\gamma$  chain-dependent prosurvival cytokines IL-2 and IL-7, which are also known to promote the differentiation of intermediate thymocytes into CD8 T cells.

In conclusion, the present study demonstrates that the maintenance of Th1 cell function is inherently dependent on the adequate provision of cytokines, costimulation and TCR engagement. Despite the ability to isolate HER2-reactive T cell clones, the *in vitro* production of sufficient numbers of effector Th1 cells for use in adoptive immunotherapy may be better realized with antigen-specific polyclonal T cell populations.

# Abbreviations

[<sup>3</sup>H]TdR, tritiated thymidine; ABTS, 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethyl-benzthiazoline-6-sulphonic acid); AEC, 3-amino-9-ethyl carbazole; APC, antigen presenting cell(s); BSA, bovine serum albumin; CHO, chinese hamster ovary; cpm, counts per minute; CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocyte(s); **DAPI**, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; **DC**, dendritic cell(s); **EBV**, Epstein-Barr virus; ECD, extracellular domain; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; ELISPOT, enzyme-linked immunospot; ERK, extracellular signal regulated kinase; FCS, fetal calf serum; FITC, fluoresceinisothiocyanate; **FPLC**, fast performance liquid chromatography; **HER2**, human epidermal growth factor receptor-2; **HPLC**, high pressure liquid chromatography; **HRP**, horseradish peroxidase; Ig, immunoglobulin; IMAC, immobilized-metal affinity chromatography; IU, international units; **KIR**, killing inhibitory receptor; **KLH**, keyhole limpet hemocyanin; LAMP, lysosomal-associated membrane protein; LCL, lymphoblastoid cell line; mAb, monoclonal antibody; MAP, mitogen-activated protein; MIIC, MHC class II-rich compartment; MACS, magnetic cell sorting; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; MEM, minimal essential medium; Mo-DC, monocyte-derived DC; MWCO, molecular weight cut-off; Ni-NTA, nickel-nitrilotriacetic acid; pAb, polyclonal antibody; PAGE, polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis; **PBMC**, peripheral blood mononuclear cell(s); **PBS**, phosphate buffered saline; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; PE, phycoerythrin; PGE<sub>2</sub>, prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>; **PI**, propidium iodide; **pMHC**, peptide-MHC; **PNGase F**, peptide Nglycosidase F; PVDF, polyvinylidene fluoride; SD, standard deviation; SDS, sodium dodecylsulfate; TAA, tumor-associated antigen; TCM, T cell medium; TCR, T cell receptor.

# 3.

# Introduction

#### 3.1. Adoptive T cell transfer represents a feasible strategy for antitumor treatment

In animal models, established solid tumors can be eradicated by the infusion of large numbers of tumor-specific T cells (Greenberg P.D., 1986; Hanson H.L. et al., 2000; Shu S.Y. and Rosenberg S.A., 1985). Successful use of this approach in animal models has strengthened efforts to apply adoptive T cell immunotherapy also for the treatment of human cancers. This approach appears to be feasible since several clinical studies have demonstrated specific humoral and T cell mediated responses in single cancer patients (Disis M.L. et al., 1994a; Linehan D.C. et al., 1995). Furthermore, preliminary clinical trials in patients with Hodgkin's disease, immunoblastic lymphoma and malignant melanoma provide proof of principle that administration of *ex vivo* expanded T cells may reconstitute effective long lasting immunity *in vivo* (Rooney C.M. et al., 1995; Roskrow M.A. et al., 1998; Yee C. et al., 2000).

# 3.2. T helper cells are important in the induction and maintenance of cell-mediated immune responses against tumors

It was shown by different authors that successful antitumor treatment depends on the reconstitution of full T cell immunity representing both major T cell subsets, cytotoxic T (Tc) and helper T (Th) cells (Yee C. et al., 2000; Fallarino F. et al., 2000; Huang H. et al., 2002). One of the key features that distinguish the two T cell subsets being their differential coreceptor expression. For Th cells it is the CD4 receptor and for Tc cells the CD8 receptor that initiates the selected T cell function by their respective interaction with major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II or class I. Th cells are further subdivided into the Th1 and Th2 subsets on the basis of the kinds of cytokines they produce (Kim J. et al., 1985; Mosmann T.R. et al., 1986; Romagnani S., 1995). Many studies have portrayed that Th1 cells are associated with cell-mediated immunity, whereas Th2 cells induce humoral responses (Killar L. et al., 1987; Cher D. and Mosmann T., 1987; Coffman R.L. et al., 1988; Stout R. and Bottomly K., 1989). Thus, it is particularly the Th1 immune response that may contribute to antitumor activity (Nishimura T. et al., 2000). Whereas Tc cells are the main effectors for tumor eradication, Th1 cells are required for the differentiation of naive CD8 T cells into cytolytic effectors.

Helper T cell function is most effective when both Th- and Tc-defined tumor antigen determinants are recognized on the surface of the same antigen presenting cell (APC) (Cassell D. and Forman J., 1988; Bennett S.R. et al., 1997). This phenomenon is attributed to the activity of Th1 cells to engage the APC, which then becomes competent at providing the necessary signals to activate naive Tc cells (Ridge J.P. et al., 1998). Since most tumors express MHC class I but not class II, the ability of activated APC to induce cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) responses provides the basis for efficient killing of tumor cells (Ossendorp F. et al., 1998).

Once the immune response has been established, Th1 cells can directly support CD8<sup>+</sup> Tc cells through secretion of stimulatory cytokines and provision of membrane bound helper functions (Marzo A.L. et al., 2000; Gao F.G. et al., 2002). Most important with respect to antitumor efficacy is that Th1 cells show profound effects on the persistence of CD8 T cell responses. This is most clearly demonstrated by Knutson K.L. et al. (2001), who found that in late stage cancer patients coinfusion of Th cells, specific for a HER2-derived peptide, markedly prolong the life of HER2-reactive CTL.

In addition, it has been observed that in some cases antigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> Th cells eliminate cancer cells (Greenberg P.D. et al., 1985; Mumberg D. et al., 1999; Qin Z. and Blankenstein T., 2000). The specific mechanisms known to be involved in this CD4<sup>+</sup> Th cell-mediated cytotoxicity are induction of apoptosis by expression of death factors such as Fas ligand (FasL) or TNFrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL), as well as direct cytolysis by perforin exocytosis (Stalder T. et al., 1994; Kayagaki N. et al., 1999; Abe K. et al., 2000; Vergelli M. et al., 1997).

# **3.3.** Generation of a protective antitumor immune response requires antigen presentation by dendritic cells

The therapeutic goal of eradicating tumors in humans led to the improvement of culture conditions for the efficient generation and expansion of tumor-reactive effector T cells *in vitro*. Several promising strategies of *ex vivo* T cell expansion use dendritic cells (DC) because these are the only APC able to initiate primary T cell responses (Steinman R.M., 1991). Unlike tumor cells, DC express MHC class I and class II molecules as well as various costimulatory and accessory molecules at high levels. Due to this only a minute amount of DC are required to provoke a strong antigen-specific T cell response.

DC undergo two functionally and phenotypically distinct stages. In the immature stage, DC have the capacity to capture foreign antigens by phagocytosis, macropinocytosis or via interaction with C-type lectin and Fc $\gamma$  receptors (Sallusto F. et al., 1995; Engering A.J. et al., 1997; Jiang W. et al., 1995; Lanzavecchia A., 1996). After lysosomal degradation of endocytosed material DC are able to direct the respective peptide products to specialized MHC class II-rich compartments (MIIC) leading to the formation of large amounts of peptide-MHC (pMHC) class II complexes (Sallusto F. et al., 1995). Alternatively, they can deliver internalized antigens to MHC class I molecules and thus are capable of inducing CTL responses in a process that has been referred to as crosspriming (Russo V. et al., 2000; Berard F. et al., 2000). After antigen uptake and exposure to immune or inflammatory signals, immature DC differentiate to a mature phenotype. During the maturation process, DC lose their antigen-capturing properties and concomitantly increase their T cell-stimulatory capacity by presenting abundant pMHC complexes together with various cos-

timulatory molecules.

In recent years it became obvious that the specific pMHC-TCR interaction is not sufficient to fully activate T cells. Engagement of CD28 by the interaction with the B7 family members CD80 and CD86 on the APC is additionally required as a second signal (Koulova L. et al., 1991). Due to the finding that stimulation of naive T cells in an environment deficient of CD28 costimulation leads to unresponsiveness (Harding F.A. et al., 1992; Lenschow D.J. et al., 1996), the initiation of proper T cell responses depends on antigen-presentation by mature DC with high CD80 and CD86 surface levels (Banchereau J. and Steinman R.M., 1998). Moreover, the shift to a Th1 cytokine profile, necessarily for effective antitumor activity, depends on the ability of the DC to secrete the proinflammatory cytokine IL-12 (Macatonia S.E. et al., 1995; Heufler C. et al., 1996). Because Th1 cells in turn stimulate DC for IL-12 production by CD40 ligation, a positive feedback loop exists which provides the basis for licensing the DC to promote the observed CTL-mediated immune responses against tumor cells (Cella M. et al., 1996; Schoenberger S.P. et al., 1998; Ridge J.P. et al., 1998; Bennett S.R. et al., 1998).

*In vivo*, antigen-loaded mature DC migrate to secondary lymphoid organs, such as spleen, lymph nodes and Peyer's patches, where they interact with naive T cells (Banchereau J. et al., 2000; Flores-Romo L., 2001). When stimulated with antigen, naive T cells are primed by the DC to proliferate and differentiate into effector cells. The primed T cells reenter the circulation and perform their effector functions after a second antigen challenge (Butcher E.C. and Picker L.J., 1996).

Attempts to use DC as natural adjuvants for T cell expansion has been facilitated by the advent of culture systems to generate them from blood monocytes (Sallusto F. and Lanzavecchia A., 1994; Romani N. et al., 1996) or CD34<sup>+</sup> bone marrow cells (Inaba K. et al., 1992; Young J.W. et al., 1995). To date, a diverse array of growth factors and cytokines has been identified to ensure the induction of DC differentiation from these precursors (for review, see Zou G.M. and Tam Y.K., 2002). However, the majority of research and clinical protocols are based on the well-established method of Sallusto F. and Lanzavecchia A. (1994) where immature DC are differentiated from monocytes by culture in GM-CSF and IL-4, followed by maturation with TNF- $\alpha$ . For use in DC-based immunotherapy, these monocyte-derived DC (Mo-DC) can be efficiently pulsed with synthetic peptides or proteins derived from known tumor-associated antigens (TAA) (Thurner B. et al., 1999; Murphy G.P. et al., 1999; Chaux P. et al., 1999). Additionally, the DC can be successfully transfected with tumor-derived RNA, as reported by Heiser A. et al. (2001).

## 3.4. HER2 is an appealing target for tumor-associated antigen-specific T cell immunotherapy

The HER2 proto-oncogene encodes for a 185 kDa receptor tyrosine kinase with high homology to the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) (Coussens L. et al., 1985). HER2 overexpression has been detected in subsets of a wide range of cancer types, e.g. adenocarcinomas of breast, ovary, colon and lung (Hynes N.E. and Stern D.F., 1994; Slamon D.J. et al., 1989) and is a marker of poor prognosis (Walker R.A. et al., 1989; Kern J.A. et al., 1990; Fajac A. et al., 1995). In addition, clinical studies have shown that HER2 overexpression affects as much as 30% of women with breast cancer (Slamon D.J. et al., 1987; Pauletti G. et al., 2000). As was discovered in clinical trials, elevated levels of the HER2 receptor accounts for an aggressive nature of the disease (Di Fiore P.P. et al., 1987; Hadziak R.M. et al., 1987) which responds poorly to hormone or chemotherapy (Slamon D. et al., 1987; Leitzel K. et al., 1995; Vargas-Rodig L.M. et al., 1999).

HER2 is an appealing target for immunologic intervention due to several reasons. The HER2 oncogene is selectively amplified and therefore expressed in high levels only in malignant cells (Slamon D.J. and Clark G.M., 1988). Some patients already present a preexisting cellular and humoral response to HER2, indicating the immunogenicity of the molecule (Disis M.L. et al., 1994a; Fisk B. et al., 1997; Kobayashi H. et al., 2000). As it was shown that HER2 overexpression contributes to the malignant phenotype, it can be assumed that HER2<sup>+</sup> tumors will not be able to evade anti-HER2 directed T cell responses by immunoselection of antigen-loss variants, as it was observed for the melanoma-associated differentiation antigen Melan-A/MART-1 (Jäger E. et al., 1996). This assumption is supported by a retrospective study of Niehans G.A. et al. (1993) showing that expression of HER2 in patients who died with metastatic breast cancer is stable over time and generally concruent at different metastatic sites.

The detection of HER2-reactive tumor-infiltrating T cells was the main rationale for the development of T cell-based vaccination strategies that target the HER2 antigen. A recent approach in this field was initiated by Disis M.L. et al. (2004) in the treatment of women suffering from HER2<sup>+</sup> breast and ovarian cancer. In this clinical study, the authors were able to induce cellular and humoral HER2-specific immunity in more than 80% of the patients by the administration of a HER2 intracellular domain protein-based vaccine. Their results provide strong support for the feasibility of T cell-based techniques of immunotherapy in HER2<sup>+</sup> tumor treatment.

# **3.5.** Escape from central tolerance provide an explanation for the existance of potentially autoreactive T cells in the periphery

In recent years it became evident that large numbers of potentially self-reactive T cells exist in the human blood. This fact was first considered by the isolation of insulin- and myelin basic protein (MBP)-specific T cells from healthy subjects (Kitze B. et al., 1988; Naquet P. et al., 1988; Zhang J. et al., 1994). The presence of autoreactive T cells in the periphery is particularly explained by the fact that the induction of central tolerance in the thymus is not an absolute condition (Bouneand C. et al., 2000). Normally, thymic APC expressing peptides derived from endogenous proteins mediate the negative selection that leads to apoptosis of T cells with high-affinity TCR receptors (Pugliese A. et al., 1997; Egwuagu C.E. et al., 1997; Klein L. et al., 2000). However, some autoreactive T cells can escape thymic deletion either because the specific self

epitope is not expressed in the thymus or is only present in relatively low concentrations on the APC mainly due to inefficient processing or low affinity for the MHC (Milich D.R. et al., 1989; Mamula M.J. and Craft J., 1994; Liu G.Y. et al., 1995).

The self-reactive T cells in the periphery are still subject to control. A complex set of regulatory mechanisms have been identified that can suppress the activation of T cells. Among them are the most important: sequestration of T cells in lymphoid organs, induction of clonal anergy or depletion, inhibition by CTLA-4 coligation and downmodulation by regulatory T cells (Anderton S. et al., 1999; Kamradt T. and Mitchison N.A., 2001).

T cell sequestration is based on the homing receptor profile of naive T cells (Mackay C.R., 1993; Butcher E.C. and Picker L.J., 1996). Due to the binding characteristics of these receptors, the cells are unable to enter normal tissues other than lymphoid organs and are thus physically separated from the majority of tissue antigens. Clonal anergy is induced, when T cells are stimulated by antigen without receiving a costimulatory signal (Harding F.A. et al., 1992; Gimmi C.D. et al., 1993). As a consequence, the T cells become refractory to the antigen even if CD28 signals are provided at the time of restimulation. Activation induced cell death occurs in T cells after repeated stimulation of the TCR (Kabelitz D. et al., 1993; Critchfield J.M. et al., 1994). This process is mediated by the ligation of Fas, a molecule belonging to the tumor necrosis factor receptor family (Brunner T. et al., 1995; Ju S.T. et al., 1995). The most relevant example of T cell inhibition involves upregulation of the CD152 receptor after the initial priming event. CD152 competes with CD28 for binding to the B7 family of ligands on the APC and therefore interrupts the costimulatory pathway of T cell activation (Chambers C.A. and Allison J.P., 1999). Regulatory T cells can inhibit other T cells, most likely through the production of inhibitory cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF-β (Chen Y. et al., 1994; Mason D. and Powrie F., 1998).

Besides genetic susceptibility, considerable evidence implicates infection as the main cause of autoimmune diseases (Kohm A.P. et al., 2003). Mechanisms that can lead from infection to autoimmunity include the release of sequestered autoantigens through tissue damage (Miller S.D. et al., 1997), the activation of a large fraction of the T cell population by superantigens (Perron H. et al., 1997), as well as the induction of inflammatory cytokines and costimulatory molecules by microbial products (Kamradt T. et al., 1991; Klinman D.M. et al., 1996; Tough D.F. et al., 1997). Furthermore, it is suggested by some authors, that structural similarity between microbial and self-antigens may contribute to the activation of autoreactive T cells (Fujinami R.S. et al., 1983; Albert L.J. and Inman R.D., 1999).

## 3.6. Vaccination with tumor-associated self-antigens can break self tolerance

The inability of naive T cells to recognize endogenous tumor associated epitopes due to the barriers of peripheral tolerance can be overcome by *in vitro* culture methodology. Under appropriate culture conditions, successful induction of a primary T cell response will result in the gen-

eration and expansion of potent effector cells. Due to an increased expression of accessory molecules, such as LFA-1 and CD2, these T cells now have a higher affinity and do not require costimulation for their activation (de Waal Malefyt R. et al., 1993; Bachmann M.F. et al., 1997). As a consequence, they can directly interact with antigen-bearing target cells (Mentzer S.J. et al., 1987; Schmits R. et al., 1996).

T cell-mediated autoimmune responses has been readily achieved *in vitro* against a variety of TAA's mostly by peptide specific stimulation, including tyrosinase (Topalian S.L. et al., 1994; Visseren M.J. et al., 1995; Yee C. et al., 1996), Melan-A/MART-1 (Coulie P.G. et al., 1994; Sensi M. et al., 1995), gp100 (Zarour H. et al., 1996; Kirkin A.F. et al., 1999), MAGE (Traversari C. et al., 1992; Chaux P. et al., 1999), NY-ESO (Jäger E. et al., 1998; Zeng G. et al., 2002) and HER2/neu (Disis M.L. et al., 1994b; Fisk B. et al., 1995).

The most impressive example of how *in vitro* generated effector T cells can mediate autoreactive responses *in vivo* is provided by Yee C. et al. (2000). The authors observed the development of inflammatory lesions in a patient with metastatic melanoma after infusion of CTL clones directed against the melanocyte-specific antigen MART-1. Thus, the results of this study indicate that the adoptive transfer of *in vitro* induced and expanded tumor antigen-specific T cells can break tolerance to generate effective antitumor immunity.

Although the results of recent clinical trials with T cell vaccines are promising, it has been noted by Knutson K.L. et al. (2002) that *ex vivo* expansion methods have to be further optimized to maximise the activity of self-reactive T cells to a level where they can break tumor tolerance. However, as mentioned by the authors, it is of equal interest to tightly control the specificity and the intensity of the immune response in order to avoid the risk of life-threatening hypersensitivity reactions and autoimmune disorders in the cancer patients. Therefore, the objective of T cell-based immunotherapies should be the establishment of a specific and sustained antitumor response while maintaining integrity of the total immune system.

## 3.7. Purpose of this study

Attempts to treat patients with HER2-overexpressing tumors by adoptive transfer of HER2reactive T cells have been limited due to the difficulty of generating autologous Th1 cells directed against the HER2 antigen. Thus, the aim of this work was to develop a protocol for the *in vitro* induction of a Th1 cell immunity to HER2. For this purpose, a T cell priming model was established using Mo-DC as APC and highly purified recombinant HER2 protein as the antigen source.

# **Material and Methods**

## 4.1. Cell lines and culture

Dihydrofolate reductase-deficient chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells transfected with a methotrexate selectable expression vector containing the amino-terminally hexahistidine tagged cDNA coding for the extracellular domain (ECD) of the EGFR (ECD/EGFR) or of the HER2 receptor (ECD/HER2) were a gift from P. Kufer (Ludwig Maximilians-Universität, München, Germany). The cells were initially cultivated in  $\alpha$ -minimal essential medium ( $\alpha$ -MEM) (Gibco BRL, Karlsruhe, Germany), supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated dialyzed fetal calf serum (FCS) (PAA Laboratories, Cölbe, Germany), 100 IU/ml penicillin, 100 IU/ml streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine (all from Gibco BRL) and 100 nM methotrexate (Medac, Hamburg, Germany), and then transferred into the protein-free Rencyte K1-medium (MediCult, Jyllinge, Denmark), supplemented with 100 IU/ml penicillin, 100 IU/ml streptomycin and 100 nM methotrexate. After an adaptation phase in T<sub>120</sub>-flasks (Greiner, Nürtingen, Germany) the transfected CHO cells were cultivated to high densities (1-2 x 10<sup>8</sup> cells) in the miniPERM<sup>®</sup> bioreactor (Vivascience, Hannover, Germany).

Wild-type and HER2 transfected NIH3T3 (NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> and NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup>) fibroblasts, as well as hybridoma cell lines secreting the mAb's W6/32 and HB55 were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) (Manassas, VA, USA) and cultured in DMEM (Gibco BRL) enriched with 10% FCS, 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics.

HER2-negative lymphoblastoid cell lines (LCL) were generated from the donors by Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-transformation of B cells in peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) cultures using virus-containing culture supernatant of the marmoset cell line B95-8 (ATCC, Rockville, MD, USA). The MHC class I haplotypes of the cells were characterized by E. Albert (Ludwig Maximilians-Universität, München, Germany) and are presented in table 1. The LCL cells were grown in RPMI 1640 medium (Life Technologies, Paisley, England) supplemented with 10% FCS, 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics.

## 4.2. Immunoblotting

For Western blot analysis, purified protein samples or extract from lysed cells were mixed with an equal volume of sodium dodecylsulfate (SDS) loading buffer consisting of 100 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 2% SDS and 20 mM dithiotreitol, and subjected to SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE) under reducing conditions according to the method of Laemmli U.K. (1970). The resolved proteins were then transferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane in buffer containing 25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine and 20% methanol. The membrane was blocked by over-

Table 1: MHC class I haplotypes of LCL lines					
LCL line	HLA-A	HLA-B	HLA-C		
MaBa	A3/A68	B35	Cw4/Cw15		
JB	A2/A3	B35/B62	Cw4		
NvB	A2/A24	B39/B44	Cw5/Cw7		
ClMu	A3/A28	B7/B62	Cw3		

night incubation at 4°C with 5% skim milk (Fluka, Taufkirchen, Germany) in TBST buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween 20). Transferred antigens were stained with 0.5 to 5  $\mu$ g/ml mAb in 5% skim milk-TBST for 2 h at RT. After extensive washing with TBST, the membrane was incubated with 20 to 50 ng/ml of horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated iso-type-matched secondary immunoglobulin (Ig) for 1 h at RT. Peroxidase activity was either visualized directly on the blot using 3-amino-9-ethyl carbazole (AEC) (Sigma, Deisenhofen, Germany) as a chromogen or revealed by enhanced chemiluminescence (Pierce, Bonn, Germany) and autoradiography using Hyperfilm<sup>®</sup> (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Freiburg, Germany).

## 4.3. Purification of recombinant proteins and preparation of cell lysates

Secreted ECD/EGFR and ECD/HER2 protein was purified from CHO cell culture supernantant by immobilized-metal affinity chromatography (IMAC). To improve binding to the nickel-nitrilotriacetic acid (Ni-NTA) agarose (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) interfering reagents of the cell culture supernatant were removed by dialysis against phosphate buffered saline (PBS) using the crossflow-filtration modules Vivaflow-50<sup>®</sup> with a molecular weight cut-off (MWCO) of 100 kDa (Vivascience). Subsequent IMAC purification was carried out at RT on an ÄktaFPLC® system (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech). In brief, the hexahistidine tagged proteins were incubated overnight at RT under continuous rotation with the nickel resin, loaded onto a HR10/10-column (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) and connected to the FPLC flow system. After extensive washing with PBS containing 20 mM imidazole (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) at a flow rate of 0.5 ml/min, recombinant proteins were eluted by increasing the imidazole concentration to 80 mM. The collected peak fraction was dialyzed overnight at 4°C against PBS and concentrated using Centricon<sup>®</sup> centrifugal filter devices with a MWCO of 50 kDa (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA). Identity of the purified proteins was confirmed by immunoblot analysis with the Penta-His mAb (Qiagen) and HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse Ig (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech). Purity was proven to be >95% by detection of protein bands with Brillant Blue R (Sigma). Finally, the protein concentration was determined with the DC protein assay® (BioRad, München, Germany) and sterile filtered aliquots were stored at -80°C.

Recombinant ECD/HER2 produced in a mouse L cell expression system was a gift from T.

Vedvick (Corixa, Seattle, WA, USA). The protein is identical to ECD/HER2 derived from transfected CHO cells except for the absence of a polyhistidine tag and was purified from the cell culture supernatant by ConA sepharose and anion exchange chromatography. The protein preparation was proven to be of high purity in reverse phase HPLC and gel electrophoresis (T. Vedvick, personal communication).

Keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) was purchased in a soluble form from Sigma. NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> and NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cell lysates were prepared by resuspending 1 x  $10^6$  cells in 200 µl bidistilled water followed by three cycles of rapid freeze-thawing.

For W6/32 and HB55 mAb purification, 0.45 µm-filtered supernatant of the hybridoma cultures was dialyzed against PBS using Vivaflow-50 modules with a MWCO of 10 kDa. After binding to Protein A sepharose (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) and extensive washing with PBS, antibodies were eluted with an acidic buffer consisting of 100 mM glycine, pH 2.5, and 150 mM NaCl. The pH-value of the eluted peak fraction was immediately adjusted to neutral with 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 9.0. Subsequently, the antibody preparation was dialyzed overnight at 4°C versus PBS, and after purity control by SDS-PAGE and Coomassie blue staining sterilely filtered and stored in aliquots at -80°C.

## 4.4. PNGase F-digestion of ECD/HER2

For the detection of N-linked glycans, 10  $\mu$ g purified ECD/HER2 protein from transfected CHO and L cells was dissolved to 0.5  $\mu$ g/ml in PBS. 25 units peptide N-glycosidase F (PNGase F) (New England Biolabs, Frankfurt am Main, Germany) were added and digestion was carried out for 1 h at 37°C in a waterbath under continuous shaking. Then the reaction was stopped with 4x reducing sample buffer (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) and a total of 0.25  $\mu$ g of digested ECD/HER2 protein was resolved together with the same amount of unprocessed protein on a 7.5% SDS-PAGE. For Western blot analysis, proteins were transferred to a PVDF membrane and immunostained with a mixture of the mouse mAb's L87 and 2ERB19 (Lab Vision, Newmarket Suffolk, England), both specific for the extracellular domain of HER2, and HRP-conjugated donkey anti-mouse Ig (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Heidelberg, Germany). Peroxidase activity was then revealed by enhanced chemiluminescence.

## 4.5. Flow cytometric analysis

Using standard protocols, cells were stained with antibodies in ice-cold PBS containing 0.5% bovine serum albumin (BSA).

For phenotypic analysis of the *in vitro* generated Mo-DC the following fluorescein-isothiocyanate (FITC)- or phycoerythrin (PE)-conjugated antibodies were used: FITC-anti-HLA-DR (Immu-357, mouse IgG1) (Beckman Coulter, Krefeld, Germany), FITC-anti-CD80 (L307.4, mouse IgG1), FITC-anti-CD86 (FUN-1, mouse IgG1), PE-anti-CD83 (HB15e, mouse IgG1), FITC-anti-CD14 (M5E2, mouse IgG2a) and PE-anti-CD54 (HA58, mouse IgG1) (all from BD PharMingen, Heidelberg, Germany). The PE- or FITC-conjugated mAb 679.1Mc7 (mouse IgG1) and the FITC-conjugated mAb U7.27 (mouse IgG2a) (all from Beckman Coulter) were used as isotype controls. Expression of CD40 by immature Mo-DC loaded with soluble ECD/HER2 or NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cell lysate was evaluated with the FITC-anti-CD40 mAb 5C3 (mouse IgG1) (BD PharMingen). Prior to immunostaining, Mo-DC were incubated for 30 min at 4°C with 20  $\mu$ I FcR blocking reagent (Miltenyi Biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, Germany) per 1 x 10<sup>7</sup> total cells to avoid nonspecific binding of antibodies to Fc-receptors.

For quantitative analysis of the TCR V $\beta$  repertoire in the T cell line F2 the Beta Mark<sup>®</sup> kit from Beckman Coulter was used. Sample preparation was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were counterstained with the PECy5-anti-CD4 mAb 13B8.2 or the PECy5-anti-CD8 mAb B9.11, respectively. For the detection of the CD45 isoform on the surface of F2 T cells the FITC-anti-CD45RA mAb HI100 (mouse IgG2b) and the FITC-anti-CD45RO mAb UCHL1 (mouse IgG2a) (both from BD PharMingen) were used. The phenotypic profile of the F2.5 T cell clone isoforms  $4^{+}/8^{10}$ ,  $4^{+}/8^{+}$  and  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  was assessed by staining with the following mAb's: PE-anti-TCR Vβ5.3 (3D11, mouse IgG1), FITC-anti-CD4 (13B8.2, mouse IgG1), FITC-anti-CD8 (B9.11, mouse IgG1), PE-anti-CD8β (2ST8.5H7, mouse IgG2a), FITC-anti-CD16 (3G8, mouse IgG1) (all from Beckman Coulter), FITC-anti-CD5 (UCHT2, mouse IgG1), FITC-anti-CD27 (M-T271, mouse IgG1), FITC-anti-CD28 (CD28.2, mouse IgG1), PE-anti-CD152 (BNI3, mouse IgG2a) and FITC-anti-HLA-DR (TÜ36, mouse IgG2b) (all from BD PharMingen). KIR expression of the F2.5 T cell clone isoforms 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> and 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> was determined with the FITC-anti-NKB1 mAb DX9 (mouse IgG1), the FITC-anti-CD94 mAb HP-3D9 (mouse IgG1), the FITC-anti-NKAT2 mAb DX27 (mouse IgG2a), the FITC-anti-CD158b mAb CH-L (mouse IgG2b) (all from BD PharMingen), the PE-anti-CD158a mAb EB6 (mouse IgG1) and the PE-anti-NKG2A mAb Z199 (mouse IgG2b) (both from Beckman Coulter). Conjugated isotypematched mAb's (from BD PharMingen or Beckman Coulter) were used as controls in all flow cytometric analyses.

HER2-expression of NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> and NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> fibroblasts was determined in a two-step procedure with the mouse anti-human HER2 mAb TA-1 (Calbiochem, Schwalbach, Germany) and FITC-conjugated F(ab')<sub>2</sub> goat anti-mouse Ig (Zymed Laboratories, San Francisco, CA, USA).

For exclusion of dead cells, propidium iodide (PI) from Sigma was added to all samples at a final concentration of 0.5  $\mu$ g/ml just prior to aquisition.

All fluorescence analyses were performed on an Epics Elite ESP flow cytometer (Coulter Electronics, Hialeah, FL, USA). For data evaluation and presentation the WinMDI v2.8 software by Joe Trotter (Scripps Research Institute, La Jolla, CA, USA) and the FlowJo<sup>®</sup> software (Tree Star Inc., San Carlos, CA, USA) were used.

# 4.6. Generation of protein-loaded APC

Mo-DC were generated based on a method described by Jonuleit H. et al. (1997). Briefly, PBMC from donor MaBa were isolated by Ficoll<sup>®</sup> density gradient centrifugation. Monocytes were isolated by plastic adherence and cultured in 6-well plates (Greiner) in X-VIVO-15 (BioWhittaker, Walkersville, MD, USA) supplemented with 1% heat-inactivated autologous plasma, 2 mM L-glutamine, 1600 IU/ml GM-CSF (Sandoz, Nürnberg, Germany) and 1000 IU/ml IL-4 (Strathmann-Biotech, Hannover, Germany). On day 7, the non-adherent Mo-DC precursor were rinsed off, washed once with medium and transferred to fresh 6-well plates at 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells in 3 ml medium per well. Subsequent to the addition of 75 µg of purified ECD/HER2 protein, Mo-DC maturation was induced with 1 µg/ml prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) (Pharmacia & Upjohn, Kalamazoo, MI, USA) and the following proinflammatory cytokines: 10 ng/ml TNF-α, 10 ng/ml IL-1β, 1000 IU/ml IL-6 (all from Strathmann-Biotech), 500 IU/ml IL-4 and 800 IU/ml GM-CSF. The ECD/HER2-loaded mature Mo-DC were exclusively used to induce a HER2-specific response of naive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. For restimulation and functional testing purposes Mo-DC of immature phenotype were used instead. These cells were loaded with ECD/HER2 antigen, control proteins or cell lysate and cultivated in X-VIVO-15 medium supplemented with 1600 IU/ml GM-CSF and 1000 IU/ml IL-4 as the only cytokines. On day 10, mature or immature Mo-DC were harvested and used as APC.

Long-term LCL cultures from donor MaBa (MaBa-LCL) were harvested and seeded in U-bottom 96-well plates (Greiner) in a cell number of 5 x  $10^5$  per well. After addition of 5 µg recombinant protein and 20 h of incubation, cells were harvested,  $\gamma$ -irradiated with 80 Gy and used as APC for T cell expansion or as target cells in functional assays.

## 4.7. Analysis of antigen processing by Mo-DC

For analysis of antigen processing by immature Mo-DC, 5 mg of ECD/EGFR protein were labeled with a 50 molar excess of the fluorescein-hydroxysuccinimide ester FLUOS (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). After 2 h of incubation at RT, the protein was separated from unbound dye by size-exclusion using a G 25-Sepharose column (Roche). Mo-DC were loaded with the fluorescein-labeled protein at 37°C for various times (30 min, 2 h, 4 h, 8 h and 36 h) and transferred on poly-lysine (Sigma) coated Lab-Tek<sup>®</sup> chamber slides (Nalge Nunc, Naperville, IL, USA) at a density of 5 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells per chamber. The cells were fixed on the slides with 2% paraformalde-hyde (Sigma) for 10 min at RT and permeabilised with methanol for 2 min. After blocking in PBS with 10% goat serum (Sigma) for 1 h at RT, the slides were incubated overnight at 4°C in PBS with 10% goat serum and 20  $\mu$ g/ml of either the CD206-specific mAb 19, the LAMP-1-specific mAb H4A3 or the HLA-DR-specific mAb TÜ36 (all from BD PharMingen). Subsequently, cells

were exposed to a 1:200-dilution of Texas Red-conjugated goat anti-mouse Ig (Dianova, Hamburg, Germany) in PBS with 10% goat serum for 1 h at RT. Following a 5 min-incubation in PBS containing 1  $\mu$ g/ml 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Sigma) at RT to stain nuclei, the slides were mounted using the Slow Fade Antifade Kit<sup>®</sup> (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA). For visualization, a Zeiss Axioskop microscope (Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany) was used with appropriate filters.

#### 4.8. Isolation and expansion of a HER2-specific Th1 cell clone

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were purified from PBMC of donor MaBa by magnetic cell sorting (MACS) (Miltenyi Biotec). Subsequently,  $1 \ge 10^6$  CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were cultured with  $2 \ge 10^4$  autologous ECD/HER2-pulsed mature Mo-DC in the wells of 24-well plates (Greiner) in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 5% autologous serum, 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics (hereafter referred to as TCM). Following three cycles of weekly restimulations (on day 7, 14 and 21) with autologous ECD/HER2-loaded immature Mo-DC and culture in TCM containing 20 IU/ml IL-2 (R & D Systems, Wiesbaden, Germany) and 5 ng/ml IL-7 (BD PharMingen), each individual T cell culture was analyzed for ECD/HER2-specific IFN-y release using an enzyme-linked immunospot (ELISPOT) assay (see Section 4.9.1). Activated T cells of the microculture F2, showing the optimum HER2-specific response, were enriched by MACS using an IFN- $\gamma$  secretion assay (described in Section 4.9.2) and anti-PE paramagnetic beads (both from Miltenvi Biotec). The sorted polyclonal T cells, referred to as T cell line F2, were further expanded. To provide factors for optimal proliferation, 5% T-Stim (BD PharMingen) was additionally added to the TCM in all subsequent cultivation steps. After further evidence for HER2-specificity by IFN- $\gamma$ ELISPOT and IFN- $\gamma$  secretion testing, the relative frequency of TCR VB motifs in the F2 culture was determined by flow cytrometric analysis. TCR VB5.3<sup>+</sup> T cells resembling 85% of the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell fraction were enriched by MACS using the PE-labeled anti-TCR VB5.3-specific mAb 3D11 and anti-PE paramagnetic beads. Subsequently, sorted T cells were cloned by limiting dilution. Therefore, T cells were plated at 0.3 cells/well in U-bottom 96-well plates with 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> ECD/HER2-pulsed and  $\gamma$ -irradiated MaBa-LCL as APC. The CD4<sup>+</sup>TCR V $\beta$ 5.3<sup>+</sup> T cell clone F2.5, with the best viability and IFN- $\gamma$  release upon antigen-specific stimulation, was further expanded to high cell numbers by culture in T<sub>30</sub>-flasks (Greiner) in the presence of 15 x 10<sup>6</sup> ECD/HER2-pulsed  $\gamma$ -irradiated MaBa-LCL. Starting from a total of 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> T cells, 18 days of cell culture resulted in 1-2 x 10<sup>7</sup> T cells. To some of the flask-cultures IL-12 (R & D Systems) was added at a final concentration of 0.2 ng/ml. In parallel, F2.5 T cells were expanded in the wells of 24-well plates precoated overnight at 4°C with mAb 3D11 in PBS (200 µl, 5 µg/ml). After 1 week of antibody-induced proliferation, T cells were passaged to uncoated plates for a 1 week-resting period. Subsequently, T cells were used for functional experiments or further rounds of clonal expansion.

#### 4.9. Functional T cell assays

#### 4.9.1. IFN-y ELISPOT analyses

For the IFN- $\gamma$  ELISPOT assay, 2 x 10<sup>4</sup> immature Mo-DC, unpulsed or pulsed with different antigens, were coincubated with 1 x 10<sup>3</sup> autologous T cells overnight at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in the wells of 96-well nitrocellulose filter plates (Millipore) that were coated with the mouse anti-human IFN- $\gamma$ antibody 1-D1K (Mabtech, Nacha, Sweden). After removal of cells by extensive washing with PBS, captured IFN- $\gamma$  was detected by the sequential addition of the biotinylated anti-IFN- $\gamma$  mAb 7-B6-1 (Mabtech), HRP-conjugated streptavidin (ABC Vectastain-Elite Kit<sup>®</sup>) (Vector, Burlingame, CA, USA) and the peroxidase substrate AEC, as previously described by Herr W. et al. (1996). Red spots corresponding to single IFN- $\gamma$  secreting cells were counted by dissecting microscopy (Zeiss).

### 4.9.2. IFN-γ secretion assays

 $1 \times 10^5$  T cells were stimulated with  $1 \times 10^4$  protein-loaded immature Mo-DC in the wells of Ubottom 96-well plates overnight at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. For blocking experiments, 10 µg/ml of the mAb's HB55 (anti-HLA-DR), W6/32 (anti-MHC I), RIV II (anti-CD8) or anti-CD4 (anti-CD4) (the latter two from DPC Bierman, Bad Nauheim, Germany) were added 30 min prior to establishment of the coculture either to the Mo-DC (HB55 and W6/32) or to the T cells (RIV II and anti-CD4). Cells were harvested and washed once in PBS supplemented with 0.5% BSA. Subsequently, an anti-IFN- $\gamma$  x anti-CD45 Fab-trimer construct called IFN- $\gamma$  catch reagent, was allowed to attach to the cell surface of all T cells by a 10 min-incubation of 20 µl of the reagent per 1 x 10<sup>7</sup> cells at 4°C. After dilution to 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml with 37°C warm RPMI 1640 medium, cells were incubated for 45 min at  $37^{\circ}$ C under slow continuous rotation. In this time period, IFN- $\gamma$  secreted by an activated T cell is captured locally on the cell surface by the IFN- $\gamma$  catch reagent. For subsequent fluorometric detection of surface-bound IFN-γ, T cells were stained with a PE-anti-IFN-γ mAb (Miltenyi Biotec). Additionally, cells were labeled with the FITC-anti-CD4 13B8.2 mAb and the PECy5-anti-CD8 B9.11 mAb. For exclusion of dead cells, PI was added prior to aquisition. A lymphocyte gate was set based on forward and side scatter properties. Finally, four-color analyses were performed on an Epics Elite ESP flow cytometer (Coulter Electronics).

# 4.9.3. <sup>51</sup>Cr release assays

CTL activities were measured in a standard <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay. In brief, 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> protein-loaded immature Mo-DC were labeled in 100  $\mu$ l of FCS with 100  $\mu$ Ci/ml <sup>51</sup>Cr (ICN Biochemicals, Irvine, CA, USA) for 1.5 h at 37°C. Graded numbers of T cells were given to 1 x 10<sup>4</sup> <sup>51</sup>Cr-labeled target

cells in the cavities of a V-bottom 96-well tissue culture plate (Costar, Cambridge, MA, USA). Following incubation for 4 h at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, the supernatant was collected and radioactivity was measured in a  $\gamma$ -counter. Specific lysis was calculated as follows: % specific <sup>51</sup>Cr release = ((experimental <sup>51</sup>Cr release - spontaneous <sup>51</sup>Cr release)/(maximum <sup>51</sup>Cr release - spontaneous <sup>51</sup>Cr release) x 100. Maximum <sup>51</sup>Cr release was obtained by adding 100 µl of 1% Nonidet P-40 (Sigma) to 100 µl of labeled target cells.

#### 4.9.4. Proliferation assays

To assess proliferative capacity of HER2-specific T cells, 1 x  $10^4$  T cells were incubated in 200 µl TCM with 1 x  $10^3$  unpulsed or protein-loaded  $\gamma$ -irradiated MaBa-LCL in U-bottom 96-well plates. After 4 d of culture at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, tritiated thymidine ([<sup>3</sup>H]TdR) (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) was added at 1 µCi/well and incubation was prolonged for additional 16 h. [<sup>3</sup>H]TdR incorporation was estimated by harvesting cells onto filter plates using a 96-well cell harvester (Packard Instrument, Downers Grove, IL, USA) and counting in a β-scintillation counter (LKB Wallac, Erlangen, Germany).

#### 4.10. Cytokine detection by ELISA

IL-12 p40, IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  were measured in T cell-DC culture supernatants harvested 20 h after T cell stimulation using standard sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) protocols. Antibodies and recombinant standards of all cytokines were obtained from BD PharMingen. The capture antibody was bound to the ELISA plate (Nunc, Roskilde, Denmark), the biotinylated detection antibody was revealed by HRP-conjugated streptavidin and 2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethyl-benz-thiazoline-6-sulphonic acid) (ABTS) substrate (Sigma), and the assay read at 415 nm.

## 4.11. Signal transduction analysis

20 h after initiation of coculture,  $1 \times 10^6$  T cells and  $2 \times 10^4$  antigen-loaded immature Mo-DC were lysed in SDS gel loading buffer. Whole cell extracts were then resolved by 7.5% SDS-PAGE and transferred to a PVDF membrane. Subsequently, the membrane was immunostained with a variety of antigen-specific mAb's and species-matched HRP-linked secondary Ig's. Peroxidase activity was visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence. After each immunodetection, the membrane was stripped of bound antibodies by three 10 min-washings in a mixture of 45% methanol and 10% glacial acid at RT under continuous shaking. Then the membrane was blocked again and exposed to the next antibody.

The membrane was probed in the following order: First, at threonine-202 (Thr-202) and tyrosine-204 (Tyr-204) dually phosphorylated p44 and p42 mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases were detected with the mouse anti-human phospho-p44/42 MAPK (Thr202/Tyr204) mAb E10 (New

PCR Group	Sense Primer (5'-3')	Antisense Primer (5'-3')	Location <sup>a</sup>	Length			
β <b>-actin</b>	CCA AGG CCA ACC GCG AGA AGA T GA C	AGG GTA CAT GGT GGT GCC GCC AGA	335 - 922	587			
CD4	GCA AGG CCA CAA T GA ACC GG	GCC TGC CAC CAC AGC TCG	-11 - 725	736			
<b>CD8</b> α	CGC GTC ATG GCC TTA CC	T GA CCA CAG GCC GGG GAC	-6 - 667/557 <sup>b</sup>	673/563 <sup>b</sup>			
<b>CD8</b> β	CAC GAT GCG GCC GCG	GCA GCA CAG GTG GAT GGC	-4 - 585	589			
<b>TCR V</b> β <b>5.3</b>	CTGTGCCATGGGCCCTG	GCT GCT GGC ACA GAG AT	-11 - 339	350			
KIR 2DL1	GCA GCA CCA TGT CGC TCT	GTC ACT GGG AGC TGA CAC	-8 - 348	356			
KIR 2DL2	CCA CTG CTT GTT TCT GTC AT	CAG CAT TTG GAA GTT CCG C	645 - 1015	370			
KIR 2DL3	CCA CTG AAC CAA GCT CCG	CAG GAG ACA ACT TTG GAT CA	692 - 1044	352			
KIR 2DL4	CTG TCC CTG AGC TCT ACA A	CAC TGA GTA CCT AAT CAC AG	206 - 747	541			
KIR 3DL1	ACA TCG TGG TCA CAG GTC C	TGC GTA TGT CAC CTC CTC	641 - 1197	556			
KIR 3DL2	CGG T CC CT T GAT GCC T GT	GAC CAC ACG CAG GGC AG	546 - 914	368			
KIR 2DS1	TCT CCA TCA GTC GCA TGA A	AGG GCC CAG AGG AAA GT T	254 - 567	313			
KIR 2DS2	TGC ACA GAG AGG GGA AGT A	CAC GCT CTC TCC TGC CAA	179 - 435	256			
KIR 2DS3	TCA CTC CCC CTA TCA GTT T	GCA TCT GTA GGT TCC TCC T	315 - 594	279			
KIR 2DS4	CTG GCC CTC CCA GGT CA	GGA ATG TTC CGT TGA TGC	94 - 544	450			
KIR 2DS5	AGA GAG GGG ACG TTT AAC C	GCC GAA GCA T CT GT A GGC	184 - 600	416			
KIR 3DS1	ATA GGT TTA ACA ATT TCA TG	AAG GGC ACG CAT CAT GGA	91 - 501	410			

Tabla	2.	DCD	Duimour	forDT	DCD	analysis
rable	2:	PUR	Primers	101 K I	-PCK	analysis

<sup>a</sup>nucleotide positions of amplified fragments were calculated from the start codon

<sup>b</sup> shorter fragment through alternative splicing of mRNA

England Biolabs) and HRP-conjugated donkey anti-mouse Ig. Then total levels of these endogenous extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK) molecules were determined with the rabbit anti-human p44/42 MAP kinase pAb (New England Biolabs) and HRP-conjugated goat anti-rabbit Ig (Santa Cruz Biotechnology). Next, expression of the Src tyrosine kinase Fyn was evaluated with the goat anti-Fyn pAb FYN3 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and HRP-conjugated donkey anti-goat Ig (Amersham Pharmacia). This was followed by staining for Lck, another T cell-specific Src family kinase, using the mouse anti-Lck mAb 3B5 and HRP-conjugated donkey anti-mouse Ig. Finally, the mouse mAb JLA20, an IgM specific for  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -actin, and HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgM pAb (both from Calbiochem) were used to compare the amount of protein in each lane.

## 4.12. RNA extraction and reverse transcription

For polymerase chain reaction (PCR) typing of killing inhibitory receptor (KIR) molecules, total cellular RNA was prepared from 1 x 10<sup>7</sup> cells. The KIR-specific primers were synthesized based on the sequences given by Uhrberg M. et al. (1997) and are presented in table 2. Reverse transcription and PCR was done in one step using the Titan One Tube RT-PCR Kit<sup>®</sup> (Roche) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Amplification of the KIR was performed under the same conditions with an annealing temperature of 58°C for all primer sets. For the determination of CD4, CD8 $\alpha$ , CD8 $\beta$  and TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 mRNA expression, 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> T cells were subjected to RT-PCR using the OneStep RT-PCR Kit<sup>®</sup> (Qiagen). The sequences of the primers are also listed in table 2. Amplification products were separated together with the  $\beta$ -actin control on 2% agarose gels containing ethidium bromide and visualized on an ultraviolet transilluminator.

# 5.

# Results

#### 5.1. CHO cell culture results in high-level production of recombinant protein

CHO cells stably transfected with ECD/EGFR or ECD/HER2 were cultured under serum- and protein-free conditions. Without serum supplement the CHO cells lost their capacity to adhere on the plastic of the culture vessel and grew in suspension forming small spheric cell aggregates. Microscopic examination with trypan blue dye suggested that these cell clusters were almost free of dead cells. Detached CHO cells continued to proliferate even after transfer into the production module of a bimodular minifermenter and incubation in rotary culture. The observed growth rates were similar to those in serum-supplemented cultures suggesting equivalent doubling times. Compared to stationary cultures in flasks or cell factories, much higher cell densities were achieved. Consequently, collected cell culture supernatants contained markedly higher levels of secreted recombinant proteins as judged by protein yields after purification (data not shown).

## 5.2. A simple two-step purification allows isolation of highly pure ECD/HER2 antigen

The establishment of a high density CHO culture in medium without serum was the prerequisite for obtaining pure recombinant proteins in the subsequent two-step FPLC column purification protocol. Starting with 150 ml of CHO cell culture supernatant, a yield of 0.5-2 mg pure protein was achieved by tangential flow filtration and IMAC purification.



FIGURE 1: Quality control of purified proteins. Detection of the recombinant ErbB proteins after separation in a 7.5% SDS-PAGE (A) by Coomassie blue staining and (B) by immunoblot analysis with the Penta-His mAb using AEC as chromogen. Lane 1, ECD/HER2 from transfected L cells; lane 2, ECD/HER2 from transfected CHO cells; lane 3, ECD/EGFR from transfected CHO cells. (C) Enhanced chemiluminescence detection of purified ECD/HER2 proteins before and after PNGase F-treatment with a combination of the two HER2-specific mAbs L87 and 2ERB19. Lane 1, ECD/HER2 from L cells; lane 2, ECD/HER2 from CHO cells; lane 3, PNGase F-digested ECD/HER2 from L cells; lane 4, PNGase F-digested ECD/HER2 from CHO cells. M, molecular weight marker.



FIGURE 2: Comparison of HER2 expression on native and HER2-transfected NIH3T3 mouse fibroblasts. (A) Cells were immunostained in a two-step procedure with the HER2-specific mAb TA-1 and FITC-conjugated  $F(ab')_2$  goat anti-mouse Ig and measured by flow cytometry. Empty curve, NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> cells; filled curve, NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cells. (B) After separation of whole protein extracts from 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells in a 5% SDS-PAGE and electroblotting onto a PVDF membrane, HER2 expression of NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> and NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> fibroblasts was evaluated by immunostaining with the anti-HER2 mAb 3B5, recognizing amino acid residues 1242-1255 of the intracellular kinase domain. Lane 1, NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> cells; lane 2, NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cells. M, molecular weight marker.

The quality of purification was monitored by Coomassie blue staining of SDS-PAGE gels and immunoblot detection of the N-terminal hexahistidine sequence. For comparison, ECD/HER2 produced in a L cell expression system was analyzed on the same gel. As shown in Fig. 1A, Coomassie blue staining revealed a single protein band between the 75 and 105 kDa marker for CHO-derived ECD/HER2 and ECD/EGFR. However, in the ECD/HER2 sample from L cells an additional band with an apparent molecular weight of >160 kDa was observed. This unidentified protein may correspond to a dimeric form of the ECD/HER2 molecule as an artefact of purification. Western blot analysis with the Penta-His mAb identified the proteins between 75 and 105 kDa in lane 3 and 4 of the Coomassie blue stained gel as the expected His-tagged recombinant proteins (Fig. 1B). The specificity of the mAb was confirmed by the absence of immunoreactivity for L cell-derived ECD/HER2.

Both ECD/HER2 preparations were treated with PNGase F and analyzed by immunodetection with mAb's directed against the extracellular domain of the HER2/neu receptor (Fig. 1C). As control, unprocessed ECD/HER2 samples were resolved on the same gel. The observed change in mobility from approximately 100 to 75 kDa in response to PNGase F-treatment indicates that N-linked oligosaccharides contribute substantially to the apparent molecular mass of recombinant ECD/HER2. After removal of glycan residues from the protein backbone, ECD/HER2 displayed the size expected from the cDNA nucleotide sequence, which is 70 kDa.



FIGURE 3: Generation of protein-loaded immature and mature DC under FCS-free conditions. Monocytes from PBMC of donor MaBa were isolated by plastic-adherence and differentiated into DC precursors by IL-4 and GM-CSF. At day 7, nonadherent cells were transferred to fresh plates, pulsed with protein antigens and either cultivated with IL-4 and GM-CSF for the generation of immature DC or further matured with a cocktail of the proinflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 and the prostaglandin PGE<sub>2</sub>. Grey shaded boxes, CD14 and CD83 phenotype of the cells, as revealed by flow cytometric analysis.

# 5.3. Whole cell extract from HER2-transfected NIH3T3 fibroblasts provides a second high-quality antigen source

Whole cell lysate from NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cells was tested for its potential usage as a second HER2 antigen source. As detected by flow cytometry, the intensity of staining for HER2 was approximately 50-fold higher on the HER2-transfectants compared to wild-type NIH3T3 cells (Fig. 2A). In accordance with these findings, immunoblot detection of HER2 with a mAb directed against the intracellular domain of the receptor revealed no expression by NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> cells, but a remarkably strong expression by NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cells (Fig. 2B). Therefore, lysate of NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cells could serve as a control to prove the specificity of T cells raised against ECD/HER2.

## 5.4. The *in vitro* generated Mo-DC are highly pure and assume an uniform CD83 phenotype

As outlined in Fig. 3, Mo-DC were generated by culturing adherent cells from PBMC of donor MaBa in the presence of IL-4 and GM-CSF. Autologous plasma was used to avoid loading the Mo-DC with allogeneic proteins. As a result of cytokine treatment, most of the cells detached from the plastic surface and acquired the classical DC morphology with prominent dendrites and abundant veils. Flow cytometric analysis of these non-adherent cells on day 7 confirmed the successful differentiation to the DC phenotype by the absence of the monocyte marker CD14 and the



**FIGURE 4: Immunofluorescence analysis of ErbB antigen processing in immature Mo-DC.** Immature Mo-DC were pulsed with fluorescein-conjugated ECD/EGFR protein (green). At the indicated times, DC were transferred to poly-lysine coated slides. After fixation with paraformaldehyde and permeabilization with methanol, DC were immunostained with mouse mAb's specific for the cellular markers LAMP-1, HLA-DR and CD206, followed by Texas Red-labeled goat anti-mouse Ig (red). In a color overlay colocalisation of the ingested antigen with the intracellular markers is indicated by the yellow color. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue).

expression of the DC lineage marker CD83. The purity of these DC cultures was found to be >90% with the major contaminants being B lymphocytes. Due to their high immunostimulatory capacity, ECD/HER2-loaded mature DC, generated by treatment with a combination of proin-flammatory cytokines and the prostaglandin PGE<sub>2</sub>, were used to prime naive autologous CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. In the subsequent restimulations and functional analyses, the less immunogenic antigen-loaded immature DC were applied to the T cell cultures because, in preliminary experiments, they were found to be sufficient for primed T cell activation and had the advantage not to promote activation-induced T cell death. Discrimination between immature and mature DC was performed on day 10 by flow cytometric detection of CD83 surface levels.



**FIGURE 5: Differential expression of CD40 on immature Mo-DC after exposure to ECD/HER2 or NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cell lysate.** 3 days after antigen addition, immature Mo-DC were immunostained with the CD40-specific mAb 5C3 and analyzed by flow cytometry. Histograms of (A) ECD/HER2- and (B) NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cell lysate-loaded immature Mo-DC. Empty curves represent the isotype-matched antibody control.

#### 5.5. Immature Mo-DC rapidly take up soluble protein antigens

The endocytotic pathway of ingested ErbB protein antigens was evaluated exemplarily for ECD/EGFR by immunofluorescence microscopy. As shown in Fig. 4, fluorescein-labeled ECD/EGFR was visible in the DC 30 min after antigen addition. 3.5 h later the protein was localized predominantly perinuclear in vesicles resembling lysosomes and MHC class II-rich late endosomes (MIIC) as suggested by the yellow color resulting from extensive colocalization with Texas Red-labeled lysosome-associated LAMP-1 (upper panels) and MIIC-associated HLA-DR (middle panels). However, as shown in the lower panels of Fig. 4, there was no colocalization with the major C-type lectin receptor CD206. Therefore it appears that, although the ECD/EGFR protein is highly glycosylated, internalization is not mediated through binding of carbohydrate moieties to this lectin receptor. In conclusion, the double immunofluorescence colocalization studies presented in Fig. 4 revealed efficient uptake and targeting to MHC class II processing compartments of the soluble protein antigen by the *in vitro* generated immature Mo-DC.

#### 5.6. ECD/HER2-loaded Mo-DC exhibit strong immunostimulatory capacity

Since CD40-mediated signaling is important for appropriate T cell activation, surface expression of this key marker was evaluated on immature DC incubated for 3 days with either soluble ECD/HER2 or NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> whole cell lysate. Flow cytometric analysis revealed differential expression of CD40 among these DC cultures. As presented in Fig. 5, almost all ECD/HER2-loaded DC expressed CD40 on the cell surface (panel A), in contrast to only about 50% of the NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> lysate-loaded DC (panel B). Therefore, it was suggested that the former are more



FIGURE 6: Phenotypic characterization of Mo-DC after maturation with proinflammatory cytokines and PGE<sub>2</sub>. On day 10 of *in vitro* culture, matured Mo-DC were stained with mAb's specific for the indicated surface markers and analyzed by flow cytometry. Empty curves represent isotype-matched antibody controls.

potent in inducing antigen-specific T cell responses. This finding provided the rationale to use ECD/HER2-loaded DC as APC for the generation of antigen-specific T cells.

After maturation, ECD/HER2-pulsed Mo-DC were examined for surface expression of HLA-DR and other essential accessory molecules required for the induction and maintenance of T cell responses. As mentioned above and presented in Fig. 6, culture conditions caused a complete downregulation of CD14 and the induction of CD83. Furthermore, the high surface expression of the MHC-encoded HLA-DR molecule indicated the formation of large amounts of pMHC class II complexes. Besides pMHC-TCR interaction, a second signal delivered by the CD28-ligands CD80 and CD86 is required for the initiation of primary T cell responses. Since antigen-specific TCR-induction without costimulation leads to T cell anergy (Yi-qun Z. et al., 1997; Appleman L.J. and Boussiotis V.A., 2003), Mo-DC were analyzed for CD80 and CD86 and found to express elevated levels of these markers. In addition, CD54, an adhesion molecule that strongly interacts with LFA-1 on the T cell and drives development of primed CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells towards the Th1 phenotype (Smits H.H. et al., 2002), was highly abundant on the DC surface. Because Th1 cells support TAA-specific cytotoxic T cells to lyse tumor cells, this functional polarization is essential for the development of antitumor immunity. Finally, detection of a single peak for all tested markers in Fig. 6 demonstrated that treatment with proinflammatory cytokines and PGE<sub>2</sub> resulted in the homogeneous transformation of DC precursors to mature DC.



FIGURE 7: Illustration of the experimental procedure leading to the generation of the ECD/HER2-specific Th1 cell clone F2.5. DC were generated from blood monocytes, loaded with purified ECD/HER2 protein and used to stimulate MACS-isolated autologous CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. After three cycles of weekly restimulations, T cell cultures were screened for ECD/HER2-reactivity by IFN-γ ELISPOT analysis. Microculture F2, displaying ECD/HER2 specificity, was selected for further cultivation. Flow cytometric analysis with a panel of TCR Vβ-specific mAb's revealed the usage of TCR Vβ5.3 by 85% of CD4<sup>+</sup> F2 T cells. TCR Vβ5.3<sup>+</sup> T cells were sorted by MACS and cloned by limiting dilution using ECD/HER2-loaded and γ-irradiated MaBa-LCL as stimulator cells. The CD4<sup>+</sup>TCR Vβ5.3<sup>+</sup> T cell clone F2.5, demonstrating best viability and ECD/HER2-specific IFN-γ release, was expanded to large cell numbers by cultivation in T<sub>30</sub>-flasks using ECD/HER2-loaded MaBa-LCL as APC.

#### 5.7. Induction of primary responses represents a critical step in the isolation of HER2-specific T cells

A schematic overview of the procedure used to generate the ECD/HER2-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell line F2 and the T cell clone F2.5 is given in Fig. 7. Mixed T cell-DC cultures were set up in 24well plates with immunomagnetic bead-purified CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and ECD/HER2-loaded autologous mature DC per well in a cell ratio of 100:1. Since the DC were highly motile and interact efficiently with T cells, as was observed by T cell-DC aggregate formation under the light microscope, the large excess of T cells appeared not to be detrimental for the initiation of antigen-specific primary responses. For a better detection of HER2 specificity in subsequent analyses, T cells in individual wells were maintained as separate cultures. Furthermore, resuspension was avoided for not to disrupt the colonies of proliferating T cells.



**FIGURE 8: IFN-γ ELISPOT analysis of F2 T cells with antigen-pulsed immature Mo-DC as targets.** For IFN-γ ELISPOT testing, 1 x 10<sup>3</sup> F2 T cells were cocultured with 2 x 10<sup>4</sup> antigen-loaded immature Mo-DC in microwells of a nitrocellulose filter plate precoated with the IFN-γ-specific mAb 1-D1K. After 20 h of incubation at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and removal of cells, captured IFN-γ was detected by the sequential addition of the biotinylated anti-IFN-γ mAb 7-B6-1, HRP-conjugated streptavidin and AEC substrate. Image analysis and spot enumeration with a gate set to exclude spots  $<10^{-3}$  mm<sup>2</sup> were carried out using a dissecting microscope coupled with a computer-assisted video image analyzer. (A) Frequencies of IFN-γ secreting T cells directed against unloaded or ECD/HER2-loaded DC in the F2 T cell line 7 days after the second ECD/HER2-specific restimulation. (B) Data of a second immunospot analysis that was performed 7 days after the third restimulation with FCS, ECD/HER2, NIH3T3<sup>Wt</sup> and NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cell lysate as the antigens. Red numbers represent the calculated spot counts.

To prevent activation-induced death of the few antigen-specific T cells by overstimulation, all restimulations were performed with ECD/HER2-loaded immature instead of mature Mo-DC. The majority of T cells underwent apoptosis between the first and second restimulation. During this critical phase the T cells of the microcultures were transferred into U-bottom 96-well plates with the intention to create a protective microenvironment by direct contact of activated T cells. Another measure to protect TAA-specific T cells from cell death was the addition of the cytokine IL-7. As a result of this strategy, clusters of proliferating T cells surrounding the larger DC were observed under the light microscope in a few of the microcultures as soon as 3 days after the first restimulation.

## 5.8. The F2 T cell microculture depicts HER2-specific Th1 cell reactivity

Proliferating T cell cultures were tested after the second restimulation for HER2-specific IFN- $\gamma$  secretion in an ELISPOT assay. Most of the cultures showed no differences in spot numbers between unpulsed and ECD/HER2-loaded immature DC, indicating that surface structures of the *in vitro* generated Mo-DC are more likely to activate T cells than it does the ECD/HER2 protein itself. Only a small fraction displayed more IFN- $\gamma$  spots in the presence of ECD/HER2-pulsed DC. In particular, the T cell culture F2 exhibited high frequencies of activated T cells against ECD/HER2-loaded DC, but only low frequencies when the DC were unloaded. The image of this first ELISPOT analysis is presented in Fig. 8A. The same F2 T cell culture was analyzed after the



FIGURE 9: IFN- $\gamma$  secretion of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the F2 T cell line upon antigen-presentation by immature Mo-DC. Following 18 h of coculture with antigen-loaded DC, F2 cells were subjected to IFN- $\gamma$  secretion analysis and counterstained with anti-CD4 mAb 13B8.2 or anti-CD8 mAb B9.11. Upper row, CD4 staining of F2 T cells; lower row, CD8 staining of F2 T cells. The values in each box plot represent the relative number of IFN- $\gamma$  secreting cells in percent.

third round of restimulation in a second ELISPOT assay using FCS and lysate of NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> cells as irrelevant and ECD/HER2 and lysate of NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cells as relevant antigens. As shown in Fig. 8B, the existence of HER2-reactive T cells in the F2 culture was confirmed by the detection of almost 5-fold more IFN- $\gamma$  spots for ECD/HER2 than for FCS although the latter contains lots of potentially immunogenic proteins. Additional evidence was provided by the fact that the number of T cells displaying reactivity against NIH3T3 cell lysate was increased 2.5-fold by HER2 transfection.

IFN-γ secreting T cells in the F2 T cell line were isolated and maintained in culture by repeated stimulation with ECD/HER2-loaded DC. In order to improve the yield of F2 T cells, several cytokines and medium supplements were tested for their ability to enhance antigen-induced proliferation and to prevent apoptotic cell death. Medium containing 1% autologous plasma, 20 IU/ml IL-2, 5 ng/ml IL-7 and 5% T-Stim, a conditioned medium from activated human PBMC, was judged to best fulfill these requirements.

As soon as sufficient cell numbers were reached under the optimized culture conditions, F2 T cells were further analyzed for antigen-specificity using a matrix-based IFN- $\gamma$  secretion assay. This flow cytometric assay allowed a more thorough characterization of activated T cells compared to the ELISPOT technique by additional analysis of cell surface marker expression. As displayed in Fig. 9, the measurements revealed that the F2 T cell line consisted of two distinct T cell populations since 40% of the cells were bright CD4<sup>+</sup> (upper panel) and 60% bright CD8<sup>+</sup> (lower panel). However, the most striking observation of this analysis was a diffuse expression of CD8



FIGURE 10: TCR V $\beta$  expression pattern of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the F2 T cell line and in PBMC from donor MaBa. Viable (PI<sup>-</sup>) cells were gated on CD4 bright and analyzed with a panel of TCR V $\beta$ -specific mAb's covering about 60% of the TCR V $\beta$  repertoire of T lymphocytes from human subjects. Clonogram of (A) CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> F2 T cells and (B) CD4<sup>+</sup> bright gated cells in uncultured *ex vivo* PBMC from donor MaBa.

also by the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. According to this, the two subsets were designated as CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> and CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> F2 T cells. As shown in Fig. 9, ECD/HER2 presentation by DC induced IFN- $\gamma$  release by both the CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> and the CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell population, but with much higher levels for the former. The same was observed, although to a much lesser extent, for whole protein extract of NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cells. FCS as a control induced only modest IFN- $\gamma$  release by CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> T cells and had no effect on CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Neither CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> nor CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> F2 T cells produced IFN- $\gamma$  in culture with unloaded DC or DC loaded with NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> cell lysate. Thus, the IFN- $\gamma$  secretion analysis presented in Fig. 9 suggested HER2 specificity of both the CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> and the CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> F2 T cell subset.

## 5.9. HER2-specific CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> F2 T cells are TCR V $\beta$ 5.3<sup>+</sup> and exhibit effector phenotype

CD4<sup>+</sup> positively selected T cells from a PBMC preparation were used as starting material for the induction of a HER2-specific immune response. Thus, it became obvious that the CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells although ECD/HER2-specific represent a contamination either of the initial CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell isolate or of one of the monocyte preparations used to generate ECD/HER2-loaded DC. Based on



FIGURE 11: CD45RO and CD45RA expression on TCR V $\beta$ 5.3<sup>+</sup> F2 T cells. TCR V $\beta$ 5.3<sup>+</sup> F2 T cells were immunostained with either the CD45RA-specific mAb HI100 or the CD45RO-specific mAb UCHL1 and analyzed by flow cytometry. Histograms for (A) CD45RA expression and (B) CD45RO expression. Empty curves represent the isotype-matched antibody control.

the assumption that also in the future T, B or NK cells might be introduced in the T cell culture and sooner or later overgrow HER2-specific T cells it was of particular interest to find a reliable method for the unambiguous identification of the HER2-specific F2 Th cells at this critical stage of T cell cultivation. One possibility could be the characterization of the TCR used by the HER2specific T cells. For this purpose, a flow cytometric analysis with a panel of TCR V $\beta$ -specific antibodies was established that permitted the determination of 24 TCR V $\beta$  specificities representing almost 60% of T cell frequencies in the blood of normal individuals. Whereas no predominant TCR V $\beta$  motif was evident on CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> F2 T cells, analysis of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> F2 T cells clearly showed that 85% of them were positive for TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 (Fig. 10A). Besides this high TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 chain frequency, the distribution of all other common TCR V $\beta$  types was less than 2%. For comparison, Fig. 10B depicts the TCR V $\beta$  usage of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in PBMC from the original



FIGURE 12: Restriction of TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 expression to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the F2 T cell line. Lymphocytes were gated on CD4<sup>bright</sup> or CD8<sup>bright</sup> and analyzed for TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 surface expression using the PE-labeled mAb 3D11. Histograms for (A) CD4<sup>bright</sup> F2 T cells and (B) CD8<sup>bright</sup> F2 T cells. Empty curves represent the isotype-matched antibody control.



FIGURE 13. Expression of CD4, CD8 and TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 on F2 T cell line-derived T cell clones. TCR V $\beta$ 5.3<sup>+</sup> F2 cells were isolated by MACS and cloned by limiting dilution in 96-well plates using 0.3 T cells and 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> ECD/HER2-pulsed  $\gamma$ -irradiated MaBa-LCL feeder cells per well. After 2 weeks of culture, the resulting 12 clones were analyzed for CD4, CD8 and TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 expression. Data for each clone is given as three-color dot plot. TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 positivity is shown in red.

donor MaBa. The 80-fold increase in TCR V $\beta$ 5.3<sup>+</sup> T cell numbers was taken as a proof that one single T cell in the F2 microculture had undergone clonal selection and expansion.

The next question concerned the activation status of TCR V $\beta$ 5.3<sup>+</sup> F2 T cells. Since alternative splicing of the membrane protein phosphatase CD45 is regulated in such a way that naive T cells predominantly express the CD45RA isoform and switch to CD45RO after activation (Akbar A.N. et al., 1988), CD45 isoform expression was used as an indicator. As shown in Fig. 11, TCR V $\beta$ 5.3<sup>+</sup> F2 T cells were completely negative for CD45RA (panel A) and positive for CD45RO (panel B), and therefore appeared to be activated memory T cells.

Clonal selection and differentiation into an effector phenotype clearly supports ECD/HER2specificity of CD4<sup>+</sup>TCR V $\beta$ 5.3<sup>+</sup> T cells in the F2 T cell culture. Therefore, a flow cytometric analysis on both the CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> and CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> F2 T cell subset was initiated to prove the feasibility of a TCR V $\beta$ 5.3-based isolation strategy. As presented in Fig. 12, the obtained results revealed that the TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 motif is exclusively expressed on CD4<sup>+</sup> F2 T cells. Therefore, TCR V $\beta$ 5.3<sup>+</sup> F2 T cells were sorted and cloned by limiting dilution.



FIGURE 14: Overview of the established culture conditions for *in vitro* expansion of the F2.5 T cell clone. After cloning and a first expansion in  $T_{30}$ -flasks with ECD/HER2-pulsed  $\gamma$ -irradiated MaBa-LCL, T cells were characterized by CD4<sup>bright</sup> and CD8<sup>dim</sup> expression. Due to this, cells were named 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> F2.5 T cells. After two further rounds of expansion, T cells lost detectable expression of CD4 and stably upregulated CD8. For this reason, cells were designated as 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells. 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> F2.5 T cells were alternatively expanded in the wells of 24-well plates precoated with the TCR V $\beta$ 5.3-specific agonistic mAb 3D11. By use of this method, T cells developed a phenotype characterized by simultaneous surface expression of CD4 and CD8 and were therefore named 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells.

### 5.10. The Th cell clone F2.5 displays altered coreceptor expression dependent on culture conditions

Twelve T cell clones were obtained by limiting dilution cloning of TCR V $\beta$ 5.3-sorted F2 T cells. As suggested by the three-color dot plots in Fig. 13 all T cell clones had the same expression profile for CD4, CD8 and TCR V $\beta$ 5.3. In the subsequent cultivation procedure, 11 of these clonal microcultures could not be further expanded and all T cells progressively died within two weeks. Only one clone, designated as F2.5, depicted good viability and long-term proliferation capacity.

By incubation with ECD/HER2-pulsed autologous LCL (designated as MaBa-LCL), F2.5 T cells could be expanded 20-fold during a two week culture period. Because the antigen-loaded MaBa-LCL were  $\gamma$ -irradiated, the F2.5 T cells were the only proliferating cells in the culture. F2.5 T cells were characterized by flow cytometric analysis and, like in the parental F2 T cell line, found to express high levels of CD4 and moderate levels of CD8. Therefore, these cells were named 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> F2.5 T cells. Strikingly, after two further rounds of expansion in suspension culture, cells lost CD4 and expressed CD8 at high levels. After the phenotypic switch, these 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells could be maintained stably in culture. A portion of the 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> F2.5 T cells was alternatively cultivated in 24-well plates precoated with the TCR V $\beta$ 5.3-specific agonistic mAb 3D11. As a



#### Suspension cultures with ECD/HER2-loaded γ-irradiated MaBa-LCL

FIGURE 15: Analysis of CD4 and CD8 surface expression during the early stage of F2.5 T cell clone culture. F2.5 T cells of the LCL- and the anti-TCR V $\beta$ 5.3-stimulated cultures were harvested at the indicated time points and immunostained with anti-CD4 mAb 13B8.2 and anti-CD8 mAb B9.11 for flow cytometric analysis. In the two-color dot plots, expression of CD4 is given on the x-axis and CD8 on the y-axis. The values represent the relative numbers of cells in each quadrant.

result of this antibody-induced T cell activation, cells developed a phenotype characterized by simultaneous expression of both CD4 and CD8 and were therefore designated  $4^+/8^+$  F2.5 T cells. A schematic overview of the cell culture procedures for F2.5 T cell clone expansion and their effects on the T cells phenotype is given in Fig. 14.

Based on the fact that coculture of  $4^{+}/8^{10}$  F2.5 T cells with ECD/HER2-loaded MaBa-LCL consistently led to a CD8<sup>+</sup> single positive (SP) phenotype, the course of F2.5 T cell clone transition was revealed by flow cytometric detection of CD4 and CD8 expression levels at different times of expansion culture. As presented in Fig. 15, F2.5 T cells maintained a  $4^{+}/8^{10}$  F2.5 phenotype in a first round of T<sub>30</sub>-flask expansion. On day 10 of the second expansion, CD4 was markedly downregulated on most of the cells, whereas only 2% of the F2.5 T cells expressed CD8. However, 8 days later the CD8<sup>+</sup> fraction was significantly increased in numbers. At this stage, two other populations were detected in the culture, the one displaying a CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup> double negative (DN) phenotype and the other a CD4<sup>10</sup>CD8<sup>10</sup> phenotype, it is not clear if DN cells also acquired this phenotype or died by apoptosis. Conversely, when  $4^{+}/8^{10}$  F2.5 T cells were expanded in anti-TCR V $\beta$ 5.3-coated cell culture plates, CD4 levels remained unchanged, whereas CD8 levels became upregulated and remained stable throughout the whole culture period.


FIGURE 16: Flow cytometric analysis of surface marker expression on the F2.5 T cell clone isoforms. A total of  $1 \times 10^5$  stained cells were included in each analysis. The shaded histogram represents staining with a mAb specific for the surface antigen indicated on the left margin, whereas the open histogram depicts staining with an isotype-matched mAb of irrelevant specificity. On the x-axis the fluorescence intensity and on the y-axis the relative cell number is indicated.



FIGURE 17: RT-PCR analysis of CD4, CD8 $\alpha$ , CD8 $\beta$  and TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 mRNA expression in 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> and 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells. RT-PCR was performed as described in material and methods using total cellular RNA of 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> T cells and the specific primer pairs presented in table 1. PCR products were resolved in a 2% agarose gel and analyzed for ethidium bromide staining. Agarose gel image for (A) 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> F2.5 T cells and (B) 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells. M, 50 bp-ladder DNA marker.

 $4^{-/8\text{hi}}$  F2.5 T cells died within a few days, when they were transferred from the T<sub>30</sub>-flasks to anti-TCR V $\beta$ 5.3-coated culture plates. It was, however, possible at any time to convert anti-TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 expanded  $4^{+}/8^{+}$  F2.5 T cells to  $4^{-}/8^{\text{hi}}$  F2.5 T cells by transferal to suspension culture.

#### 5.11. The F2.5 T cell clone isoforms reveal substantial phenotypic differences

A detailed immunophenotypic analysis of the F2.5 T cell clone isoforms  $4^+/8^{lo}$ ,  $4^+/8^+$  and  $4^-/8^{hi}$  is presented in Fig. 16. Overall expression of the TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 chain was taken as a sign that all three T cell subsets were derived from the same precursor cell. For retrieval of previous data, CD4 was found in high levels on the surface of  $4^+/8^{lo}$  and  $4^+/8^+$  F2.5 T cells, but was completely absent on  $4^-/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells. Staining for the  $\alpha$ -chain of the CD8 coreceptor revealed two distinct subsets of T cells with different expression levels in the  $4^+/8^{lo}$  and  $4^+/8^+$  F2.5 T cell culture, whereas  $4^-/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells were characterized by uniformly high CD8 $\alpha$  levels. Expression of the CD8 $\beta$  chain was only detected on  $4^-/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells. To rule out the possibility that F2.5 cells might be natural or IL-2-activated killer cells (Trinchieri G, 1989), CD16 expression was analyzed with the finding that all three T cell isoforms were negative for this marker. Detection of CD5, a common inhibitory receptor on T and B cells (Ravetch J.V. and Lanier L.L., 2000), demonstrated strong expression on  $4^+/8^{lo}$  and  $4^-/8^{hi}$ , but only weak expression on  $4^+/8^+$  F2.5 T cells. An approximately 10-fold reduction in CD28 expression levels occurred during the course of  $4^+/8^{lo}$  to  $4^-/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cell transition, although CD28 was present in high density on all three





FIGURE 18: KIR expression on  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  and  $4^{+}/8^{+}$  F2.5 T cells. Antibodies used for the flow cytometric analysis were anti-NKB1 (DX9), anti-CD94 (HP-3D9), anti-NKAT2 (DX27), anti-CD158a (EB6), anti-CD158b (CH-L) and anti-NKG2A (Z199). Histogram presentation for (A)  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells and (B)  $4^{+}/8^{+}$  F2.5 T cells. KIR synonyms: NKB1 = 3DL1, CD158a = 2DL1 and 2DS1, NKAT2 = CD158b = 2DL2, 2DL3 and 2DS2; CD94 and NKG2A, subunits of the hetero-dimeric C-type lectin receptor.

T cell isoforms. Interestingly, the decrease in CD28 levels was accompanied by an increase in CD27 surface expression. Since CD152 competes with CD28 for the binding of CD80 and CD86 on APC, thereby preventing T cell activation (Reiser H. and Stadecker M.J., 1996; Sayegh M.H. and Turka L.A.,1998), this marker was also included in the analysis and was found to be weakly expressed on  $4^{+}/8^{10}$  F2.5 T cells and absent on the other two isoforms. Finally, the detection of high HLA-DR surface levels revealed an activated phenotype of all three T cell clone isoforms.

#### 5.12. $4^{-}/8^{hi}$ F2.5 T cells selectively express KIR 2DL2 and soluble CD8 $\alpha$

Flow cytometric data revealed the transition of the HER2-specific T cell clone F2.5 from a Th to a Tc phenotype. Since these results are contrary to the usual assumption that only mature T cells leave the thymus and circulate in the periphery, coreceptor expression of  $4^+/8^{10}$  and  $4^-/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells was verified by RT-PCR. As a specificity control, TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 mRNA detection was also included in these analyses. As presented in Fig. 17,  $4^+/8^{10}$  F2.5 T cells were positive for CD4 and TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 mRNA (panel A), whereas  $4^-/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells contained CD8 $\alpha$ , CD8 $\beta$  and TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 mRNA (panel B). Remarkably, two CD8 $\alpha$  transcripts of different length were amplified by the specific primer pair indicating alternative splicing and as a consequence expression of both a membrane-bound and a soluble form of the CD8 $\alpha$  molecule (Giblin P. et al., 1989).

Another important observation was KIR surface expression by some of the 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells.



FIGURE 19: KIR transcripition pattern of  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells and PBMC of donor MaBa. The oligonucleotide primers used for RT-PCR analysis were designed according to the conserved KIR sequences given by Uhrberg M. et al. (1997) and are presented in table 1. PCR samples were resolved in a 2% agarose gel and analyzed for ethidium bromide staining. Agarose gel image for (A)  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells and (B) PBMC of donor MaBa. M, 50 bp-ladder DNA marker.

The first evidence was provided by flow cytometric analysis with a panel of KIR specific mAb's. As presented in Fig. 18, 20% of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells showed intense staining for NKAT2 and CD158b (panel A), whereas none of the analyzed KIR was detectable on 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells (panel B). Since NKAT2 and CD158b designate a family of KIR, RT-PCR analysis was consecutively performed for a more accurate KIR detection. As shown in Fig. 19, RT-PCR analysis identified exclusively KIR 2DL2 mRNA expression in 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells (panel A). The complete KIR repertoire of donor MaBa was determined in parallel using total RNA from freshly isolated PBMC as the template. RT-PCR analysis of PBMC revealed the expression of KIR 2DL1, 2DL2, 3DL2 and 3DS1 (panel B).

#### 5.13. All F2.5 T cell clone isoforms produce IFN-γ after stimulation with ECD/HER2-loaded Mo-DC

The T cell clone isoforms were analyzed for ECD/HER2-specific IFN- $\gamma$  secretion by flow cytometry. In addition to IFN- $\gamma$ , cells were stained for CD4 and CD8 surface expression. Fluorescence data were displayed as three-color dot plots with CD8 on the x-, IFN- $\gamma$  on the y- and CD4 on the z-axis. Data acquisition and evaluation was performed for comparison under the same conditions and settings for all three isoforms.

As presented in Fig. 20,  $4^{+}/8^{10}$  F2.5 T cells responded well to ECD/HER2 protein expressed in either CHO or L cells. However, the broad distribution of fluorescence along the y-axis indicates that the extent of IFN- $\gamma$  release in response to ECD/HER2 varied markedly among the cells. In contrast, KLH as an irrelevant protein antigen, FCS representing a mixture of many xenogenic proteins, and ECD/EGFR as an ECD/HER2-related protein, expressed and purified identically, induced only weak IFN- $\gamma$  responses. In the case of  $4^{+}/8^{+}$  F2.5 T cells, presentation of CHO cell-



FIGURE 20: IFN- $\gamma$  secretion profile of the 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> F2.5 T cell clone isoform upon antigen-presentation by immature Mo-DC. Following 18 h of coculture with antigen-loaded Mo-DC, 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> F2.5 T cells were subjected to IFN- $\gamma$  secretion analysis, as described in material and methods, and counterstained with the CD4-specific mAb 13B8.2 and the CD8-specific mAb B9.11. In the three-color dot plots, expression of CD8 is given on the x-axis, IFN- $\gamma$  on the y-axis and CD4 on the z-axis. The percentages of IFN- $\gamma$  secreting cells (red) were estimated on the basis of a discrimina-ting gate. Values are displayed in the plots.



FIGURE 21: IFN- $\gamma$  secretion profile of the 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cell clone isoform upon antigen-presentation by immature Mo-DC. Experimental procedure and data evaluation was the same as described for the 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> F2.5 T cell clone isoform in figure 20.



FIGURE 22: IFN- $\gamma$  secretion profile of the 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell clone isoform upon antigen-presentation by immature Mo-DC. Experimental procedure and data evaluation was the same as described for the 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> F2.5 T cell clone isoform in figure 20.

derived ECD/HER2 antigen by immature Mo-DC led to virtually complete activation with high IFN- $\gamma$  expression levels (Fig. 21). However, responsiveness of 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells was generally increased, since the appropriate dot plots in Fig. 21 reveal elevated numbers of IFN- $\gamma$  secreting T cells also in the cultures with unloaded DC or DC pulsed with the irrelevant antigens KLH, FCS, ECD/EGFR and MaBa-LCL lysate. As shown in Fig. 22, an identical profile of IFN- $\gamma$  responses was observed for 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells with numbers of activated cells similar to those of 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> F2.5 T cell cultures. From these flow cytometric analyses, it may be deduced that ECD/HER2 recognition by the F2.5 T cell clone was not abrogated by the extensive phenotypic changes that occur during T cell culture.

The F2.5 T cell clone isoforms were additionally tested for their capacity to discriminate between NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> and NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> cells. Since TAA-specific T cell activation by DC that had phagocytosed apoptotic tumor cells may represent more closely the *in vivo* situation at the tumor site, this approach is more appropriate for the assessment of antigen sensitivity than the one with purified protein antigens. As illustrated in Fig. 23, NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cell lysate (upper dot plots) led to a 2-fold increase in the numbers of IFN- $\gamma$  secreting 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> and 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells when compared to NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> cell lysate (lower dot plots). Again, the responsiveness to both cell lysate preparations was markedly higher for the 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells clone isoform. A completely different pattern was found for 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells. Whereas these cells became activated in response to ECD/HER2, lysate of NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cells failed to induce a HER2-specific IFN- $\gamma$  response.



FIGURE 23: HER2-specific IFN- $\gamma$  release by the F2.5 T cell clone isoforms after stimulation with NIH3T3 cell lysate-pulsed immature Mo-DC. 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells of the F2.5 T cell clone isoforms were stimulated with 1 x 10<sup>4</sup> immature Mo-DC loaded with NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> or NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> whole cell protein extract. After 18 h of culture, cells were subjected to IFN- $\gamma$  secretion analysis and counterstained with the CD4-specific mAb 13B8.2 and the CD8-specific mAb B9.11. IFN- $\gamma$ secretion profile of the 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup>, 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> and 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell clone isoforms in response to (A) NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cell lysate and (B) NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> cell lysate. In the three-color dot plots, expression of CD8 is given on the x-axis, IFN- $\gamma$  on the y-axis and CD4 on the z-axis. The percentages of IFN- $\gamma$  secreting cells (red) were estimated on the basis of a discriminating gate. Values are displayed in the plots.



**FIGURE 24: CTL activity of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> and 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells.** The ability of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> and 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells to lyse autologous Mo-DC loaded with ECD/HER2, KLH or lysate of MaBa-LCL cells was determined in a standard <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay as described in material and methods. Cytolytic activities of (A) 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells and (B) 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells.



FIGURE 25: Proliferation of 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> and 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells in coculture with autologous or allogeneic LCL. 1 x 10<sup>4</sup> T cells were incubated with 1 x 10<sup>3</sup>  $\gamma$ -irradiated LCL targets in U-bottom 96well plates for 5 d with 1  $\mu$ Ci [<sup>3</sup>H]TdR added during the last 16 h. Cells were harvested onto filter plates and the incorporation of radioactivity was estimated in a  $\beta$ -scintillation counter. (A) F2.5 T cell proliferation in response to different soluble protein antigens presented by MaBa-LCL cells. Black bars, 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells; grey bars, 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells. (B) Proliferative reactivity of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells to the allogeneic LCL cell lines JB (Cw4), NvB (Cw5/Cw7) and ClMu (Cw3). The levels of [<sup>3</sup>H]TdR incorporation were compared with the levels observed in response to MaBa-LCL cells. Controls for each assay included F2.5 T cells alone and  $\gamma$ -irradiated LCL alone. No significant [<sup>3</sup>H]TdR uptake was observed in any of these controls, thus they were omitted in panel B for sake of clarity. Results are expressed as the mean of total cpm ± SD of quadruplicate cultures.

# 5.14. 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells elicit cytolytic and proliferative responses to MaBa-LCL in the absence of HER2 antigen

HER2-induced cytolytic activity of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> and 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells was evaluated in a standard <sup>51</sup>Cr release assay with antigen-loaded autologous DC as target cells. This was performed according to the concept that the major attribute of activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes is the ability to kill cells presenting immunogenic peptides in complex with MHC class I molecules. As presented in Fig. 24, T cells of the 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 isoform exhibited weak cytolytic activity against ECD/HER2-loaded DC. However, cytotoxicity occurred also against DC loaded with whole protein extract of MaBa-LCL, albeit at a higher effector-to-target cell ratio. KLH-loaded DC served as a control and failed to provoke a measureable response. As shown in the same figure, 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells did not exhibit any cytolytic activity against DC targets neither loaded with ECD/HER2 protein nor with MaBa-LCL lysate.

Reactivity of the  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells against MaBa-LCL cells was confirmed by standard proliferation assays. As presented in Fig. 25A, these analyses revealed the same functional differences between the two F2.5 T cell subsets. Whereas  $4^{+}/8^{+}$  F2.5 T cells demonstrated HER2-spe-



FIGURE 26: Effects of antibody-mediated MHC and coreceptor blockade on the expression of IFN- $\gamma$  by ECD/HER2-stimulated 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells. For functional analysis, 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells were cocultured for 18 h with ECD/HER2-loaded immature Mo-DC in the presence or absence of 10 µg/ml of the indicated mAb's. Subsequently, cells were assayed for IFN- $\gamma$  secretion by flow cytometry. Histogram overlay plots showing the effect of mAb-mediated inhibition of (A) MHC binding and (B) coreceptor function on the ECD/HER2-specific IFN- $\gamma$  production of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells.

cific proliferation by the detection of at least 5-fold higher [<sup>3</sup>H]TdR incorporation rates in response to ECD/HER2-loaded MaBa-LCL as compared to the controls, the 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells exhibited enhanced proliferation to all APC-presented antigens.

Proliferation analysis with unloaded LCL of different haplotypes suggested, that 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells recognize antigen in a HLA-Cw4 restricted manner. As shown in Fig. 25B, incubation of the T cells with the HLA-Cw4 homozygous LCL line JB resulted in a [<sup>3</sup>H]TdR uptake, that was in the same range as that observed for MaBa-LCL targets. In contrast, the LCL lines derived from the donors NvB and ClMu with the HLA-C haplotypes HLA-Cw5<sup>+</sup>/-Cw7<sup>+</sup> and HLA-Cw3<sup>+/+</sup> did not induce any significant proliferation.

In summary, the results indicate that  $4^{-/8hi}$  F2.5 T cells expressed two distinct specificities, the one against HLA-Cw4<sup>+</sup> LCL target cells inducing proliferative and moderate cytolytic activity and the other against the HER2 protein antigen presented on autologous immature DC leading to the production and release of IFN- $\gamma$ .

#### 5.15. ECD/HER2-specific IFN-γ secretion of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells depends on HLA-DR and CD8

Antibody-blocking assays were performed on the 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell clone isoform to elucidate the mechanisms underlying this unusual phenotypic transition and degenerate antigen recognition pattern. The mAb's W6/32 specific for MHC class I molecules, HB55 for HLA-DR, anti-CD4 for CD4 and RIV II for CD8, were chosen for this kind of functional analysis, since their blocking activities are well documented (Tomkinson B.E. et al., 1989; Tüting T. et al., 1998; Piatier-Tonneau D., 1998). In the study, the antibodies were added to mixed cultures of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup>



FIGURE 27: Relative expression of the Src kinases Fyn and Lck and phosphorylation status of ERK 1 and 2 in cocultures of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells with antigenloaded immature Mo-DC. Cell lysates prepared from 20 h cocultures of 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> T cells and 2 x  $10^4$  antigen-loaded immature DC were subjected to electrophoresis on a 7.5% SDS-PAGE and transferred to a PVDF membrane. The blot was first immunostained with mAb E10, recognizing Thr-202 and Tyr-204 dually phosphorylated ERK 1 and 2. Using the same blot after stripping of bound Ig, the amount of total ERK was determined using rabbit antip44/42 MAP kinase pAb. Next, expression of Fyn was evaluated with the goat pAb FYN-3. This was followed by the detection of Lck using the mouse mAb 3A5. To confirm equal loading the membrane was finally reprobed with mouse mAb JLA, an IgM specific for actin.

F2.5 T cells and ECD/HER2-loaded immature DC and analyzed for their ability to inhibit antigen-induced IFN- $\gamma$  secretion. As shown in Fig. 26A, the frequency of IFN- $\gamma$  secreting cells was markedly reduced in response to HB55, but was completely unaffected to W6/32 treatment. The result indicated that although CD4 was absent on these effector T cells, ECD/HER2 antigen presentation was restricted by HLA-DR. This obviously raised the question of whether the TCR signals initiated by pMHC class II binding were enhanced by CD8 coreceptor ligation. A positive effect of CD8 on the activation status of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells was evidenced due to the finding that the ECD/HER2-specific IFN- $\gamma$  production could be inhibited by the addition of the CD8-specific mAb RIV II (Fig. 26B). As a control, treatment with the anti-CD4 mAb had no effect on the IFN- $\gamma$  expression levels.

# 5.16. ECD/HER2-specific 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell responses are associated with increased Fyn expression and inhibition of ERK phosphorylation

Immunoblot analyses were performed on whole cell extracts derived from cocultures of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells with autologous immature Mo-DC that were either unloaded or loaded with the antigens KLH or ECD/HER2 in order to determine which components of the signal transduction process became specifically activated during ECD/HER2-driven T cell activation. Fig. 27 summarizes the results obtained by sequential staining of an immunoblot with mAb's specific for the antigens indicated on the left margin. As depicted in this figure, stimulation of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells by ECD/HER2-loaded DC led to a marked upregulation of Fyn, a Src family protein tyrosine



FIGURE 28: Cytokine production in cocultures of  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells and immature Mo-DC loaded with protein antigens or NIH3T3 cell lysates. 1 x  $10^{5}$   $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells were stimulated with 1 x  $10^{4}$  immature Mo-DC loaded with the indicated antigens in the wells of 96-well plates. Supernatants were collected at 20 h and assayed for IL-12 p40, IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  production by ELISA. Results are expressed as pg/ml. The bars shown represent the mean of triplicate cultures from one of two independent experiments. Error bars were <5% of the mean and are omitted for sake of clarity.

kinase that can partially inhibit TCR-mediated T cell activation (Gajewski T.F. et al., 1995; Yasuda K. et al., 2002). In contrast to Fyn, extraordinary low levels of Lck, a second Src family member associated with the TCR/CD3 complex (Zamoyska R. et al., 2003), were observed in all three 4<sup>-/8hi</sup> F2.5 T cell cultures. Absence of reactivity was not due to inefficient binding of the mAb, since Lck could be readily detected in lysate from unstimulated T cells of donor MaBa (data not shown). Furthermore, the culture was characterized by an almost complete absence of Thr-202 and Tyr-204 phosphorylation of the MAP kinases ERK 1 and 2. Dephosphorylation rather than a decrease in protein expression seemed to be responsible for the inhibition of ERK signaling since a mAb recognizing both phosphorylated and unphosphorylated forms confirmed equivalent amounts of these kinases in each lane. Equal total protein loading of the cell extracts in the different lanes was verified by reprobing the blot with an actin-specific mAb.



FIGURE 29: Induction of CD4 expression on  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells after exposure to exogenous IL-12.  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells were cocultured for 16 d with ECD/HER2-loaded  $\gamma$ -irradiated MaBa-LCL as APC in the presence and absence of 0.2 ng/ml IL-12. Subsequently, CD4 expression on viable (PI<sup>-</sup>) CD8-gated  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells was determined in a flow cytometric analysis using the CD4-specific mAb 13B8.2 and the CD8-specific mAb B9.11 for cell staining. Histograms for  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cell cultures (A) in TZM with 0.2 ng/ml IL-12 and (B) in TZM without exogenous IL-12.

# 5.17. Continuous administration of IL-12 to 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells results in CD4 expression and induces apoptosis

Expression levels of TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-12 p40 in supernatants derived from cocultures of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells and antigen-loaded immature Mo-DC were determined by ELISA. As shown in Fig. 28, moderate amounts of TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  were found in response to ECD/HER2, but not to the other antigens studied. In accordance to the flow cytometry-based IFN- $\gamma$  secretion analysis presented in Fig. 23, ELISA testing did not detect significant levels of IFN- $\gamma$  in the cultures with NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> extract as the antigen. In contrast to the effector T cell cytokines, IL-12 p40, secreted mainly by CD40-activated DC (Kelsall B.L. et al., 1996; Kato T. et al., 1997), was strongly upregulated in response to both ECD/HER2 protein and lysate from NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cells. Since antigen-loaded DC alone did not produce any detectable amounts of IL-12 p40 (data not shown), an inductive signal for its expression had to be provided by the activated 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells.

Evidence that IL-12 had significant impact on the differentiation of the F2.5 T cell clone was given by a suspension culture of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells that was treated with 0.2 ng/ml of recombinant IL-12. In a flow cytometric analysis, that was performed 2 weeks after the first addition of IL-12, a marked decrease in viable cell counts was observed since only 28% of the cells were negative for PI compared to 64% under standard culture conditions. Surprisingly, as shown in Fig. 29, the residual viable cells of the IL-12-treated culture exhibited strong staining for CD4. This result indicated that high levels of IL-12 induced CD4 expression, but also sensitized 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells to apoptosis.

#### Discussion

#### 6.

#### Discussion

# 6.1. Different HER2 antigen sources and appropriate specificity controls are indispensable for the selection of HER2-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from human blood

The aim of this study was the generation and maintenance of HER2-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell lines and clones using *in vitro* generated autologous DC and LCL as APC. Since the native HER2 protein was used as a target antigen only weak T cell responses were assumed due to deletion or anergy induction of highly autoreactive T cells in the thymus (Kappler J.W. et al., 1987; Ramsdell F. et al., 1989). As a consequence, highly purified protein as the source of antigen and potent professional APC for efficient antigen uptake and MHC class II-restricted presentation was required to overcome T cell tolerance to HER2 in an *in vitro* culture system.

Due to these requirements, the first aim of this study was to establish a method for the efficient production of pure recombinant ECD/HER2 protein in a CHO cell expression system. As a result of a highdensity cell culture in a modular minifermenter under serum- and protein-free conditions ECD/HER2 was the only protein present in elevated amounts in the culture medium. Consequently, by using transversal dialysis and IMAC chromatography it could be purified to almost complete homogeneity.

In a recently published attempt to generate TAA-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells by *in vitro* culture with recombinant MAGE-3 protein as the antigen, Chaux P. et al. (1999) noted that a large number of the CD4<sup>+</sup> clones obtained were directed against contaminants of the protein batch. Due to this finding, further antigen preparations were established to prove HER2-specificity of the in vitro generated Th cell lines and clones. First, another batch of ECD/HER2 protein was available being produced in a mouse L cell expression system. T cell reactivity to both of these antigens was taken as a strong indication for HER2-specificity, since the two ECD/HER2-proteins were purified by different chromatographic methods. Secondly, for the identification of T cells that discriminate between ECD/HER2 and ECD/EGFR, the latter was produced in CHO cells and used as a negative specificity control. Other negative controls included KLH as a well-defined highly immunogenic soluble antigen and FCS as a complex mixture of xenogenic protein antigens. Finally, whole protein extract from NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cells containing substantial amounts of HER2, was used as a source of antigen in order to test reactivity of ECD/HER2-responsive T cells under conditions similar to those at the site of tumor growth. This was considered feasible, since immature DC were able to engulf particulate material, such as apoptotic cells and microorganisms (Nouri-Shirazi M. et al., 2000). One further advantage of this NIH3T3 cell-based screening method was that lysate from NIH3T3<sup>wt</sup> cells could serve as a very stringent negative control.

# 6.2. The *in vitro* generated Mo-DC efficiently process purified erbB antigens and after maturation express a complete set of costimulatory molecules

DC were generated from blood monocytes of donor MaBa under FCS-free conditions in the pres-

ence of IL-4 and GM-CSF according to the protocol by Jonuleit H. et al. (1997). Under these particular culture conditions cells lost their ability to adhere to plastic and became CD14<sup>-</sup>CD83<sup>lo</sup> indicating an immature DC phenotype (Zhou L.J. and Tedder T.F., 1995). Since immature DC are characterized by a high ability of antigen uptake (Banchereau J. and Steinman R.M., 1998; Cella M. et al., 1997), cells were exposed to soluble protein antigens or extract of lysed cells at this stage. The immature DC were able to endocytose high amounts of protein added to the culture medium, as could be demonstrated by immunofluorescence microscopy.

PNGase F treatment of recombinant ECD/HER2 and ECD/EGFR revealed that both proteins are highly N-glycosylated since their apparent molecular masses in SDS-PAGE decreased from 105 to 75 kDa following digestion. As reported by Hiltbold E.M. et al. (2000), an effect of protein glycosylation may be protection of the antigen against endosomal degradation. This was attributed to selective uptake by the mannose receptor (CD206) and retention in early endosomes. In striking contrast to these authors, rapid internalization of ECD/EGFR protein in a mannose receptor-independent fashion was observed in the present study. The ingested protein was rather transported in small vesicles to perinuclear located LAMP-1<sup>+</sup> late endosomes and HLA-DR-rich MIIC compartments thus providing evidence that uptake occurred mainly by macropinocytosis. The capability to form pinocytic vesicles was reported by Sallusto F. et al. (1995) to be a very efficient mechanism of immature DC to capture small particles and soluble antigens present in the extracellular fluid. Most importantly, its well defined colocalization with HLA-DR suggests that ECD/EGFR as an exogenous glycosylated protein was properly processed in the MHC class II pathway for antigen presentation to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells.

After antigen loading, DC used for the priming of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were matured with a cocktail of proinflammatory cytokines and PGE<sub>2</sub> (Jonuleit H. et al., 1997). High levels of CD83 expression indicated the successful differentiation to the fully mature state. Moreover, the cells displayed increased surface expression of HLA-DR indicating the formation of large amounts of pMHC class II complexes. The mature DC also expressed various accessory molecules important for enhanced signaling and adhesion. Most notably were the intense expression of the B7 activation markers CD80 and CD86 which reflected their high T cell stimulatory capacity. Because TCR engagement without CD28-B7 interaction induce anergy in naive T cells (Yi-qun Z. et al., 1997; Appleman L.J. and Boussiotis V.A., 2003), only mature DC were used as APC in the primary cultures to achieve full T cell activation. Another feature of the cells was a Th1-promoting activity indicated by the expression of the adhesion molecule CD54, which strongly interacts with the LFA-1 receptor on T cells (Smits H.H. et al., 2002). Th1 polarization is another essential step in the induction of antitumor immunity, since the cells stimulate macrophage and CTL activity by secretion of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  (Swain S.L., 1995).

As reviewed by Grewal I.S. and Flavell R.A. (1998), CD40-CD40L interactions are critical for the elicitation of Th1 cell-dependent effector functions. Since almost all ECD/HER2-loaded DC, but only about half of the NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> lysate-loaded DC expressed the CD40 receptor on their surface, the former cells were used for the induction of primary T cell responses. Different endocytotic pathways for soluble antigens and fragments of dead cells may account for the observed differences in

CD40 expression. Sauter B. et al. (2000) gave evidence that DC can even discriminate between apoptotic and necrotic cells, adversely affecting their maturation and function.

#### 6.3. Stimulation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell microcultures with ECD/HER2-loaded autologous DC provides an applicable method for the generation of HER2-reactive Th cell lines

For the generation of HER2-specific Th cell lines, freshly isolated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells from donor MaBa were stimulated with ECD/HER2-loaded autologous mature DC. Massive cell death, however, occurred in the first two weeks of *in vitro* culture. During this critical period, T cells were maintained in high-density microcultures to facilitate exchange of soluble factors and the formation of cell-cell contacts. Furthermore, IL-2 was added to the cultures as it promotes proliferation of activated T cells (Smith K.A., 1988), as well as IL-7 due to its ability to inhibit apoptosis (Vella A.T. et al., 1998; Boise L.H. et al., 1995) and to provide costimulation (Chazen G.D. et al., 1989; Costello R. et al., 1993). For the inhibition of CD152 expression on primed T cells that may act as a negative feedback mechanism to limit T cell activation (Finn P.W. et al., 1997), immature DC with low levels of CD80 and CD86 were used as APC for all subsequent weekly restimulations. Such an approach was thought to be suitable due to the finding that previously activated T cells no longer require the costimulatory signal transduced by CD28 for their clonal expansion (Peterson K.E. et al., 1999). As a result of all these efforts, clusters of proliferating T cells could be observed in some of the microcultures between the first and second restimulation.

HER2-specificity of the proliferating T cell microcultures was evaluated by detecting IFN-γ release in response to processed ECD/HER2 soluble antigen and whole cell lysate of NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> fibroblasts on immature DC. In order to prevent selection of T cells directed against contaminants in the protein preparation or culture medium, only T cell microcultures that displayed reactivity to both antigen sources were considered to be HER2-specific and selected for the subsequent cloning and expansion steps. This stringent strategy was chosen due to the expectation that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells readily react to virtually any foreign antigens while avoiding immune responses to self, although the ECD/HER2 protein was produced in an eukaryotic expression system and found to be LPS-free by the Limulus amebocyte assay.

The production of IFN- $\gamma$  was first assessed by ELISPOT analysis. This technique allows rapid and reliable screening with low cell numbers and therefore could be applied at a time when cell proliferation was first observed by light microscopy. By use of this technique, strong HER2-reactivity could only be demonstrated for one microculture termed F2. A subsequently performed flow cytometry-based IFN- $\gamma$  secretion analysis with concomittant detection of CD4 and CD8 coreceptor expression demonstrated the existence of two different subsets of IFN- $\gamma$  producing T cells in the F2 T cell line. The one displayed a CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> and the other a CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> T cell phenotype. Surprisingly, both cell types were reactive against HER2 antigen. Since CD4<sup>+</sup> sorted T cells were used to establish HER2-specific T cell lines, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were likely contaminants of either the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell fraction or of one of the monocyte preparations used to generate ECD/HER2-loaded DC. By flow cytometric analysis it was found that the Mo-DC cultures contained few numbers of contaminating lymphocytes, main-

ly B cells and neutrophils, but also T and NK cells. Since these cultures were essential for further expansion of the F2 T cell line, it was of particular interest to establish a fast and reliable method that allows the discrimination of HER2-specific  $CD4^+$  F2 T cells from other cells.

A major consequence of clonal selection and expansion in response to periodic antigen exposure is the change of the TCR repertoire from a polyclonal to a more restricted pattern (Boitel B. et al., 1992). Therefore, the most reliable way for the successful detection of HER2-reactive T cells without knowledge of the peptide epitope is to screen the F2 T cell line for predominant TCR V $\beta$  utilization. Flow cytometric analysis with a panel of mAb's covering approximately 60% of the TCR V $\beta$  repertoire revealed that 85% of the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the F2 T cell line expressed TCR V $\beta$ 5.3. As compared to freshly isolated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells of donor MaBa, this represents an approximately 80-fold increase in relative cell numbers. In contrast, preferential TCR V $\beta$  usage could not be identified for the CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> F2 T cell subset. Since Akbar A.N. et al. (1988) demonstrated that naive T cells switch from CD45RA to CD45RO expression upon activation, the detection of high levels of CD45RO, but not CD45RA on the CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup>TCR V $\beta$ 5.3<sup>+</sup> F2 T cells provided further evidence for an antigen-driven selection process.

#### 6.4. Antigen-specific stimulation with MaBa-LCL cells results in selection of the apoptosisresistant T cell clone F2.5

Due to their restricted expression of TCR V $\beta$ 5.3, ECD/HER2-specific CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> F2 T cells were sorted by MACS using anti-TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 mAb-labeled immunomagnetic beads before limiting dilution cloning. After two weeks of culture with ECD/HER2-pulsed  $\gamma$ -irradiated MaBa-LCL as stimulator and feeder cells, 12 out of 120 cultures contained proliferating T cells. All T cell clones showed an identical expression pattern for CD4, CD8 and TCR V $\beta$ 5.3, indicating that they were derived from the same precursor cell. 11 of these clones could not be maintained in culture and underwent apoptosis, whereas one clone, designated as F2.5, depicted good viability and proliferated upon ECD/HER2-specific stimulation.

To assure viability of F2.5 T cells in the subsequent antigen-specific expansion steps, T-Stim, a conditioned medium from PHA-stimulated human PBMC cultures, was added to the culture medium together with IL-2 and IL-7. The finding that F2.5 T cells could not be maintained in culture for more than two weeks in the absence of MaBa-LCL cells indicated that proliferation was not affected by the medium supplements. Moreover, based on the observation that treatment of F2.5 T cells with the TCR V $\beta$ 5.3-specific mAb 3D11 provoked a strong IFN- $\gamma$  response, growth in 3D11-coated cell culture plates provided an alternative method of T cell expansion in the absence of APC.

However, under both culture conditions, T cells exhibited profound phenotypic changes. In the presence of ECD/HER2-loaded MaBa-LCL cells the F2.5 T cells completely lost the expression of CD4 and became CD8 bright positive, whereas incubation with the 3D11 mAb led to the development of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> DP cells with heterogenous CD8 expression levels. In contrast to the parental  $4^{+}/8^{10}$  F2.5 T cells, these  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  and  $4^{+}/8^{+}$  isoforms could be grown stably in culture for more than 6 months.

#### 6.5. The F2.5 T cell clone adopts a CD8 memory phenotype during culture with ECD/HER2loaded MaBa-LCL cells

Flow cytometric analysis found that  $4^{-/8\text{hi}}$  F2.5 T cells expressed CD8 $\alpha$  and CD8 $\beta$  whereas  $4^{+/8^+}$  F2.5 T cells showed only CD8 $\alpha$ . Mainly by the exclusive presense of CD8 $\alpha$  it was suggested that  $4^{+/8^+}$  F2.5 T cells represented a transient intermediate on the way to a memory phenotype. This is supported by studies of Madakamutil L.T. et al. (2004) who found an upregulation of the cytokine receptors IL-7R $\alpha$  and IL2/IL15R $\beta$  on CD8 $\alpha^+\beta^-$  T cells upon activation. The essential role of these two cytokine receptors in memory T cell development is demonstrated by their ability to increase expression of the survival factors Bcl-xL and Bcl-2 (Kim S.V. and Flavell R.A., 2004). On the other side, concomitant expression of CD8 $\alpha$  and CD8 $\beta$  results in the formation of both CD8 homo- and heterodimers on  $4^{-/8\text{hi}}$  F2.5 T cells. As reported by several authors (Renard V. et al., 1996; Bosselut R. et al., 2000; Wong J.S. et al., 2003) CD8 $\beta$  generally increases the avidity of CD8 binding to MHC molecules and mediates enhanced interaction with the TCR/CD3 complex.

Further evidence for the conversion to a memory phenotype was obtained by two additional findings. First, detection of a significant degree of CD27 surface expression on 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells. A benefical role of the CD27 costimulatory receptor in the formation and the persistance of a memory T cell pool was suggested, due to its ability to counteract apoptotic signals and to enhance TCRinduced expansion by decreasing the threshold for T cell activation (Hendriks J. et al., 2000). Secondly, detection of KIR 2DL2 on approximately 20% of the 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells. According to Mingari M.C. et al. (1996), suggesting KIR expression on T cells being restricted to oligoclonally or monoclonally expanded CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, this was taken as an additional indication of memory T cell development.

#### 6.6. The thymocyte-like phenotype of the F2.5 T cell clone provides evidence of escape from central tolerance by its precursor cell

The way F2.5 T cells changed their phenotype bears some analogy to CD4/CD8 lineage decision in the thymus. Therefore, the most consistent explanation for the induction of F2.5 T cell differentiation into the CD8 lineage is that the precursor cell of the F2.5 clone escaped as a low affinity autoreactive T cell negative selection and persisted in the periphery in an uncommited state, apparently ignorant of endogenous HER2. Evidence for an escape of low affinity self-reactive T cells from thymic negative selection was first provided by functional characterization of myelin proteolipid protein-specific T cells in an experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mouse model (Liu G.Y. et al., 1995; Anderson A.C. et al., 2000).

Whereas the classical instruction and stochastic models of lineage commitment are based on the central paradigm that lineage commitment occurs in DP thymocytes (von Boehmer H. and Kisielow P., 1993; Germain R.N., 2002; Singer A. et al., 1999), the currently most favored model, known as



**FIGURE 30:** Schematic representation of the kinetic signaling model of T cell development. The model postulates that TCR signals drive CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> DP thymocytes to differentiate into transitional CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>lo</sup> cells. At this critical stage of development, CD4/CD8 lineage decision is determined by whether TCR signals are still present or have ceased. Persistance of TCR signaling promotes CD4 lineage commitment. In contrast, TCR disengagement of MHC class I ligands caused by diminished CD8 surface levels results in cessation of TCR signaling and coreceptor reversal. This process is further enhanced by CD4 gene silencing in response to IL-7. As a result, thymocytes differentiate into mature CD8 SP T cells.

the kinetic signaling model of T cell development, proposes that  $CD4^+CD8^{lo}$  transitional cells are located at this developmental branch point (Singer A., 2002; Bosselut R. et al., 2003). In this regard, the latter model assumes that MHC class I-signaled thymocytes differentiate into  $CD8^+$  T cells because of cessation of TCR signaling caused by a diminished CD8 surface expression of DP thymocytes. The absence of TCR signaling leads to silencing of CD4 and induction of CD8 gene expression, in this model referred to as coreceptor reversal (Brugnera E. et al., 2000). Starting from  $CD4^+CD8^{lo}$  T cells in the original F2 T cell line, the course of F2.5 T cell differentiation into CD8 SP T cells is in line with the predictions of this model for the lineage commitment to a CD8 SP phenotype, as presented schematically in Fig. 30.

#### 6.7. Increased responsiveness to IL-2 and IL-7 may promote the development of the F2.5 T cell clone into the CD8 SP lineage

Resting T cells are negative for HLA class II antigens but may initiate expression upon persistent stimulation (Ferenczi K. et al., 2000). Therefore, flow cytometric detection of high levels of HLA-DR on all three F2.5 T cell clone isoforms indicated that T cells had entered a state of sustained activation and proliferation under the chosen culture conditions. However, the medium supplements IL-2, IL-7

and T-Stim seemed to be crucial for the maintenance of this stable activated phenotype, since attempts to omit one of these additives resulted in a rapid loss of cell viability. Besides their prosurvival activity mediated by an upregulation of Bcl-2 via common cytokine receptor  $\gamma$  chain ( $\gamma$ c) signaling (Nakajima H. and Leonard W.J., 1999), it was suggested that IL-2 and IL-7 also had a strong impact on the development of the F2.5 T cell clone. This was assumed due to the fact that F2.5 T cells exhibited thymocyte like characteristics and should therefore be susceptible to the  $\gamma$ c-dependent signal transduction pathways that promote commitment to the CD8 phenotype (Paliard X. et al., 1988; He Y.W. et al., 1997). In particular, IL-7 appears to act as a master cytokine for CD8 T cell differentiation since it enhances CD4 gene silencing in DP thymocytes (Yu Q. et al., 2003). However, culture of F2.5 T cells on immobilized anti-TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 mAb 3D11 led to the generation of a stable CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8 $\alpha$ <sup>+</sup> $\beta$ <sup>-</sup> DP phenotype, whereas culture with ECD/HER2-loaded MaBa-LCL resulted in a CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8 $\alpha$  $\beta$ <sup>+</sup> SP phenotype. Since both expansion strategies were performed in medium containing the same amounts of IL-2, IL-7 and T-Stim, additional signals provided by cognate interaction with the APC seemed to account for full differentiation to CD8 $\alpha$  $\beta$ <sup>+</sup> SP T cells.

## 6.8. Coexpression of CD4 and CD8α and downregulation of CD5 may represent an adaptive response of 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>+</sup> F2.5 T cells to enhance TCR signaling

Despite the fundamental phenotypic changes, both  $4^{-/8^{hi}}$  and  $4^{+/8^{+}}$  F2.5 T cells secreted IFN- $\gamma$  after ECD/HER2-specific stimulation. Pronounced differences in the degree of reactivity, however, were detected between the two isoforms. Whereas  $4^{-/8^{hi}}$  F2.5 T cells showed the same extent of IFN- $\gamma$  release as the parental  $4^{+/8^{lo}}$  F2.5 T cells,  $4^{+/8^{+}}$  F2.5 T cells exhibited a higher capacity for IFN- $\gamma$  production. Two reasons may account for the increased responsiveness of the latter. First, more potent signaling due to concomitant MHC ligand binding of both CD4 and CD8 $\alpha$ , and secondly, reduced expression of the immune inhibitory receptor CD5 (Tarakhovsky A. et al., 1995; Azzam H.S. et al., 2001). In respect to the role of CD5, Azzam H.S. et al. (1998) showing its level of expression on mature T cells being positively correlated with TCR signal intensity. In this study, high-level CD5 expression on  $4^{+/8^{hi}}$  F2.5 T cells seemed to be a consequence of MHC-dependent antigen presentation, since  $4^{+/8^{+}}$  F2.5 T cells, expanded in the absence of the HER2 antigen, expressed significantly lower CD5 levels. In this context, it is important to note that Hawiger D. et al. (2004) described a form of peripheral tolerance in which DC present the relevant antigen, but also transmit signals to induce strong CD5 expression on the responding T cells.

### 6.9. Antagonist peptide-mediated TCR signaling may explain MHC class II-dependent activation of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells

The finding of  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells remaining capable of producing IFN- $\gamma$  in response to ECD/HER2 presentation, raised the question whether F2.5 T cell reactivity was MHC restricted. To check this

issue, monoclonal antibody inhibition studies were performed on  $4^{-/8hi}$  F2.5 T cells in order to define the nature of the restriction element and the role of the CD8 coreceptor. The experiments clearly showed a selective inhibition of HER2-specific IFN- $\gamma$  secretion by blocking mAb's specific for HLA-DR and CD8.

A possible explanation for the natural occurrence of such MHC class II-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells is provided in literature by studies focusing on TCR signaling in response to antagonist peptides. Antagonist peptides were originally described as altered peptide analogs, in which the native peptide is modified by amino acid substitutions at crucial contact sites for the TCR (Evavold B.D. et al., 1993; Kuchroo V.K. et al., 1994). Their unique property is the ability to prevent or modulate T cell activation induced by the stimulatory peptide. Several studies have indicated that antagonist peptides were also frequently found in the endogenous peptide pool (Klenerman P. et al., 1994; Khanna R. et al., 1996; Vidal K. et al., 1996; Carson R.T. et al., 1999). Of particular significance for their function is that antagonist peptides generally engage the TCR with lower avidity than their agonist analogues (Alam S.M. et al., 1996).

In a TCR transgenic mouse model, Volkmann A. et al. (1998) demonstrated CD8 differentiation of thymocytes specific for a MHC class II-restricted epitope of the complement factor C5 induced by an antagonist peptide. Since anti-MHC class II antibodies were able to block the generation of CD8 cells, it was suggested that this altered peptide variant was still presented on MHC class II molecules. An explanation for this uncommon feature, given by the authors, concerns the strength of signals transmitted through the protein tyrosine kinase Lck. Their line of argument emphasizes that weak binding of the TCR results in a higher off rate, which diminishes coreceptor binding and recruitment of Lck to the TCR/CD3 complex. The fact that Lck binds with higher affinity to CD4 than to CD8 (Wiest D.L. et al., 1993; Veillette A. et al., 1989) implies a more prominent role of the kinase in CD4<sup>+</sup> cell development. Consistent with the idea of qualitatively different signals defining the CD4/CD8 lineage fate, it seems likely that insufficient Lck recruitment is the reason for the generation of MHC class II-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Madrenas J. et al., 1997).

# 6.10. Partial TCR phosphorylation through elevated Fyn kinase activity provides an explanation for coreceptor reversal of the F2.5 T cell clone

Basson M.A. et al. (1998) proposed a model of lineage commitment in which CD4 versus CD8 lineage decision depends on the ratio of signals delivered by the TCR and Lck. The model ascribes CD8 differentiation to engagement of the TCR in the absence of overt Lck kinase activation, CD4 differentiation to modest pMHC-TCR interactions in the presence of high Lck activity and apoptosis induction to strong TCR and Lck signals. Accordingly, conversion of DP thymocytes into CD8 SP T cells may be the consequence of decreased Lck expression. In agreement with this hypothesis, immunoblotting of cell lysates from cocultures of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell and antigen-loaded DC revealed reduced Lck expression. In contrast, Fyn, another Src family kinase expressed in T cells, was more readily detectable in 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells and, most importantly, could be further enhanced by

ECD/HER2-specific stimulation. Although Fyn may compensate for most of the functions of Lck (Groves T. et al., 1996), it has been shown that positive selection of CD4 SP thymocytes strictly depends on the expression of Lck (Zamoyska R. et al., 2003). An explanation for this finding is provided by the fact that only Lck leads to complete phosphorylation of the TCR/CD3 complex and downstream ZAP-70 kinase although both kinases bind to the  $\zeta$ -chain of the CD3/TCR signal transduction complex (Mustelin T. and Tasken K., 2003). In the same immunoblot, dephosphorylation of ERK 1 and 2 was identified as a second event selectively induced by ECD/HER2-specific T cell activation. Although to date no relation between elevated levels of Fyn and dephosphorylation of ERK proteins has been mentioned in literature, both signals seem to act synergistically in the inhibition of CD4 T cell development since Bommhardt U. et al. (1999) showed that CD4, but not CD8 lineage commitment of thymocytes is highly affected by ERK kinase activity. Therefore it is likely that sustained ECD/HER2 antigen presentation leads to only partial TCR engagement and inhibition of downstream signaling, as suggested by the almost complete dephosphorylation of ERK proteins.

Evidence that reduced levels of Lck and overexpression of Fyn are not a rare phenomenon, but rather part of a common signaling pathway, is given by Huang J. et al. (2000). In a TCR transgenic mouse model, the authors observed selective activation of Fyn and partial T cell activation after MHC-restricted presentation of a low affinity antagonist peptide. This study is in agreement with several other studies showing that interactions with altered peptide ligands resulted in the transduction of distinct intracellular signals (Sloan-Lancaster J. et al., 1994; Madrenas J. et al., 1995; La Face D.M. et al., 1997; Chau L.A. et al., 1998; Hemmer B. et al., 1998). In every single case, the primary consequence of antagonist-induced signal transduction was altered  $\zeta$ -chain phosphorylation and lack of ZAP-70 activity.

### 6.11. TCR signaling in ECD/HER2-stimulated 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells reveals a pattern of activation known to occur during positive selection in the thymus

From a virtually unlimited repertoire of receptor specificities created by random rearrangement of TCR genes only a small fraction is selected in the thymus on the basis of low avidity interactions with self MHC ligands (Goldrath A.W. and Bevan M.J., 1999). The signals for this positive selection of thymocytes are mainly provided by MHC-associated intrathymic self-peptides, as demonstrated by different authors (Sant'Angelo D.B. et al., 1997; Surh C.D. et al., 1997; Barton G.M. and Rudensky A.Y., 1999). In a TCR-transgenic mouse model, Williams O. et al. (1998) demonstrated that an anta-gonist peptide variant could inhibit negative selection of thymocytes induced by endogenously expressed peptide antigen. Most notably, this inhibition resulted in rescue and maturation of the thymocytes. Thus, their data indicate that positive selection is partially contributed to an antagonist-like engagement of the TCR. Direct evidence for the existence of antagonist peptides in a pool of naturally processed TCR determinants was provided by Santori F.R. et al. (2001). By using a sophisticated combination of bioinformatics and functional testing, these authors identified a self-peptide that both induces positive selection and acts as an antagonist of mature T cell proliferation. Accordingly, one

possible explanation for the initiation of signal transduction leading to coreceptor reversal on F2.5 T cells is that the putative epitope of the HER2 protein transduces antagonist-like signals.

The finding that positive and negative selection could be induced by different concentrations of the same peptide (Sebzda E. et al., 1994) indicates that the avidity of the pMHC-TCR interaction determines the outcome of T cell selection. Different avidities for the same peptide antigen (Lucas B. et al., 1999; Germain R.N. and Stefanova I., 1999), provide a possible explanation for the observation that from the established 12 clonal microcultures only the F2.5 T cell clone survived whereas the others underwent apoptosis even though all of them are derived from the same precursor cell as evidenced by constitutive expression of the TCR V $\beta$ 5.3 motif.

# 6.12. Absence of NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup>-specific IFN-γ release indicates reduced antigen-sensitivity of the 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell clone isoform

While  $4^{-/8\text{hi}}$  F2.5 T cells reliably responded to ECD/HER2, no HER2-specific IFN- $\gamma$  production was observed for NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> cell lysate as the antigen. Thus, it was concluded that small numbers of specific pMHC complexes failed to activate  $4^{-/8\text{hi}}$  F2.5 T cells. This behavior is in striking contrast to that of the two other F2.5 T cell clone subsets and that of the original F2 T cell line. Thus,  $4^{-}/8^{\text{hi}}$  F2.5 T cells were analyzed for factors suppressing T cell activation. Indeed, several inhibitory mechanisms appeared to be operative. First, exceptionally high levels of the negative regulator CD5 were found on the surface of these cells. Secondly, as revealed by RT-PCR analysis,  $4^{-}/8^{\text{hi}}$  F2.5 T cells expressed an alternatively spliced form of the CD8 $\alpha$  molecule in which exon IV, coding for the transmembrane domain, was absent. This leads to a CD8 $\alpha$  molecule being secreted and existing primarily as a homodimer (Norment A.M. et al.,1989). As was reported by Sewell A.K. et al. (1999) low concentrations of soluble CD8 can inhibit T cell activation and function *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In a model proposed by the authors, soluble CD8 $\alpha$  competes with the membrane-bound form of the receptor for MHC class I binding, thereby leading to a blockage of receptor multimerization on the T cell surface.

# 6.13. KIR 2DL2 expression may be responsible for the induction of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell proliferation by MaBa-LCL cells in the absence of HER2

Systematic analysis of proliferation and cytolytic activities of  $4^{+}/8^{+}$  and  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells revealed a considerable degree of functional reactivity against autologous MaBa-LCL cells by the latter. Since KIR 2DL2 was present on a fraction of  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells, but was completely absent on  $4^{+}/8^{+}$  F2.5 T cells, the observed reactivity was suggested to be mediated, at least in part, by this receptor. In NK cells, the KIR genotype determines self tolerance (Valiante N.M. et al., 1997) and allows these cells to detect "missing self", i.e., the loss of cell surface HLA class I expression arising from viral infection (Young N.T. et al., 2001). Several authors showed KIR expression on T cells to be mainly restricted to oligoclonally expanded CD8 $\alpha\beta^+$  T cells of activated or memory phenotype.

Additionally, it serves as a mechanism to inhibit lytic activity in response to chronic antigen stimulation (Mingari M.C. et al., 1996; Speiser D.E. et al., 1999; Huard B. and Karlsson L., 2000). The latter studies, however, were focused on the interaction of KIR receptors with HLA ligands actually expressed on the host cells. Since KIR 2DL2 selectively binds to group 2 HLA-C alleles, but donor MaBa only express the group 1 HLA-C alleles HLA-Cw4 and -Cw15, it must be assumed that KIR 2DL2<sup>+</sup> 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells recognize KIR ligand mismatch on autologous cells. A lack of inhibitory control may therefore contribute to the induction of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell proliferation by MaBa-LCL cells. This conclusion was further supported by results of a proliferation assay using a panel of allogeneic LCL cell lines with various HLA-C haplotypes as targets. In this study, it was found that 4<sup>-</sup> /8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells did not respond to LCL targets expressing the group 2 HLA-C alleles HLA-Cw3, -Cw5 and -Cw7. In addition, significant proliferation was detectable not only in response to MaBa-LCL cells but also in response to HLA-Cw4 homozygous LCL cells of cell line JB.

# 6.14. Enhanced sensitivity to a crossreactive EBV-epitope may explain the degenerate antigen specificity of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells

Lack of KIR 2DL2-mediated inhibition alone is not sufficient for a complete explanation of this crossreactivity, since  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cell proliferation was restricted to HLA-matched LCL cell lines, even though the T cells themselves were negative for group 1 HLA-C allels. This points to the conclusion that some degree of activating signals are additionally required. In this context, the detection of moderate CTL responses against DC pulsed with MaBa-LCL lysate revealed the involvement of a MHC-restricted pathway. Cytolysis occurred at a slightly higher effector-to-target ratio as compared to cultures with ECD/HER2 antigen. Moreover, in contrast to ECD/HER2 protein, presentation of MaBa-LCL cell-derived antigens was not sufficient to elicit a measurable IFN- $\gamma$  response by  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells. Since Sykulev Y. et al. (1996) reported that the density of relevant pMHC complexes on target cells needed to produce a cytotoxic response is dramatically lower than the one required to stimulate cytokine production, it is likely that a lower affinity variant of the putative HER2 epitope was encoded by the EBV-transformed B cell line.

As it was demonstrated by various authors (Bhardwaj V. et al., 1993; Kersh G.J. and Allen P.M., 1996; Wucherpfennig K.W. and Strominger J.L., 1995), single T cell clones can be stimulated by diverse peptides and pMHC complexes. In this regard, Wucherpfennig K.W. (2004) noted that cross-reactive peptides are characterized by a high degree of similarity at peptide residues creating the interface with the TCR, while differences occurred at sequence positions buried in pockets of the MHC binding site. An advanced model to describe the plasticity of T cell responses by Holler P.D. and Kranz D.M. (2004), known as conformer model, postulates the ability of the TCR to adopt multiple conformations with different peptide binding characteristics. Structural evidence for this model has been obtained from studies by Garcia K.C. et al. (1998) and Reiser J.B. et al. (2003). They found a high degree of flexibility of the CDR3 loops in the TCR binding site. According to the conformer model, crossreacting ligands can be true molecular mimics or structurally unrelated pMHC com-

plexes with an affinity for one single conformational state of the TCR. It is suggested by the authors that crossreactivity caused by either TCR flexibility or molecular mimicry is a frequent phenomenon or even a general feature of TCR recognition. Therefore, functional plasticity of T cell responses provides a logical explanation for the responsiveness of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells to EBV-transformed B cells in the absence of the HER2 antigen.

Flexibility of TCR recognition seems, however, to be limited to peptide epitopes with low binding affinity (Holler P.D. et al., 2003). In this particular case, CD4 or CD8 coreceptor ligation seems to be essential for the initiation of T cell responses since it lowers the activation threshold by providing enhanced adhesion to target cells (Irvine D.J. et al., 2002; Holler P.D. and Kranz D.M., 2003). With regard to the efficiency of coreceptor function, CD8 $\alpha\beta$  is more potent in action than CD8 $\alpha\alpha$ . Thus, it appears that CD8 $\beta$  induction was beside partial KIR 2DL2 expression another prerequisite for 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell reactivity against MaBa-LCL cells.

Moreover, a role for CD27 in this activation event was suggested by the detection of significant amounts of the costimulatory receptor only on 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells. Since its corresponding membrane ligand, CD70, was detectable on LCL cell lines and not on immature DC, it was assumed that CD27-induced signal transduction occurred exclusively in cultures of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells with LCL targets. Evidence that CD27-CD70 interaction reduces the threshold for T cell activation was provided by the observation that in mice constitutively expressing CD70 on B cells a spontaneous turnover of naive T cells into proliferating effector cells occurred even in the absence of deliberate immunization (Arens R. et al., 2001; Tesselaar K. et al., 2003). Interbreeding these mice with TCR transgenics pointed out that this process was driven by TCR signals, presumably induced by environmental antigens. Based on these findings, Hendriks J. et al. (2003) postulated that constitutive CD27 signaling improves the survival of T cells activated by low-level antigen expression. With regard to MaBa-LCL-induced 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell activation, transduction of CD27 costimulatory signals may promote low affinity crossreactive TCR interactions.

Taken together, the data suggest that inadequate antigen presentation by LCL cells led to the observed high expression of accessory molecules on  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cells and that the resulting altered responsiveness contributed to the degeneration of antigen recognition by the  $4^{-}/8^{hi}$  F2.5 T cell subset.

### 6.15. IL-12-mediated CD4 induction on 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells may indicate the preservation of Th cell responses under optimal antigen stimulation conditions

Addition of IL-12 to a 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell expansion culture induced expression of CD4, but also sensitized the cells to apoptosis. Therefore, it was concluded that IL-12-induced signaling in 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells interfered with signals that maintained the CD8 SP phenotype. The resulting signaling imbalance then promotes the activation of the death pathway (Evan G. and Littlewood T., 1998). This process, however, occurred late after IL-12 treatment, suggesting that extensive structural rearrangements may be involved. One suggestion is that T cells had to be primed by a crucial early signal,

which once delivered permitted the cells to react differentially to stimuli during the latter phase of the IL-12 response. Evidence for the existence of such an early and late IL-12 function in T cells is given by Abdi K. and Herrmann S.H. (1997).

Since IL-12 is mainly secreted by the DC during interaction with activated T cells (Snijders A. et al., 1998; Mackey M.F. et al., 1998), it was of particular interest to determine whether in a coculture of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells and antigen-loaded DC IL-12 was produced in considerable amounts. As it was shown by ELISA, supernatants from cocultures of 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cells and DC loaded with either ECD/HER2 antigen or NIH3T3<sup>HER2</sup> lysate contained much higher amounts of IL-12 p40 than the IL-12-supplemented culture. Accordingly, it was suggested that 4<sup>+</sup>/8<sup>lo</sup> F2.5 T cells remained CD4<sup>+</sup> as long as ECD/HER2-loaded DC were used as APC and that stimulation with antigen-loaded LCL cells for cloning and expansion was the primary reason for the phenotypic changes leading to the development of the 4<sup>-</sup>/8<sup>hi</sup> F2.5 T cell subset.

# 6.16. Detection of DP T cells in human blood provide evidence for the natural occurrence of F2.5-like T cells

As a consequence of thymic selection, T cells in the periphery are tolerant to self-antigens and express either CD4 or CD8. However, as demonstrated in several studies not all autoreactive T cells are eliminated in the thymus (Ota K. et al., 1990; Moiola L. et al., 1993; Tandon N. et al., 1992). Furthermore, a small population of DP lymphocytes can be detected in the peripheral blood of healthy human individuals, particularly in elderly subjects (Blue M.L. et al., 1985; Zuckermann F.A., 1999; Ortolani C. et al., 1993). An increase of DP T lymphocyte frequencies was observed in individuals with neoplasia, infectious diseases or immune disorders (Suni M.A. et al., 2001; Sullivan Y.B. et al., 2001; Fujii Y. et al., 1999). A recent publication of Nascimbeni M. et al. (2004) clearly showed that circulating DP T cells in a chimpanzee were of an effector memory phenotype and sequestrated to the site of HCV infection. According to these findings it was evidenced that the generation of the DP F2.5 T cell phenotype was not due to an artifact of in vitro culture but rather reflected a naturally occurring maturation process. In this scenario, it is likely that the precursor cell of the F2.5 T cell clone was prematurely released from the thymus into the circulation. The course of its differentiation seemed to be largely influenced by the conditions under which the naturally processed ECD/HER2-derived peptide was presented. A suboptimal stimulation process by non-professional APC such as LCL cells may lead to only partial TCR signaling and to a degenerated antigen recognition, as evidenced in this study by the detection of enhanced Fyn kinase activity and crossreactivity to EBV-transformed B cell antigens presented in the context of HLA-Cw4. It remained, however, to be elucidated whether this is an exclusive property of the thymocyte-like F2.5 T cell clone or is a common feature of T cells subjected to suboptimal TCR stimulation. Finally, in agreement with recently published results (Germain R.N., 2002; Nishida T. et al., 2004), this study provides evidence that in vitro differentiation of F2.5 T cells was more influenced by the signaling end of the coreceptor than by the class of MHC that bound the antigenic peptide.

#### 6.17. Conclusions

The results of the presented study provide proof of principle for successful isolation and expansion of HER2-reactive T cells from human peripheral blood using purified ECD/HER2 as the antigen stimulus. With regard to its application in adoptive immunotherapy, however, the success of this experimental approach is limited due to the difficulty to rapidly identify HER2-reactive T cells in the large peripheral T cell pool.

Besides earlier studies on vigorously responding T cells against self-antigens, such as myelin basic protein (Liblau R. et al., 1991; Mazza G. et al., 2002), MAGE (Toso J.F. et al., 1996; Coulie P.G. et al., 2002) or NY-ESO (Jäger E. et al., 1998; Valmori D. et al., 2000; Gnjatic S. et al., 2003), the establishment of a HER2-reactive T cell clone indicates that potentially autoreactive T cells are frequently present in the blood. These self-reactive T cells are still subject to stringent immunological control mechanisms (for review, see Anderton S. et al., 1999). This is clearly indicated by the fact that autoimmune diseases are relatively rarely found in population. One major aspect of this peripheral tolerance is the well-balanced ratio of Th1 and Th2 cells and their capacity to negatively crossregulate each other through their respective cytokines (Maggi E. et al., 1992; Romagnani S.,1995). Another aspect is the presence of CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells that actively suppress development of effector T cells (Danke N.A. et al., 2004). As a result of this strict control, it is generally considered that excessive activation of self-reactive T cells may only occur in certain pathological states, i.e. viral infections (Bach J.F., 2003; Salaman M.R., 2003), or may be induced *in vitro* by chronic exposure to self-antigens.

The main disadvantage of *in vitro* culture is the fact that only a minority of T cells is supported by the *in vitro* growth conditions (Thor Straten P. et al., 2000), although it is possible to generate TAA-reactive T cell clones even from healthy individuals. As a consequence, long-term T cell clones usually do not behave like memory T cells that participate in the *in vivo* immune response (Faure F. et al., 1998; Jenkins M.K. et al., 2001). Therefore, it is important to determine the optimal *in vitro* culture conditions needed for the successful generation of highly potent antitumor effector T cells. This is suggested in the presented study due to the fact that inappropriate stimulation of T cell clone F2.5 by LCL cells as APC have led to the dramatic changes in surface marker expression.

In particular, for T cell vaccine-based therapies, efficient protocols have to be established to permit rapid production of sufficient numbers of tumor-reactive T cells. Furthermore, it will be advisable to develop sophisticated T cell stimulation protocols for selecting and maintaining a phenotypically diverse T cell repertoire, when expanding these T cells under conditions of undisturbed homeostasis. This may be achieved by the following ingredients: total T cell preparations of the donor, tumor cell extract or a mixture of synthetic antigenic peptides as the antigen, autologous DC as professional APC and a balanced combination of growth factors and cytokines capable of exerting potent T cell growth and prosurvival signals. It may be possible in the future that the concept of *ex vivo*induced polyclonal T cell activation will become the most applicable method of T cell-based immunotherapy for the treatment of a broad range of neoplasias with defined tumor antigens.

#### References

#### 7.

#### References

- Abdi K. and Herrmann S.H. (1997) CTL generation in the presence of IL-4 is inhibited by free p40: evidence for early and late IL-12 function. J Immunol 159: 3148-3155.
- Abe K., Kurakin A., Mohseni-Maybodi M., Kay B., Khosravi-Far R. (2000) The complexity of TNFrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand. Ann N Y Acad Sci 926: 52-63.
- Akbar A.N., Terry L., Timms A., Beverley P.C. and Janossy G. (1988) Loss of CD45R and gain of UCHL1 reactivity is a feature of primed T cells. J Immunol 140: 2171-2178.
- Alam S.M., Travers P.J., Wung J.L., Nasholds W., Redpath S., Jameson S.C. and Gascoigne N.R. (1996) T-cell-receptor affinity and thymocyte positive selection. Nature 381: 616-620.
- Albert L.J. and Inman R.D. (1999) Molecular mimicry and autoimmunity. N Engl J Med 341: 2068-2074.
- Albert M.L., Pearce S.F., Francisco L.M., Sauter B., Roy P., Silverstein R. and Bhardwaj N. (1998) Immature dendritic cells phagocytose apoptotic cells via  $\alpha_v \beta_5$  and CD36, and cross-present antigens to cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Exp Med 188: 1359-1368.
- Anderson A.C., Nicholson L.B., Legge K.L., Turchin V., Zaghouani H. and Kuchroo V.K. (2000) High frequency of autoreactive myelin proteolipid protein-specific T cells in the periphery of naive mice: mechanisms of selection of the self-reactive repertoire. J Exp Med 191: 761-770.
- Anderton S., Burkhart C., Metzler B. and Wraith D. (1999) Mechanisms of central and peripheral T-cell tolerance: lessons from experimental models of multiple sclerosis. Immunol Rev 169: 123-137.
- Appleman L.J. and Boussiotis V.A. (2003) T cell anergy and costimulation. Immunol Rev 192: 161-180.
- Arens R., Tesselaar K., Baars P.A., van Schijndel G.M.W., Hendriks J., Pals S.T., Krimpenfort P., Borst J., van Oers M.H.J. and van Lier R.A.W. (2001) Constitutive CD27/CD70 interaction induces expansion of effector-type T cells and results in IFNγ-mediated B cell depletion. Immunity 15: 801-812.
- Azzam H.S., DeJarnette J.B., Huang K., Emmons R., Park C.S., Sommers C.L., El-Khoury D., Shores E.W. and Love P.E. (2001) Fine tuning of TCR signaling by CD5. J Immunol 166: 5464-5472.
- Azzam H.S., Grinberg A., Lui K., Shen H., Shores E.W. and Love P.E. (1998) CD5 expression is developmentally regulated by T cell receptor (TCR) signals and TCR avidity. J Exp Med 188: 2301-2311.
- Bach J.F. (2003) Autoimmune diseases as the loss of active "self control". Ann N Y Acad Sci 998: 161-177.
- Bachmann M.F., McKall-Faienza K., Schmits R., Bouchard D., Beach J., Speiser D.E., Mak T.W. and Ohashi P.S. (1997) Distinct roles for LFA-1 and CD28 during activation of naive T cells: adhesion versus costimulation. Immunity 7: 549-557.
- Banchereau J., Briere F., Caux C., Davoust J., Lebecque S., Liu Y.J., Pulendran B. and Palucka K. (2000) Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 18: 767-811.
- Banchereau J. and Steinman R.M. (1998) Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature 392: 245-252.
- Barton G.M. and Rudensky A.Y. (1999) Requirement for divers, low-abundance peptides in positive selection of T cells. Science 283: 67-70.
- Basson M.A., Bommhardt U., Cole M.S., Yun Tso J. and Zamoyska R. (1998) CD3 ligation on immature thymocytes generates antagonist-like signals appropriate for CD8 lineage commitment, independently of T cell receptor specificity. J Exp Med 187: 1249-1260.

- Bennett S.R., Carbone F.R., Karamalis F., Flavell R.A., Miller J.F. and Heath W.R. (1998) Help for cytotoxic T-cell responses is mediated by CD40 signalling. Nature 393: 478-480.
- Bennett S.R., Carbone F.R., Karamalis F., Miller J.F. and Heath W.R. (1997) Induction of a CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T lymphocyte response by cross-priming requires cognate CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help. J Exp Med 186: 65-70.
- Berard F., Blanco P., Davoust J., Neidhart-Berard E.M., Nouri-Shirazi M., Taquet N., Rimoldi D., Cerottini J.C., Banchereau J. and Palucka A.K. (2000) Cross-priming of naive CD8 T cells against melanoma antigens using dendritic cells loaded with killed allogeneic melanoma cells. J Exp Med 192: 1535-1544.
- Bhardwaj V., Kumar V., Geysen H.M. and Sercarz E.E. (1993) Degenerate recognition of a dissimilar antigenic peptide by myelin basic protein-reactive T cells. Implications for thymic education and autoimmunity. J Immunol 151: 5000-5010.
- Blue M.L., Daley J.F., Levine H. and Schlossman S.F. (1985) Coexpression of T4 and T8 on peripheral blood T cells demonstrated by two-color fluorescence flow cytometry. J Immunol 134: 2281-2286.
- Boise L.H., Minn A.J., June C.H., Lindsten T. and Thompson C.B. (1995) Growth factors can enhance lymphocyte survival without committing the cell to undergo cell division. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92: 5491-5495.
- Boitel B., Ermonval M., Panina-Bordignon P., Mariuzza R.A., Lanzavecchia A. and Acuto O. (1992) Preferential V beta gene usage and lack of junctional sequence conservation among human T cell receptors specific for a tetanus toxin-derived peptide: evidence for a dominant role of a germlineencoded V region in antigen/major histocompatibility complex recognition. J Exp Med 175: 765-777.
- Bommhardt U., Basson M.A., Krummrei U. and Zamoyska R. (1999) Activation of the extracellular signal-related kinase/mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway discriminates CD4 versus CD8 lineage commitment in the thymus. J Immunol 163: 715-722.
- Bosselut R., Guinter T.I., Sharrow S.O. and Singer A. (2003) Unraveling a revealing paradox: Why major histocompatibility complex I-signaled thymocytes "paradoxically" appear as CD4<sup>+</sup>8<sup>lo</sup> transitional cells during positive selection of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. J Exp Med 197: 1709-1719.
- Bosselut R., Kubo S., Guinter T., Kopacz J.L., Altman J.D., Feigenbaum L. and Singer A. (2000) Role of CD8β domains in CD8 coreceptor function: importance for MHC I binding, signaling, and positive selection of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in the thymus. Immunity 12: 409-418.
- Bouneaud C., Kourilsky P. and Bousso P. (2000) Impact of negative selection on the T cell repertoire reactive to a self-peptide: a large fraction of T cell clones escapes clonal deletion. Immunity 13: 829-840.
- Brossart P., Wirths S., Stuhler G., Reichardt V.L., Kanz L. and Brugger W. (2000) Induction of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses in vivo after vaccinations with peptide-pulsed dendritic cells. Blood 96: 3102-3108.
- Brugnera E., Bhandoola A., Cibotti R., Yu Q., Guinter T.I., Yamashita Y., Sharrow S.O. and Singer A. (2000) Coreceptor reversal in the thymus: signaled CD4<sup>+</sup>8<sup>+</sup> thymocytes initially terminate CD8 transcription even when differentiating into CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Immunity 13: 59-71.
- Brunner T., Mogil R.J., LaFace D., Yoo N.Y., Mahboubi A., Echeverri F., Martin S.J., Force W.R., Lynch D.H., Ware C.F. and Green D.R. (1995) Cell-autonomous Fas (CD95)/Fas-ligand interaction mediates activation-induced apoptosis in T-cell hybridomas. Nature 373: 441-444.
- Butcher E.C. and Picker L.J. (1996) Lymphocyte homing and homeostasis. Science 272: 60-66.
- Carson R.T., Desai D.D., Vignal K.M. and Vignali D.A. (1999) Immunoregulation of Th cells by naturally processed peptide antagonists. J Immunol 162: 1-4.

- Cella M., Sallusto F. and Lanzavecchia A. (1997) Origin, maturation and antigen presenting function of dendritic cells. Curr Opin Immunol 9: 10-16.
- Cella M., Scheidegger D., Palmer-Lehmann K., Lane P., Lanzavecchia A. and Alber G. (1996) Ligation of CD40 on dendritic cells triggers production of high levels of interleukin-12 and enhances T cell stimulatory capacity: T-T help via APC activation. J Exp Med 184: 747-752.
- Chambers C.A. and Allison J.P. (1999) Costimulatory regulation of T cell function. Curr Opin Cell Biol 11: 203-210.
- Chau L.A., Bluestone J.A. and Madrenas J. (1998) Dissociation of intracellular signalling pathways in response to partial agonist ligands of the T cell receptor. J Exp Med 187: 1699-1709.
- Chaux P., Vantomme V., Stroobant V., Thielemans K., Corthals J., Luiten R., Eggermont A.M., Boon T. and van der Bruggen P. (1999) Identification of MAGE-3 epitopes presented by HLA-DR molecules to CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes. J Exp Med 189: 767-778.
- Chazen G.D., Pereira G.M., LeGros G., Gillis S. and Shevach E.M. (1989) Interleukin 7 is a T-cell growth factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86: 5923-5927.
- Chen Y., Kuchroo V.K., Inobe J., Hafler D.A. and Weiner H.L. (1994) Regulatory T cell clones induced by oral tolerance: suppression of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Science 265: 1237-1240.
- Cher D. and Mosmann T. (1987) Two types of murine helper T cell clone. II. Delayed type hypersensitivity is mediated by T<sub>H</sub>1 clones. J Immunol 138: 3688-3694.
- Coffman R.L., Seymour B.W.P., Lebman D.A., Hiraki D.D., Christiansen J.A., Schrader B., Cherwinski H.M., Savelkoul H.F.J., Finkelman F.D., Bond M.W. and Mosmann T.R. (1988) The role of helper T cell products in mouse B cell differentiation and isotype regulation. Immunol Rev 102: 5-28.
- Costello R., Brailly H., Mallet F., Mawas C. and Olive D. (1993) Interleukin-7 is a potent co-stimulus of the adhesion pathway involving CD2 and CD28 molecules. Immunology 80: 451-457.
- Coulie P.G., Brichard V., Van Pel A., Wölfel T., Schneider J., Traversari C., Mattei S., De Plaen E., Lurquin C., Szikova J.P., Renauld J.C. and Boon T. (1994) A new gene coding for a differentiation antigen recognized by autologous cytolytic T lymphocytes on HLA-A2 melanomas. J Exp Med 180: 35-42.
- Coulie P.G., Karanikas V., Lurquin C., Colan D., Connerotte T., Hanagiri T., Van Pel A., Lucas S., Godelaine D., Lonchay C., Marchand M., van Baren N. and Boon T. (2002) Cytolytic T-cell responses of cancer patients vaccinated with MAGE antigen. Immunol Rev 188: 33-34.
- Coussens L., Yang-Feng T.L., Liao Y.C., Chen E., Gray A., McGrath J., Seeburg P.H., Libermann T.A., Schlessinger J., Francke U., Levinson A. and Ullrich A. (1985) Tyrosine kinase receptor with extensive homology to EGF receptor shares chromosomal location with neu oncogene. Science 230: 1132-1139.
- Critchfield J.M., Racke M.K., Zuniga-Plucker J.C., Cannella B., Raine C.S., Goverman J. and Lenardo M.J. (1994) T cell deletion in high antigen dose therapy of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Science 263: 1139-1143.
- Danke N.A., Koelle D.M., Yee C., Beheray S. and Kwok W.W. (2004) Autoreactive T cells in healthy individuals. J Immunol 172: 5967-5972.
- de Waal Malefyt R., Verma S., Bejarano M.T., Ranes-Goldberg M., Hill M. and Spits H. (1993) CD2/LFA-3 or LFA-1/ICAM-1 but not CD28/B7 interactions can augment cytotoxicity by virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol 23: 418-424.
- Di Fiore P.P., Pierce J.H., Kraus M.H., Segatto O., King C.R. and Aaronson S.A. (1987) erbB-2 is a potent oncogene when overexpressed in NIH/3T3 cells. Science 237: 178-182.
- Disis M.L., Calenoff E., McLaughlin G., Murphy A.E., Chen W., Groner B., Jeschke M., Lydon N., McGlynn E., Livingston R.B., Moe R. and Cheever M.A. (1994a) Existent T-cell and antibody

immunity to HER-2/neu protein in patients with breast cancer. Cancer Res 54: 16-20.

- Disis M.L., Schiffman K., Guthrie K., Salazar L.G., Knutson K.L., Goodell V., dela Rosa C. and Cheever M.A. (2004) Effect of dose on immune response in patients vaccinated with HER-2/neu intracellular domain protein-based vaccine. J Clin Oncol 22: 1916-1925.
- Disis M.L., Smith J.W., Murphy A.E., Chen W. and Cheever M.A. (1994b) In vitro generation of human cytolytic T-cells specific for peptides derived from the HER-2/neu protooncogene protein. Cancer Res 54: 1071-1076.
- Egwuagu C.E., Charukamnoetkanok P. and Gery I. (1997) Thymic expression of autoantigens correlates with resistance to autoimmune disease. J Immunol 7: 3109-3112.
- Engering A.J., Cella M., Fluitsma D., Brockhaus M., Hoefsmit E.C., Lanzavecchia A. and Pieters J. (1997) The mannose receptor functions as a high capacity and broad specificity antigen receptor in human dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol 27: 2417-2425.
- Evan G. and Littlewood T. (1998) A matter of life and cell death. Science 281: 1317-1322.
- Evavold B.D., Sloan-Lancaster J., Hsu B.L. and Allen P.M. (1993) Separation of T helper 1 clone cytolysis from proliferation and lymphokine production using analog peptides. J Immunol 150: 3131-3140.
- Fajac A., Bernard J. and Lhomme C. (1995) c-erbB2 gene amplification and protein expression in ovarian epithelial tumors: evaluation of their respective prognostic significance by multivariate analysis. Int J Cancer 64: 146-151.
- Fallarino F., Grohmann U., Bianchi R., Vacca C., Fioretti M.C. and Puccetti P. (2000) Th1 and Th2 cell clones to a poorly immunogenic tumor antigen initiate CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell-dependent tumor eradication in vivo. J Immunol 165: 5495-5501.
- Faure F., Even J. and Kourilsky P. (1998) Tumor-specific immune response: current in vitro analyses may not reflect the in vivo immune status. Crit Rev Immunol 18: 77-86.
- Ferenczi K., Burack L., Pope M., Krueger J.G. and Austin L.M. (2000) CD69, HLA-DR and the IL-2R identify persistently activated T cells in psoriasis vulgaris lesional skin: blood and skin comparisons by flow cytometry. J Autoimmun 14: 63-78.
- Finn P.W., He H., Wang Y., Wang Z., Guan G., Listman J. and Perkins D.L. (1997) Synergistic induction of CTLA-4 expression by costimulation with TCR plus CD28 signals mediated by increased transcription and messenger ribonucleic acid stability. J Immunol 158: 4074-4081.
- Fisk B., Anderson B.W., Gravitt K.R., O'Brian C.A., Kudelka A.P., Murray J.L., Wharton J.T. and Ioannides C.G. (1997) Identification of naturally processed human ovarian peptides recognized by tumor-associated cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Cancer Res 57: 87-93.
- Fisk B., Blevins T.L., Wharton J.T. and Ioannides C.G. (1995) Identification of an immunodominant peptide of HER-2/neu protooncogene recognized by ovarian tumor-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte lines. J Exp Med 181: 2109-2117.
- Fisk B., Chesack B., Pollack M.S., Wharton J.T. and Ioannides C.G. (1994) Oligopeptide induction of a cytotoxic T lymphocyte response to HER-2/neu proto-oncogene in vitro. Cell Immunol 157: 415-427.
- Flores-Romo L. (2001) In vivo maturation and migration of dendritic cells. Immunology 102: 255-262.
- Fujii Y., Okumura M. and Yamamoto S. (1999) Flow cytometric study of lymphocytes associated with thymoma and other thymic tumors. J Surg Res 82: 312-318.
- Fujinami R.S., Oldstone M.B.A., Wroblewska Z., Frankel M.E. and Koprowski H. (1983) Molecular mimicry in virus infection: crossreaction of measles virus phosphoprotein or of herpes simplex virus protein with human intermediate filaments. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 80: 2346-2350.
- Gajewski T.F., Fields P. and Fitch F. (1995) Induction of the increased Fyn kinase activity in anergic T helper type 1 clones requires calcium and protein synthesis and is sensitive to cyclosporin A. Eur

J Immunol 25: 1836-1842.

- Gao F.G., Khammanivong V., Liu W.J., Leggatt G.R., Frazer I.H. and Fernando G.J. (2002) Antigenspecific CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell help is required to activate a memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell to a fully functional tumor killer cell. Cancer Res 62: 6438-6441.
- Garcia K.C., Degano M., Pease L.R., Huang M., Peterson P.A., Teyton L. and Wilson I.A. (1998) Structural basis of plasticity in T cell receptor recognition of a self peptide-MHC antigen. Science 279: 1166-1172.
- Germain R.N. (2002) T-cell development and the CD4-CD8 lineage decision. Nat Rev Immunol 2: 309-322.
- Germain R.N. and Stefanova I. (1999) The dynamics of T cell receptor signaling: complex orchestration and the key roles of tempo and cooperation. Annu Rev Immunol 17: 467-522.
- Giblin P., Ledbetter J.A. and Kavathas P. (1989) A secreted form of the human lymphocyte cell surface molecule CD8 arises from alternative splicing. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86: 998-1002.
- Gnjatic S., Atanackovic D., Jäger E., Matsuo M., Selvakumar A., Altorki N.K., Magi R.G., Dupont B., Ritter G., Chen Y.T., Knuth A. and Old L.J. (2003) Survey of naturally occurring CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell responses against NY-ESO-1 in cancer patients: correlation with antibody responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100: 8862-8867.
- Goldrath A.W. and Bevan M.J. (1999) Selecting and maintaining a diverse T-cell repertoire. Nature 402: 255-262.
- Greenberg P.D. (1986) Therapy of murine leukemia with cyclophosphamide and immune Lyt-2<sup>+</sup> cells: cytolytic T cells can mediate eradication of disseminated leukemia. J Immunol 136: 1917-1922.
- Greenberg P.D., Kern D.E. and Cheever M.A. (1985) Therapy of disseminated murine leukemia with cyclophosphamide and immune Lyt-1<sup>+</sup>, 2<sup>-</sup> T cells. Tumor eradication does not require participation of cytotoxic T cells. J Exp Med 161: 1122-1134.
- Grewal I.S. and Flavell R.A. (1998) CD40 and CD154 in cell-mediated immunity. Annu Rev Immunol 16: 111-135.
- Grimmi C.D., Freeman G.J., Gribben J.G., Gray G. and Nadler L.M. (1993) Human T-cell clonal anergy is induced by antigen presentation in the absence of B7 costimulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90: 6586-6590.
- Groves T., Smiley P., Cooke M.P., Forbush K., Perlmutter R.M. and Guidos C.J. (1996) Fyn can partially substitute for Lck in T lymphocyte development. Immunity 5: 417-428.
- Hanson H.L., Donermeyer D.L., Ikeda H., White J.M., Shankaran V., Old L.J., Shiku H., Schreiber R.D. and Allen P.M. (2000) Eradication of established tumors by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell adoptive immunotherapy. Immunity 13: 265-276.
- Harding F.A., McArthur J.G., Gross J.A., Raulet D.H. and Allison J.P. (1992) CD28-mediated signalling co-stimulates murine T cells and prevents induction of anergy in T cell clones. Nature 356: 607-609.
- Hawiger D., Masilamani R.F., Bettelli E., Kuchroo V.K. and Nussenzweig M.C. (2004) Immunological unresponsiveness characterized by increased expression of CD5 on peripheral T cells induced by dendritic cells in vivo. Immunity 20: 695-705.
- Heiser A., Maurice M.A., Yancey D.R., Coleman D.M., Dahm P. and Vieweg J. (2001) Human dendritic cells transfected with renal tumor RNA stimulate polyclonal T-cell responses against antigens expressed by primary and metastatic tumors. Cancer Res 61: 3388-3393.
- Hemmer B., Stefanova I., Vergelli M., Germain R. and Martin R. (1998) Relationships among TCR ligand potency, thresholds for effector function elicitation, and the quality of early signaling events in human T cells. J Immunol 160: 5807-5814.

- Hendriks J., Gravestein L.A., Tesselaar K., van Lier R.A.W., Schumacher T.N.M. and Borst J. (2000) CD27 is required for generation and long-term maintenance of T cell immunity. Nat Immunol 1: 433-440.
- Hendriks J., Xiao Y. and Borst J. (2003) CD27 promotes survival of activated T cells and complements CD28 in generation and establishment of the effector T cell pool. J Exp Med 198: 1369-1380.
- Herr W., Schneider J., Lohse A.W., Meyer zum Büschenfelde K.H. and Wölfel T. (1996) Detection and quantification of blood-derived CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes secreting tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  in response to HLA-A2.1-binding melanoma and viral peptide antigens. J Immunol Methods 191: 131-142.
- Heufler C., Koch F., Stranzl U., Topar G., Wysocka M., Trinchieri G., Enk A., Steinman R.M., Romani N. and Schuler G. (1996) Interleukin-12 is produced by dendritic cells and mediates T helper 1 development as well as interferon-γ production by T helper 1 cells. J Immunol 26: 659-668.
- He Y.W., Nakajima H., Leonard W.J., Adkins B. and Malek T.R. (1997) The common γ-chain of cytokine receptors regulates intrathymic T cell development at multiple stages. J Immunol 158: 2592-2599.
- Hiltbold E.M., Vlad A.M., Ciborowski P., Watkins S.C. and Finn O.J. (2000) The mechanism of unresponsiveness to circulating tumor antigen MUC1 is a block in intracellular sorting and processing by dendritic cells. J Immunol 165: 3730-3741.
- Holler P.D., Chlewicki L.K. and Kranz D.M. (2003) TCRs with high affinity for foreign pMHC show self-reactivity. Nat Immunol 4: 55-62.
- Holler P.D. and Kranz D.M. (2003) Quantitative analysis of the contribution of TCR/pepMHC affinity and CD8 to T cell activation. Immunity 18: 255-264.
- Holler P.D. and Kranz D.M. (2004) T cell receptors: affinities, cross-reactivities, and a conformer model. Mol Immunol 40: 1027-1031.
- Huang H., Li F., Gordon J.R. and Xiang J. (2002) Synergistic enhancement of antitumor immunity with adoptively transferred tumor-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and intratumoral lymphotactin transgene expression. Cancer Res 62: 2043-2051.
- Huang J., Tilly D., Altman A., Sugie K. and Grey H.M. (2000) T-cell receptor antagonists induce Vav phosphorylation by selective activation of Fyn kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97: 10923-10929.
- Huard B. and Karlsson L. (2000) A subpopulation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells specific for melanocyte differentiation antigens expresses killer inhibitory receptors (KIR) in healthy donors: evidence for a role of KIR in the control of peripheral tolerance. Eur J Immunol 30: 1665-1675.
- Hudziak R.M., Schlessinger J. and Ullrich A. (1987) Increased expression of the putative growth factor receptor p185<sup>HER2</sup> causes transformation and tumorigenesis of NIH 3T3 cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84: 7159-7163.
- Hynes N.E. and Stern D.F. (1994) The biology of erbB-2/neu/HER-2 and its role in cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1198: 165-184.
- Inaba K., Inaba M., Romani N., Aya H., Deguchi M., Ikehara S., Muramatsu S. and Steinman R.M. (1992) Generation of large numbers of dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow cultures supplemented with granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor. J Exp Med 176: 1693-1702.
- Irvine D.J., Purbhoo M.A., Krogsgaard M. and Davis M.M. (2002) Direct observation of ligand recognition by T cells. Nature 419: 845-849.
- Jäger E., Chen Y.T., Drijfhout J.W., Karbach J., Ringhoffer M., Jäger D., Arand M., Wada H., Noguchi Y., Stockert E., Old L.J. and Knuth A. (1998) Simultaneous humoral and cellular immune response against cancer-testis antigen NY-ESO-1: definition of human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen (HLA)-A2-binding peptide epitopes. J Exp Med 187: 265-270.
- Jäger E., Ringhoffer M., Karbach J., Arand M., Oesch F. and Knuth A. (1996) Inverse relationship of melanocyte differentiation antigen expression in melanoma tissues and CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T-cell

responses: evidence for immunoselection of antigen-loss variants in vivo. Int J Cancer 66: 470-476.

- Jenkins M.K., Khoruts A., Ingulli E., Mueller D.L., McSorely S.J., Reinhardt R.L., Itano A. and Pape K.A. (2001) In vivo activation of antigen-specific CD4 T cells. Annu Rev Immunol 19: 23-45.
- Jiang W., Swiggard W.J., Heufler C., Peng M., Mirza A., Steinman R.M. and Nussenzweig M.C. (1995) The receptor DEC-205 expressed by dendritic cells and thymic epithelial cells is involved in antigen processing. Nature 375: 151-155.
- Jonuleit H., Kühn U., Müller G., Steinbrink K., Paragnik L., Schmitt E., Knop J. and Enk A.H. (1997) Pro-inflammatory cytokines and prostaglandins induce maturation of potent immunostimulatory dendritic cells under fetal calf serum-free conditions. Eur J Immunol 27: 3135-3142.
- Ju S.T., Panka D.J., Cui H., Ettinger R., el-Khatib M., Sherr D.H., Stanger B.Z. and Marshak-Rothstein A. (1995) Fas(CD95)/FasL interactions required for programmed cell death after T-cell activation. Nature 373: 444-448.
- Kabelitz D., Pohl T. and Pechhold K. (1993) Activation-induced cell death (apoptosis) of mature peripheral T lymphocytes. Immunol Today 14: 338-339.
- Kamradt T. and Mitchison N.A. (2001) Tolerance and autoimmunity. N Engl J Med 344: 655-664.
- Kamrath T., Soloway P.D., Perkins D.L. and Gefter M.L. (1991) Pertussis toxin prevents the induction of peripheral T cell anergy and enhances the T cell response to an encephalitogenic peptide of myelin basic protein. J Immunol 147: 3296-3302.
- Kappler J.W., Roehm N. and Marrack P. (1987) T cell tolerance by clonal elimination in the thymus. Cell 49: 273-280.
- Kato T., Yamane H. and Nariuchi H. (1997) Differential effects of LPS and CD40 ligand on the induction of IL-12 production by dendritic cells and macrophages. Cell Immunol 181: 59-67.
- Kayagaki N., Yamaguchi N., Nakayama M., Kawasaki A., Akiba H., Okumura K. and Yagita H. (1999) Involvement of TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in human CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell mediated cytotoxicity. J Immunol 162: 2639-2646.
- Kelsall B.L., Struber E., Neurath M. and Strober W. (1996) Interleukin-12 production by dendritic cells. The role of CD40-CD40L interactions in Th1 T-cell responses. Ann N Y Acad Sci 795: 116-126.
- Kern J.A., Schwartz D.A., Nordberg J.E., Weiner D.B., Greene M.I., Torney L. and Robinson R.A. (1990) p185neu expression in human lung adenocarcinomas predicts shortened survival. Cancer Res 50: 5184-5191.
- Kersh G.J. and Allen P.M. (1996) Structural basis for T cell recognition of altered peptide ligands: a single T cell receptor can productively recognize a large continuum of related ligands. J Exp Med 184: 1259-1268.
- Khanna R., Burrows S.R., Silius S.L., Moss D.J., Poulsen L.M. and Burrows J.M. (1996) Cytotoxic Tlymphocyte clones specific for an immunodominant epitope displaying discerning antagonistic response to naturally occurring Epstein-Barr virus variants. J Virol 70: 7306-7311.
- Killar L., MacDonald G., West J., Woods A. and Bottomly K. (1987) Cloned Ia restricted T cells that do not produce interleukin 4 (IL4)/B cell stimulatory factor 1 (BSF-1) fail to help antigen specific B cells. J Immunol 138: 1674-1679.
- Kim J., Woods A., Becker-Dunn E. and Bottomly K. (1985) Distinct functional phenotypes of cloned Ia-restricted helper T cells. J Exp Med 162: 188-201.
- Kim S.V. and Flavell R.A. (2004) CD8aa and T cell memory. Science 304: 529-530.
- Kirkin A.F., thor Straten P., Hansen M.R., Barfoed A., Dzhandzhugazyan K.N. and Zeuthen J. (1999) Establishment of gp100 and MART-1/Melan-A-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte clones using in vitro immunization against preselected highly immunogenic melanoma cell clones. Cancer Immunol

Immunother 48: 239-246.

- Kitze B., Pette M., Rohrbach E., Stadt D., Kappos L. and Wekerle H. (1988) Myelin-specific T lymphocytes in multiple sclerosis patients and healthy individuals. J Neuroimmunol 20: 237.
- Klein L., Klugmann M., Nave K.A., Tuohy V.K. and Kyewski B. (2000) Shaping of the autoreactive Tcell repertoire by a splice variant of self protein expressed in thymic epithelial cells. Nat Med 6: 56-61.
- Klenerman P., Rowland-Jones S., McAdam S., Edwards J., Daenke S., Lalloo D., Köppe B., Rosenberg W., Boyd D., Edwards A., Giangrande P., Phillips R.E. and McMichael A.J. (1994) Cytotoxic Tcell activity antagonized by naturally occurring HIV-1 Gag variants. Nature 369: 403-407.
- Klinman D.M., Yi A.K., Beaucage S.L., Conover J. and Krieg A.M. (1996) CpG motifs present in bacteria DNA rapidly induce lymphocytes to secrete interleukin 6, interleukin 12, and interferon γ. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93: 2879-2883.
- Knutson K.L., Almand B., Mankoff D.A., Schiffman K. and Disis M.L. (2002) Adoptive T-cell therapy for the treatment of solid tumours. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2: 55-66.
- Knutson K.L., Schiffman K. and Disis M.L. (2001) Immunization with a HER-2/neu helper peptide vaccine generates HER-2/neu CD8 T-cell immunity in cancer patients. J Clin Invest 107: 477-484.
- Kobayashi H., Wood M., Song Y., Appella E. and Celis E. (2000) Defining promiscuous MHC class II helper T-cell epitopes for the HER2/neu tumor antigen. Cancer Res 60: 5228-5236.
- Kohm A.P., Fuller K.G. and Miller S.D. (2003) Mimicking the way to autoimmunity: an evolving theory of sequence and structural homology. Trends Microbiol 11: 101-105.
- Koulova L., Clark E.A., Shu G. and Dupont B. (1991) The CD28 ligand B7/BB1 provides costimulatory signal for alloactivation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. J Exp Med 173: 759-762.
- Kuchroo V.K., Greer J.M., Kaul D., Ishioka G., Franco A., Sette A., Sobel R.A. and Lees M.B. (1994) A single TCR antagonist peptide inhibits experimental allergic encephalomyelitis mediated by a diverse T cell repertoire. J Immunol 153: 3326-3336.
- Laemmli U.K. (1970) Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227: 680-685.
- La Face D.M., Couture C., Anderson K., Shih G., Alexander J., Sette A., Mustelin T., Altman A. and Grey H.M. (1997) Differential T cell signaling induced by antagonist peptide-MHC complexes and the associated phenotypic responses. J Immunol 158: 2057-2064.
- Lanzavecchia A. (1996) Mechanisms of antigen uptake for presentation. Curr Opin Immunol 8: 348-354.
- Leitzel K., Teramoto Y., Konrad K., Chinchilli V.M., Volas G., Grossberg H., Harvey H., Demers L. and Lipton A. (1995) Elevated serum c-erbB-2 antigen levels and decreased response to hormone therapy of breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 13: 1129-1135.
- Lenschow D.J., Walunas T.L. and Bluestone J.A. (1996) CD28/B7 system of T cell costimulation. Annu Rev Immunol 14: 233-258.
- Liblau R., Tournier-Lasserve E., Maciazek J., Dumas G., Siffert O., Hashim G. and Bach M.A. (1991) T cell response to myelin basic protein epitopes in multiple sclerosis patients and healthy subjects. Eur J Immunol 21: 1391-1395.
- Linehan D.C., Goedegebuure P.S., Peoples G.E., Rogers S.O. and Eberlein T.J. (1995) Tumor-specific and HLA-A2-restricted cytolysis by tumor-associated lymphocytes in human metastatic breast cancer. J Immunol 155: 4486-4491.
- Liu G.Y., Fairchild P.J., Smith R.M., Prowle J.R., Kioussis D. and Wraith D.C. (1995) Low avidity recognition of self-antigen by T cells permits escape from central tolerance. Immunity 3: 407-415.

- Lucas B., Stefanova I., Yasutomo Y., Dautigny N. and Germain R.N. (1999) Divergent changes in the sensitivity of maturing T cells to structurally related ligands underlies formation of a useful T cell repertoire. Immunity 10: 367-376.
- Macatonia S.E., Hosken N.A., Litton M., Vieira P., Hsieh C.Y., Culpepper J.A., Wysocka M., Trinchieri G., Murphy K.M. and O'Garra A. (1995) Dendritic cells produce IL-12 and direct the development of Th1 cells from naive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. J Immunol 154: 5071-5079.
- Mackay C.R. (1993) Homing of naive, memory and effector lymphocytes. Curr Opin Immunol 5: 423-427.
- Mackey M.F., Gunn J.R., Maliszewsky C., Kikutani H., Noelle R.J. and Barth R.J. Jr. (1998) Dendritic cells require maturation via CD40 to generate protective antitumor immunity. J Immunol 161: 2094-2098.
- Madakamutil L.T., Christen U., Lena C.J., Wang-Zhu Y., Attinger A., Sundarrajan M., Ellmeier W., von Herrath M.G., Jensen P., Littman D.R. and Cheroutre H. (2004) CD8αα-mediated survival and differentiation of CD8 memory T cell precursors. Science 304: 590-593.
- Madrenas J., Chau L.A., Smith J., Bluestone J.A. and Germain R.N. (1997) The efficiency of CD4 recruitment to ligand-engaged TCR controls the agonist/partial agonist properties of peptide-MHC molecule ligands. J Exp Med 185: 219-229.
- Madrenas J., Wange R.L., Wang J.L., Isakov N., Samelson L.E. and Germain R.N. (1995) Zeta phosphorylation without ZAP-70 activation induced by TCR antagonists or partial agonists. Science 267: 515-518.
- Maggi E., Parronchi P., Manetti R., Simonelli C., Piccinni M.P., Rugiu F.S., De Carli M., Ricci M. and Romagnani S. (1992) Reciprocal regulatory effects of IFN-γ and IL-4 on the in vitro development of human Th1 and Th2 clones. J Immunol 148: 2142-2147.
- Mamula M.J. and Craft J. (1994) The expression of self antigenic determinants: implications for tolerance and autoimmunity. Curr Opin Immunol 6: 882-886.
- Marzo A.L., Kinnear B.F., Lake R.A., Frelinger J.J., Collins E.J., Robinson B.W. and Scott B. (2000) Tumor-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have a major "post-licensing" role in CTL mediated anti-tumor immunity. J Immunol 165: 6047-6055.
- Mazza G., Ponsford M., Lowrey P., Campbell M.J., Zajicek J. and Wraith D.C. (2002) Diversity and dynamics of the T-cell response to MBP in DR2+ve individuals. Clin Exp Immunol 128: 538-547.
- Mentzer S.J., Smith B.R., Barbosa J.A., Crimmins M.A., Herrmann S.H. and Burakoff S.J. (1987) CTL adhesion and antigen recognition are discrete steps in the human CTL-target cell interaction. J Immunol 138: 1325-1330.
- Milich D.R., Jones J.E., McLachlan A., Houghton R., Thornton G.B. and Hughes J.L. (1989) Distinction between immunogenicity and tolerogenicity among HBcAg T cell determinants. Influence of peptide-MHC interaction. J Immunol 143: 3148-3156.
- Miller S.D., Vanderlugt C.L., Begolka W.S., Pao W., Yauch R.L., Neville K.L., Katz-Levy Y., Carrizosa A. and Kim B.S. (1997) Persistent infection with Theiler's virus leads to CNS autoimmunity via epitope spreading. Nat Med 3: 1133-1136.
- Mingari M.C., Schiavetti F., Ponte M., Vitale C., Maggi E., Romagnani S., Demarest J., Pantaleo G., Fauci A.S. and Moretta L. (1996) Human CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocyte subsets that express HLA class Ispecific inhibitory receptors represent oligoclonally or monoclonally expanded cell populations. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93: 12433-12438.
- Moiola L., Protti M.P., Manfredi A.A., Yuen M.H., Howard J.F. Jr. and Conti-Tronconi B.M. (1993) Thelper epitopes on human nicotinic acetylcholine receptor in myasthenia gravis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 681: 198-218.

Mosmann T.R., Cherwinski H., Bond M.W., Giedlin M.A. and Coffman R.L. (1986) Two types of murine

helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. J Immunol 136: 2348-2357.

- Mumberg D., Monach P.A., Wanderling S., Philip M., Toledano A.Y., Schreiber R.D. and Schreiber H. (1999) CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells eliminate MHC class II-negative cancer cells in vivo by indirect effects of IFN-γ. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96: 8633-8638.
- Murphy G.P., Tjoa B.A., Simmons S.J., Jarisch J., Bowes V.A., Ragde H., Rogers M., Elgamal A., Kenny G.M., Cobb O.E., Ireton R.C., Troychak M.J., Salgaller M.L. and Boynton A.L. (1999) Infusion of dendritic cells pulsed with HLA-A2-specific prostate-specific membrane antigen peptides: a phase II prostate cancer vaccine trial involving patients with hormone-refractory metastatic disease. Prostate 38: 73-78.
- Mustelin T. and Tasken K. (2003) Positive and negative regulation of T-cell activation through kinases and phosphatases. Biochem J 371: 15-27.
- Nakajima H. and Leonard W.J. (1999) Role of Bcl-2 in αβ T cell development in mice deficient in the common cytokine γ-chain: the requirement for Bcl-2 differs depending on the TCR/MHC affinity. J Immunol 162: 782-790.
- Naquet P., Ellis J., Tibensky D., Kenshole A., Singh B., Hodges R. and Delovitch T.L. (1988) T cell autoreactivity to insulin in diabetic and related non-diabetic individuals. J Immunol 140: 2569-2578.
- Nascimbeni M., Shin E.C., Chiriboga L., Kleiner D.E. and Rehermann B. (2004) Peripheral CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are differentiated effector memory cells with antiviral functions. Blood 104: 478-486.
- Niehans G.A., Singleton T.P., Dykoski D. and Kiang D.T. (1993) Stability of HER-2/neu expression over time and at multiple metastatic sites. J Natl Cancer Inst 85: 1230-1235.
- Nishida T., Matsuki Y., Ono T., Oguma T., Tsujimoto K., Sato M. and Tadakuma T. (2004) The novel murine CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> thymocyte cell line exhibits lineage commitment into both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells by altering the intensity and the duration of anti-CD3 stimulation in vitro. J Immunol 172: 6634-6641.
- Nishimura T., Nakui M., Sato M., Iwakabe K., Kitamura H., Sekimoto M., Ohta A., Koda T. and Nishimura S. (2000) The critical role of Th1-dominant immunity in tumor immunology. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 46: S52-61.
- Norment A.M., Lonberg N., Lacy E. and Littman D.R. (1989) Alternatively spliced mRNA encodes a secreted form of human CD8α. Characterization of the human CD8α gene. J Immunol 142: 3312-3319.
- Nouri-Shirazi M., Banchereau J., Bell D., Burkeholder S., Kraus E.T., Davoust J. and Palucka K.A. (2000) Dendritic cells capture killed tumor cells and present their antigens to elicit tumor-specific immune responses. J Immunol 165: 3797-3803.
- Ortolani C., Forti E., Radin E., Cibin R. and Cossarizza A. (1993) Cytofluorimetric identification of two populations of double positive (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>) T lymphocytes in human peripheral blood. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 191: 601-609.
- Ossendorp F., Mengede E., Camps M., Filius R. and Melief C.J. (1998) Specific T helper cell requirement for optimal induction of cytotoxic T lymphocytes against major histocompatibility complex class II negative tumors. J Exp Med 187: 693-702.
- Ota K., Matsui M., Milford E.L., Mackin G.A., Weiner H.L. and Hafler D.A. (1990) T-cell recognition of an immunodominant myelin basic protein in multiple sclerosis. Nature 346: 183-187.
- Paliard X., Malefijt R.W., de Vries J.E. and Spits H. (1988) Interleukin-4 mediates CD8 induction on human CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell clones. Nature 335: 642-644.
- Pauletti G, Daudekar S., Rong H.M., Ramos L., Peng H.J., Seshadri R. and Slamon D.J. (2000) Assessment of methods for tissue-based detection of the HER-2/neu alteration in human breast cancer: a direct
comparison of fluorescence in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry. J Clin Oncol 18: 3651-3664.

- Peoples G.E., Goedegebuure P.S., Smith R., Linehan D.C., Yoshino I. and Eberlein T.J. (1995) Breast and ovarian cancer-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes recognize the same HER2/neu-derived peptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92: 432-436.
- Perez-Villar J.J., Whitney G.S., Bowen M.A., Hewgill D.H., Aruffo A.A. and Kanner S.B. (1999) CD5 negatively regulates the T-cell antigen receptor signal transduction pathway: Involvement of SH2-containing phosphotyrosine phosphatase SHP-1. Mol Cell Biol 19: 2903-2912.
- Perron H., Garson J.A., Bedin F., Beseme F., Paranhos-Baccala G., Komurian-Pradel F., Mallet F., Tuke P.W., Voisset C., Blond J.L., Lalande B., Seigneurin J.M. and Mandrand B. (1997) Molecular identification of a novel retrovirus repeatedly isolated from patients with multiple sclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94: 7583-7588.
- Peterson K.E., Sharp G.C., Tang H. and Braley-Mullen H. (1999) B7.2 has opposing roles during the activation versus effector stages of experimental autoimmune thyroiditis. J Immunol 162: 1859-1867.
- Piatier-Tonneau D. (1998) CD4 workshop panel report. In: Leukocyte Typing VI. White Cell Differentiation Antigens. Kishimoto T. et al., eds. Garland Publishing Inc, New York: 49-54.
- Pugliese A., Zeller M., Fernandez A. Jr., Zalcberg L.J., Bartlett R.J., Ricordi C., Pietropaolo M., Eisenbarth G.S., Bennett S.T. and Patel D.D. (1997) The insulin gene is transcribed in the human thymus and transcription levels correlated with allelic variation at the INS VNTR-IDDM2 susceptibility locus for type 1 diabetes. Nat Genet 15: 293-297.
- Qin Z. and Blankenstein T. (2000) CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated tumor rejection involves inhibition of angiogenesis that is dependent on IFNγ receptor expression by nonhematopoietic cells. Immunity 12: 677-686.
- Ramsdell F., Lantz T. and Fowlkes B.J. (1989) A nondeletional mechanism of thymic self tolerance. Science 246: 1038-1041.
- Ravetch J.V. and Lanier L.L. (2000) Immune inhibitory receptors. Science 290: 84-89.
- Reiser H. and Stadecker M.J. (1996) Costimulatory B7 molecules in the pathogenesis of infectious and autoimmune diseases. N Engl J Med 335: 1369-1377.
- Reiser J.B., Darnault C., Gregoire C., Mosser T., Mazza G., Kearney A., van der Merwe P.A., Fontecilla-Camps J.C., Housset D. and Malissen B. (2003) CDR3 loop flexibility contributes to the degeneracy of TCR recognition. Nat Immunol 4: 241-247.
- Renard V., Romero P., Vivier E., Malissen B. and Luescher I.F. (1996) CD8β increases CD8 coreceptor function and participation in TCR-ligand binding. J Exp Med 184: 2439-2444.
- Ridge J.P., Rosa F.D. and Matzinger P. (1998) A conditioned dendritic cell can be temporal bridge between a CD4<sup>+</sup> T-helper and T-killer cell. Nature 393: 474-478.
- Romagnani S. (1995) Biology of human TH1 and TH2 cells. J Clin Immunol 15: 121-129.
- Romani N., Reider D., Heuer M., Ebner S., Kämpgen E., Eibl B., Niederwieser D. and Schuler G. (1996) Generation of mature dendritic cells from human blood. An improved method with special regard to clinical applicability. J Immunol Methods 196: 137-151.
- Rooney C.M., Smith C.A., Ng C.Y., Loftin S., Li C., Krance R.A., Brenner M.K. and Heslop H.E. (1995) Use of gene-modified virus-specific T lymphocytes to control Epstein-Barr-virus-related lymphoproliferation. Lancet 345: 9-13.
- Roskrow M.A., Suzuki N., Gan Y., Sixbey J.W., Ng C.Y., Kimbrough S., Hudson M., Brenner M.K., Heslop H.E. and Rooney C.M. (1998) Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes for the treatment of patients with EBV-positive relapsed Hodgkin's disease. Blood 91: 2925-2934.

- Russo V., Tanzarella S., Dalerba P., Rigatti D., Rovere P., Villa A., Bordignon C. and Traversari C. (2000) Dendritic cells acquire the MAGE-3 human tumor antigen from apoptotic cells and induce a class I-restricted T cells response. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97: 2185-2190.
- Salaman M.R. (2003) A two-step hypothesis for the appearance of autoimmune disease. Autoimmunity 36: 57-61.
- Sallusto F., Cella M., Danieli C. and Lanzavecchia A. (1995) Dendritic cells use macropinocytosis and the mannose receptor to concentrate antigen to the MHC class II compartment. Downregulation by cytokines and bacterial products. J Exp Med 182: 389-400.
- Sallusto F. and Lanzavecchia A. (1994) Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor α. J Exp Med 179: 1109-1118.
- Sant'Angelo D.B., Waterbury P.G., Cohen B.E., Martin W.D., Van Kaer L., Hayday A.C. and Janeway C.A. (1997) The imprint of intrathymic self-peptides on the mature T cell receptor repertoire. Immunity 7: 517-524.
- Santori F.R., Brown S.M., Lu Y., Neubert T.A. and Vukmanovic S. (2001) Positive selection induced by a self-peptide with TCR antagonist activity. J Immunol 167: 6092-6095.
- Sauter B., Albert M.L., Francisco L., Larsson M., Somersan S. and Bhardwaj N. (2000) Consequences of cell death: exposure to necrotic tumor cells, but not primary tissue cells or apoptotic cells, induces the maturation of immunostimulatory dendritic cells. J Exp Med 191: 423-434.
- Sayegh M.H. and Turka L.A. (1998) The role of T-cell costimulatory activation pathways in transplant rejection. N Engl J Med 338: 1813-1821.
- Schmits R., Kundig T.M., Baker D.M., Shumaker G., Simard J.J., Duncan G., Wakeham A., Shahinian A., van der Heiden A., Bachmann M.F., Ohashi P.S., Mak T.W. and Hickstein D.D. (1996) LFA-1-deficient mice show normal CTL responses to virus but fail to reject immunogenic tumor. J Exp Med 183: 1415-1426.
- Schoenberger S.P., Toes R.E., van der Voort E.I., Offringa R. and Melief C.J. (1998) T-cell help for cytotoxic T lymphocytes is mediated by CD40-CD40L interactions. Nature 393: 480-483.
- Sebzda E., Wallace V.A., Mayer J., Yeung R.S., Mak T.W. and Ohashi P.S. (1994) Positive and negative thymocyte selection induced by different concentrations of a single peptide. Science 263: 1615-1618.
- Sensi M., Traversari C., Radrizzani M., Salvi S., Maccalli C., Mortarini R., Rivoltini L., Farina C., Nicolini G., Wölfel T., Brichard V., Boon T., Bordignon C., Anichini A. and Parmiani G. (1995) Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte clones from different patients display limited T-cell-receptor variableregion gene usage in HLA-A2-restricted recognition of the melanoma antigen Melan-A/MART-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92: 5674-5678.
- Sewell A.K., Gerth U.C., Price D.A., Purboo M.A., Boulter J.M., Gao G.F., Bell J.I., Phillips R.E. and Jakobsen B.K. (1999) Antagonism of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activation by soluble CD8. Nat Med 5: 399-404.
- Shu S.Y. and Rosenberg S.A. (1985) Adoptive immunotherapy of newly induced murine sarcomas. Cancer Res 45: 1657-1662.
- Singer A. (2002) New perspectives on a development dilemma: the kinetic signaling model and the importance of signal duration for the CD4/CD8 lineage decision. Curr Opin Immunol 14: 207-215.
- Singer A., Bosselut R. and Bhandoola A. (1999) Signals involved in CD4/CD8 lineage commitment: current concepts and potential mechanisms. Semin Immunol 11: 273-281.
- Slamon D.J. and Clark G.M. (1988) Amplification of c-erbB-2 and aggressive human breast tumors? Science 240: 1795-1798.

- Slamon D.J., Clark G.M., Wong S.C., Levin W.J., Ullrich A. and McGuire W.L. (1987) Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER2/neu oncogene. Science 235: 177-182.
- Slamon D.J., Godolphin W., Jones L.A., Holt J.A., Wong S.G., Keith D.E., Levin W.J., Stuart S.G., Udove J., Ullrich A. and Press M.F. (1989) Studies of the HER-2/neu proto-oncogene in human breast and ovarian cancer. Science 244: 707-712.
- Sloan-Lancaster J., Shaw A.S., Rothbard J.B. and Allen P.M. (1994) Partial T cell signaling: altered phospho-zeta and lack of Zap70 recruitment in APL-induced T cell anergy. Cell 79: 913-922.
- Smith K.A. (1988) Interleukin-2: inception, impact, and implications. Science 240: 1169-1176.
- Smits H.H., de Jong E.C., Schuitemaker J.H., Geijtenbeek T.B., van Kooyk Y., Kapsenberg M.L. and Wierenga E.A. (2002) Intercellular adhesion molecule-1/LFA-1 ligation favors human Th1 development. J Immunol 168: 1710-1716.
- Snijders A., Kalinski P., Hilkens C.M. and Kapsenberg M.L. (1998) High-level IL-12 production by human dendritic cells requires two signals. Int Immunol 10: 1593-1598.
- Speiser D.E., Pittet M.J., Valmori D., Dunbar R., Rimoldi D., Lienard D., MacDonald H.R., Cerottini J.C., Cerundolo V. and Romero P. (1999) In vivo expression of natural killer cell inhibitory receptors by human melanoma-specific cytolytic T lymphocytes. J Exp Med 190: 775-782.
- Stalder T., Sinuhe H. and Erb P. (1994) Fas antigen is the major target molecule for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. J Immunol 152: 1127-1140.
- Steinman R.M. (1991) The dendritic cell system and its role in immunogenicity. Annu Rev Immunol 9: 271-279.
- Stout R. and Bottomly K. (1989) Antigen-specific activation of effector macrophages by IFN- $\gamma$  producing (T<sub>H</sub>1) T cell clones. Failure of IL-4-producing (T<sub>H</sub>2) T cell clones to activate effector function in macrophages. J Immunol 142: 760-765.
- Suhr C.D., Lee D.S., Fung-Leung W.P., Karlsson L. and Sprent J. (1997) Thymic selection by a single MHC/peptide ligand produces a semidivers repertoire of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells. Immunity 7: 209-219.
- Sullivan Y.B., Landay A.L., Zack J.A., Kitchen S.G. and Al-Harthi L. (2001) Upregulation of CD4 on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells: CD4<sup>dim</sup>CD8<sup>bright</sup> T cells constitute an activated phenotype of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. Immunology 103: 270-280.
- Suni M.A., Ghanekar S.A., Houck D.W., Maecker H.T., Wormsky S.B., Picker L.J., Moss R.B. and Maino V.C. (2001) CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>dim</sup> T lymphocytes exhibit enhanced cytokine expression, proliferation and cytotoxic activity in response to HCMV and HIV-1 antigens. Eur J Immunol 31: 2512-2520.
- Swain S.L. (1995) CD4 T cell development and cytokine polarization: an overview. J Leukoc Biol 57: 795-798.
- Sykulev Y., Joo M., Vturina I., Tsomides T.J. and Eisen H.N. (1996) Evidence that a single peptide-MHC complex on a target cell can elicit a cytolytic T cell response. Immunity 4: 565-571.
- Tandon N., Freeman M.A. and Weetman A.P. (1992) T cell responses to synthetic TSH receptor peptides in Graves' disease. Clin Exp Immunol 89: 468-473.
- Tarakhovsky A., Kanner S.B., Hombach J., Ledbetter J.A., Muller W., Killeen N. and Rajewsky K. (1995) A role for CD5 in TCR-mediated signal transduction and thymocyte selection. Science 269: 535-537.
- Tesselaar K., Arens R., van Schijndel G.M.W., Baars P.A., van der Valk M.A., Borst J., van Oers M.H.J. and van Lier R.A.W. (2003) Lethal T cell immunodeficiency induced by chronic costimulation via CD27/CD70 interactions. Nat Immunol 4: 49-54.
- Thor Straten P., Kirkin A.F., Siim E., Dahlstrom D., Drzewiecki K.T., Seremet T., Zenthen J., Becker J.C. and Guldberg P. (2000) Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) in melanoma comprise high

numbers of T-cell clonotypes that are lost during in vitro culture. Clin Immunol 96: 94-99.

- Thurner B., Haendle I., Röder C., Dieckmann D., Keikavoussi P., Jonuleit H., Bender A., Maczek C., Schreiner D., von den Driesch P., Bröcker E.B., Steinman R.M., Enk A., Kämpgen E. and Schuler G. (1999) Vaccination with mage-3A1 peptide-pulsed mature, monocyte-derived dendritic cells expands specific cytotoxic T cells and induces regression of some metastases in advanced stage IV melanoma. J Exp Med 190: 1669-1678.
- Tomkinson B.E., Maziarz R. and Sullivan J.L. (1989) Characterization of the T cell-mediated cellular cytotoxicity during acute infectious mononucleosis. J Immunol 143: 660-670.
- Topalian S.L., Rivoltini L., Mancini M., Markus N.R., Robbins P.F., Kawakami Y. and Rosenberg S.A. (1994) Human CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells specifically recognize a shared melanoma-associated antigen encoded by the tyrosinase gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91: 9461-9465.
- Toso J.F., Oei C., Oshidari F., Tartaglia J., Paoletti E., Lyerly H.K., Talib S. and Weinhold K.J. (1996) MAGE-1-specific precursor cytotoxic T lymphocytes present among tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes from a patient with breast cancer: characterization and antigen-specific recognition. Cancer Res 56: 16-20.
- Tough D.F., Sun S. and Sprent J. (1997) T cell stimulation in vivo by lipopolysaccharide (LPS). J Exp Med 185: 2089-2094.
- Traversari C., van der Bruggen P., Luescher I.F., Lurquin C., Chomez P., Van Pel A., De Plaen E., Amar-Costesec A. and Boon T. (1992) A nonapeptide encoded by human MAGE-1 is recognized on HLA-A1 by cytolytic T lymphocytes directed against tumor antigen MZ2-E. J Exp Med 176: 1453-1457.
- Trinchieri G. (1989) Biology of natural killer cells. Adv Immunol 47: 187-376.
- Tüting T., Wilson C.C., Martin D.M., Kasamon Y.L., Rowles J., Ma D.I., Slingluff C.L. Jr., Wagner S.N., van der Bruggen P., Baar J., Lotze M.T. and Storkus W.J. (1998) Autologous human monocytederived dendritic cells genetically modified to express melanoma antigens elicit primary cytotoxic T cell responses in vitro: enhancement by cotransfection of genes encoding the Th1-biasing cytokines IL-12 and IFN-α. J Immunol 160: 1139-1147.
- Uhrberg M., Valiante N.M., Shum B.P., Schilling H.G., Lienert-Weidenbach K., Corliss B., Tyan D., Lanier L.L. and Parham P. (1997) Human diversity in killer cell inhibitory receptor genes. Immunity 7: 753-763.
- Valiante N.M., Uhrberg M., Schilling H.G., Lienert-Weidenbach K., Arnett K.L., D'Andrea A., Phillips J.H., Lanier L.L. and Parham P. (1997) Functionally and structurally distinct NK cell receptor repertoires in the peripheral blood of two human donors. Immunity 7: 739-751.
- Valmori D., Dutoit V., Lienard D., Rimoldi D., Pittet M.J., Champagne P., Ellefsen K., Sahin U., Speiser D., Lejeune F., Cerottini J.C. and Romero P. (2000) Naturally occurring human lymphocyte antigen-A2 restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell response to the cancer testis antigen NY-ESO-1 in melanoma patients. Cancer Res 60: 4499-4506.
- Vargas-Rodig L.M., Gago F.E., Tello O., De Civetta M.T.M. and Ciocca R. (1999) c-erbB-2 (HER-2/neu) protein and drug resistance in breast cancer patients treated with induction chemotherapy. Int J Cancer 84: 129-134.
- Veillette A., Zuniga-Pflücker J.C., Bolen J.B. and Kruisbeek A.M. (1989) Engagement of CD4 and CD8 expressed on immature thymocytes induces activation of intracellular tyrosine phosphorylation pathways. J Exp Med 170: 1671-1680.
- Vella A.T., Dow S., Potter T.A., Kappler J. and Marrack P. (1998) Cytokine-induced survival of activated T cells in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95: 3810-3815.
- Vergelli M., Hemmer B., Muraro P.A., Tranquill L., Biddison W.E., Sarin A., McFarland H.F. and Martin R. (1997) Human autoreactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell clones use perforin- or Fas/Fas ligand-mediated pathways

for target cell lysis. J Immunol 158: 2756-2761.

- Vidal K., Hsu B.L., Williams C.B. and Allen P.M. (1996) Endogenous altered peptide ligands can affect peripheral T cell responses. J Exp Med 183: 1311-1321.
- Visseren M.J., van Elsas A., van der Voort E.I., Ressing M.E., Kast W.M., Schrier P.I. and Melief C.J. (1995) CTL specific for the tyrosinase autoantigen can be induced from healthy donor blood to lyse melanoma cells. J Immunol 154: 3991-3998.
- Volkmann A., Barthlott T., Weiss S., Frank R. and Stockinger B. (1998) Antagonist peptide selects thymocytes expressing a class II major histocompatibility complex-restricted T cell receptor into the CD8 lineage. J Exp Med 188: 1083-1089.
- von Boehmer H. and Kisielow P. (1993) Lymphocyte lineage commitment instruction versus selection. Cell 73: 207-208.
- Walker R.A., Gullick W.J. and Varley J.M. (1989) An evaluation of immunoreactivity for c-erbB-2 protein as a marker of poor short-term prognosis in breast cancer. Br J Cancer 60: 426-429.
- Walter E.A., Greenberg P.D., Gilbert M.J., Finch R.J., Watanabe K.S., Thomas E.D. and Riddell S.R. (1995) Reconstitution of cellular immunity against cytomegalovirus in recipients of allogeneic bone marrow by transfer of T-cell clones from the donor. N Engl J Med 333: 1038-1044.
- Wiest D.L., Yuan L., Jefferson J., Benveniste P., Tsokos M., Klausner R.D., Glimcher L.H., Samelson L.E. and Singer A. (1993) Regulation of T cell receptor expression in immature CD4<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup> thymoctes by p56<sup>lck</sup> tyrosine kinase: basis for differential signaling by CD4 and CD8 in immature thymocytes expressing both coreceptor molecules. J Exp Med 178: 1701-1712.
- Williams O., Tarazona R., Wack A., Harker N., Roderick K. and Kioussis D. (1998) Interactions with multiple peptide ligands determine the fate of developing thymocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95: 5706-5711.
- Wong J.S., Wang X., Witte T., Nie L., Carvon N., Kern P. and Chang H.C. (2003) Stalk region of β-chain enhances the coreceptor function of CD8. J Immunol 171: 867-874.
- Wucherpfennig K.W. (2004) T cell receptor crossreactivity as a general property of T cell recognition. Mol Immunol 40: 1009-1017.
- Wucherpfennig K.W. and Strominger J.L. (1995) Molecular mimicry in T cell-mediated autoimmunity: viral peptides activate human T cell clones specific for myelin basic protein. Cell 80: 695-705.
- Yasuda K., Nagafuku M., Shima T., Okada M., Yagi T., Yamada T., Minaki Y., Kato A., Tani-Ichi S., Hamaoka T. and Kosugi A. (2002) Fyn is essential for tyrosine phosphorylation of Csk-binding protein/phosphoprotein associated with glycolipid-enriched microdomains in lipid rafts in resting T cells. J Immunol 169: 2813-2817.
- Yee C., Gilbert M.J., Riddell S.R., Brichard V.G., Fefer A., Thompson J.A., Boon T. and Greenberg P.D. (1996) Isolation of tyrosinase-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell clones from the peripheral blood of melanoma patients following in vitro stimulation with recombinant vaccinia virus. J Immunol 157: 4079-4086.
- Yee C., Thompson J.A., Roche P., Byrd D.R., Lee P.P., Piepkorn M., Kenyon K., Davis M.M., Riddell S.R. and Greenberg P.D. (2000) Melanocyte destruction after antigen-specific immunotherapy of melanoma: direct evidence of T cell-mediated vitiligo. J Exp Med 192: 1637-1644.
- Yi-qun Z., Lorre K., de Boer M. and Ceuppens J.L. (1997) B7-blocking agents, alone or in combination with Cyclosporin A, induce antigen-specific anergy of human memory T cells. J Immunol 158: 4734-4740.
- Young J.W., Szabolcs P. and Moore M.A. (1995) Identification of dendritic cell colony-forming units among human CD34<sup>+</sup> bone marrow progenitors that are expanded by c-kit-ligand and yield pure dendritic cell colonies in the presence of granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor and tumor necrosis factor α. J Exp Med 182: 1111-1119.

- Young N.T., Uhrberg M., Phillips J.H., Lanier L.L. and Parham P. (2001) Differential expression of leukocyte receptor complex-encoded Ig-like receptors correlates with the transition from effector to memory CTL. J Immunol 166: 3933-3941.
- Yu Q., Erman B., Bhandoola A., Sharrow S.O. and Singer A. (2003) In vitro evidence that cytokine receptor signals are required for differentiation of double positive thymocytes into functionally mature CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. J Immunol 197: 475-487.
- Zamoyska R., Basson A., Filby A., Legname G., Lovatt M. and Seddon B. (2003) The influence of the src-family kinases, Lck and Fyn, on T cell differentiation, survival and activation. Immunol Rev 191: 107-118.
- Zarour H., De Smet C., Lehmann F., Marchand M., Lethe B., Romero P., Boon T. and Renauld J.C. (1996) The majority of autologous cytolytic T-lymphocyte clones derived from peripheral blood lymphocytes of a melanoma patient recognize an antigenic peptide derived from gene Pmel17/gp100. J Invest Dermatol 107: 63-67.
- Zeng G., Li Y., El-Gamil M., Sidney J., Sette A., Wang R.F., Rosenberg S.A. and Robbins P.F. (2002) Generation of NY-ESO-1-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells by a single peptide with dual MHC class I and class II specificities: a new strategy for vaccine design. Cancer Res 62: 3630-3635.
- Zhang J., Markovic-Plese S., Lacet B., Raus J., Weiner H.L. and Hafler D.A. (1994) Increased frequency of interleukin 2-responsive T cells specific for myelin basic protein and proteolipid protein in peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis. J Exp Med 179: 973-984.
- Zhou L.J. and Tedder T.F. (1995) Human blood dendritic cells selectively express CD83, a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. J Immunol 154: 3821-3835.
- Zou G.M. and Tam Y.K. (2002) Cytokines in the generation and maturation of dendritic cells: recent advances. Eur Cytokine Netw 13: 186-199.
- Zuckermann F.A. (1999) Extrathymic CD4/CD8 double positive T cells. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 72: 55-66.